ADDITIONAL REPORT ON THE UN CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD

ADDITIONS, COMMENTS AND PROPOSALS BY NGOs IN ESTONIA

TALLINN 2015

INTRODUCTION

In 2014, the Republic of Estonia submitted to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child its third and fourth periodic report on the implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child based on the activities in 2003–2011 and the statistics on this period.

According to the population census, at the beginning of 2012 there were 246 346 children in Estonia, making up slightly over 18% of the population. Compared to ten years ago, the number of children has decreased by approximately 17% (this fact should also be taken into account with regard to statistical changes covered in this report). Today, family life is faced with several new challenges. People need to cope with new risks in society (unemployment and working far away from home, poverty, social exclusion), dissipation of social support networks, diversification of norms and value systems, overall individualisation of society. According to the Estonian Human Development Report 2012–2013, some unreasonably large disparities in society are hidden behind Estonia's excellent average indicators – be it regional differentiations, gender gaps or differences between Estonians and other ethnic groups.

This report on implementing the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child has been drawn up under the coordination of the Estonian Union for Child Welfare in cooperation with the following larger sectoral NGOs: the Estonian Human Rights Centre, the Estonian Chamber of Disabled People, the Estonian National Youth Council, the Estonian School Students Councils' Union, Together for Children (*Koos Laste Heaks*) (legal successor of UNICEF Estonia National Committee since 2015), the Estonian Children's Fund, the Child Advocacy Chamber (unites different sectoral non-profit associations), the Estonian Patient Advocacy Association, the Estonian LGBT Association, SOS Children's Village Association of Estonia, EAPN Estonia, the Estonian Institute of Human Rights. Various consultations with sectoral experts, including representatives from Tallinn University, Tartu University and the Ombudsman for Children.

The Estonian Union for Child Welfare coordinated drawing up of the report: the substantive analysis was compiled by Helika Saar, and the report was edited by Malle Hallimäe, Marie Tammsaar, Kiira Gornischeff, Helen Karu. Consultations for preparing the report began in 2009, the substantive analysis was carried out from March to September 2015. Various surveys and interviews were carried out in 2013–2015 in Estonian and Russian, involving also vulnerable groups (children in substitute homes, children with disabilities, young offenders, children from less well-off families).

The report was drawn up in line with the handbook published by the Child Rights Connect "The Reporting Cycle of the Committee on the Rights of the Child (a guide for NGOs and NHRIs)" and follows Estonia's 2014 third and fourth periodic report on the implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child submitted to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. The substantive part of the report is divided in nine chapters, following exactly the numbering of subdivisions in the national report. After each article or a group of articles covering a similar issue, proposals for changing or revising the current situation have been given (the text in *italics*). Attached to the report as a separate document is the bibliography of the literature on which the text as a whole is based.

Official contact information:

Estonian Union for Child Welfare (MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit)

Endla 6-18, 10142, Tallinn, Estonia

Reg no: 80013442

E-post: <u>liit@lastekaitseliit.ee</u>; <u>kiira@lastekaitseliit.ee</u>

www.lastekaitseliit.ee

Table of Contents

1.	GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION (Articles 4, 42 and 44 para 6)	7
	1.1 Bringing Estonian legislation in conformity with the Convention (Article 4). New laws and amendments to laws	
	1.2 Implementation of the Convention in case-law	7
	1.3 International agreements	7
	1.4 Coordination of national actions	8
	1.5 Institution exercising supervision over the rights of the child	9
	1.6 Collection of data	9
	1.7 Preparation of the report and cooperation with civil society organisations	10
	1.7.1 Preparation of the report	
	1.7.2 Cooperation with civil society organisations	10
	1.8 Allocation of state funds	10
	1.8.2 Support to child protection work	10
	1.10 Introducing the Convention (Article 42)	12
2.	DEFINITION OF THE CHILD (Article 1)	13
	2.1.1. Marriage and consent in sexual relationship	13
	2.1.3. Child as party to proceedings	13
	2.1.4. Succession capacity and capacity in property law	13
	2.1.5 Alcohol, tobacco and illegal substances	14
3.	GENERAL PRINCIPLES	14
	3.1 Non-discrimination (Article 2)	14
	3.1.1 Gender equality and equal treatment	14
	3.1.2 Penal Code	15
	3.2 Right to life, survival and development (Article 6)	16
	3.2.1 Suicides	16
	3.2.2 Abortion	17
	3.3. Right to express one's views (Article 12) and the principle of the best interests of the child	17
	3.3.1 Participation of children in decision-making	17
4.	CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS	19
	4.1 Registration of birth, name and nationality (Article 7)	19
	4.1.3 Acquisition of citizenship	19
4.	2 Preservation of identity (Article 8)	19
	4.2.2 Citizenship	20
	4.3 Freedom of expression and access to appropriate information (Articles 13 and 17)	20
	4.6 Protection of privacy (Article 16)	21
	4.7 Right not to be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (Article 37a)	22

	4.7.1 Prohibition of physical punishment of children	22
	4.7.2 Protection of the rights of minor victims and witnesses in the course of proceedings	23
5.	FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE	23
	5.1 Parental responsibilities (Article 5 and Article 18 para 1 and 2)	23
	5.2 Parental guidance and support (Article 5)	23
	5.2.1 Family policy	
	5.3 Separation of child from parents (Article 9)	24
	5.4 Family reunification (Article 10)	25
	5.6 Recovery of maintenance for the child (Article 27 para 4)	26
	5.7 Children deprived of a family environment (Article 20)	26
	5.7.1 Foster care	27
	5.7.2 Substitute home services	28
	5.8 Adoption (Article 21)	30
	5.8.1 International adoption	30
	5.9 Right of child placed in care to periodic review of placement (Article 25)	31
	5.10 Abused and neglected child (Article 19) and psychological and physical recovery of the child and re-socialisation (Article 39)	31
6.	PROTECTION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL WELFARE	32
	6.1 Children with disabilities (Article 23)	32
	6.2 Health and healthcare services (Article 24)	33
	6.2.2 Medical assistance	33
	6.2.5 Disease prevention and health promotion	33
	6.2.6 School health care	34
	6.2.9 Immunisation	34
	6.2.10 Counselling of young people concerning reproductive health and the prevention of sexually transmitted diseases	
	6.2.11 Prevention of tobacco consumption	35
	6.2.12 Healthy nutrition	35
	6.2.13 Promotion of mental health	35
	6.2.14 Prevention of injuries and poisonings	36
	6.3 Standard of living (Article 27 para 1–3)	37
	6.3.1 State measures for reducing poverty risk	37
	6.4 Social security, childcare services and childcare institutions (Articles 26 and 18 para 3)	38
	6.4.2 Family benefits	38
	6.4.3 Parental benefit	39
	6.4.4 Benefits for persons with disabilities	39
	6.4.5 Childcare service	39
7.	EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES (Articles 28, 29 and 31)	40

	7.1 Education, including vocational training (Article 28)	40
	7.1.1 Pre-school education	40
	7.1.2 Compulsory school attendance	40
	7.1.3 Alternative options for acquiring education	41
	7.1.4 Repetition of grade and dropping out of school	41
	7.1.6 Boarding school programme	42
	7.2 Objectives of education (Article 29)	43
	7.2.1 Development plan for the general education system 2007–2013	43
	7.2.2 Reduction of school violence	43
	7.2.3 Small schools	44
	7.3 Leisure, recreation and cultural activities (Article 31)	45
	7.3.2 Youth and project camps programme	45
8	SPECIAL CHILD PROTECTION MEASURES	46
	8.1 Children in refugee status (Article 22)	46
	8.3 Criminal liability and administration of justice over children (Article 40)	47
9	GENERAL STRATEGIC CHANGES IN CRIMINAL POLICY	48
	9.1.1 Proceedings concerning juvenile crime	49
	9.1.1.1 Legal aid and the right of appeal of children	49
	9.1.1.2 Influencing juvenile delinquents	50
	9.1.1.3 Juvenile committees	51
	9.2 Deprivation of liberty (Article 37)	52
	9.2.1 Alternatives to imprisonment	52
	9.2.3 Young prisoner	52
	9.2.4 Restriction of liberty in connection with entry into and leaving the country	53
	9.4 Abuse of narcotic drugs (Article 33)	53
	9.5 Sexual exploitation and sexual abuse (Article 34)	54
	9.6 The abduction, sale of or traffic in children (Article 35)	54
	9.7 Children belonging to ethnic minority or who are indigenous (Article 30)	56
	9.7.1 Priorities of the organisation of education of students belonging to an ethnic minority	56
A	NNEX 1: LIST OF KEY RECOMMENDATIONS:	58
1.	GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION (Articles 4, 42 and 44 para 6)	58
2	DEFINITION OF THE CHILD (Article 1)	59
3.	GENERAL PRINCIPLES	59
4.	CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS	59
	FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE	
6	PROTECTION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL WELFARE	61
7.	EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES (Articles 28, 29 and 31)	63

8. SPECIAL CHILD PROTECTION MEASURES	63
9. GENERAL STRATEGIC CHANGES IN CRIMINAL POLICY	64
ANNEX 2: REFERENCE LIST:	66
Cluster 2	68
Cluster 3	71
Cluster 4	73
Cluster 5	75
Cluster 6	78
Cluster 7	83
Cluster 8	85
Cluster 9	87
ANNEX 3: SUPPLEMENTARY OPINION OF THE ESTONIAN LGBT ASSOCIATION AND THE HUMAN RIGHTS CENTRE	

1. GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION (Articles 4, 42 and 44 para 6)

- 1.1 Bringing Estonian legislation in conformity with the Convention (Article 4). New laws and amendments to laws
- 1. The following chapters of the report deal with the sectoral legislative amendments aimed at promoting the welfare of children in the recent years, also pointing out shortcomings in areas in need of more precise regulation and solutions. Regrettably, it should be noted that even though domestic legislation mostly conforms to the Convention, its practical implementation is not always in line¹.

1.2 Implementation of the Convention in case-law

- **2.** The Convention on the Rights of the Child (hereinafter the CRC) is an inseparable part of the Estonian legal system and directly applicable in courts. Despite slightly increased references to the CRC in the Supreme Court's decisions (14 times in 1997–2015, including 3 times in 1996–2006)², their number is still very low. Lower instance courts also very rarely refer to the CRC. Various studies ³ indicate a continuing need for the training of judges ⁴ with regard to the principles of international protection of the rights of the child and the CRC.
- **3.** According to the analysis (2013), in terms of taking into account the interests of the child, court decisions often merely noted that they had been taken into account but only in a few of the decisions it was explained how the court did it⁵. A study on assigning the right of custody also showed that the history of violence in a family was not always of decisive importance in assigning the custody of children.
- **4.** One possibility for finding out the interest of the child is to hear the child, regardless of the child's age⁶. The court may dispense with hearing of the child only in case of a good reason. In Estonia there is no lower age limit under which the court could not hear a child. However, the practice among the judges with regard to the age of the child who is heard varies: as a rule, the courts do not hear children under ten years old, on rare occasions the court has also failed to hear children over ten years old, whereas the court ruling did not always contain reasons for failure to hear the child⁷. The practice among judges also varies with regard to whether and which specialists are involved in hearing a child⁸. In 2012, most children were of the opinion that hearing of a child was just as important as hearing of adults⁹.
- Make the principle of hearing of the child by courts compulsory (including establishing the obligation of being heard in person), except when this is not in the best interests of the child, and remove the age limit under $\S 552^1(1)$ of the Code of Civil Procedure.
- Enhance the knowledge about the CRC among judges and other specialists by offering them training on the rights of the child (including hearing of children) and development psychology. Prepare practical guidelines on how to carry out a hearing of a child for specialists who come in contact with children.

1.3 International agreements

_

¹ One of the reasons is the fact that many local authorities, which bear the main burden of providing social services, lack both financial and human resources.

²Riigi Teataja (State Gazette) electronic database of Supreme Court decisions.

³See for more detail Valma 2012, Nauts 2012, Võsu 2015.

⁴ In 2013, the training course for judges on "The nature of child welfare" was held, dealing with the hearing of children in civil proceedings in custody disputes between parents.

⁵See for more detail the "Survey on assigning parental custody" [Vanema hooldusõiguse määramise uuring] (2013).

⁶ Under § 552¹(1) of the Code of Civil Procedure, in matters pertaining to a child the court hears a child of at least 10 years of age in person but the court may also hear a younger child.

⁷See for more detail the "Survey on assigning parental custody" (2013).

⁸ If necessary, a child is heard in the presence of a psychiatrist, psychologist or social worker. The court may also permit other persons to be present at the hearing of a child unless the child or child's representative objects to it (§ 552¹(1) Code of Civil Procedure).

⁹See for more detail the "Monitoring survey on the rights of the child and parenting" [*Lapse õiguste ja vanemluse monitooring*] (2012).

- **5.** Estonia was the last EU member state to adopt the Act on the Ratification of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict in 2013.
- **6.** Despite the Government's affirmation that Estonia regularly submits reports on implementing the ratified conventions¹⁰, the Government have problems with timely submission of these reports¹¹. With the ratification of the CRC in 1991, Estonia assumed the obligation to submit the relevant report every five years. Regrettably, in 1991–2013 the Government submitted only one report on implementing the CRC. Six years after the deadline, in 2014 the Government submitted the 3rd and 4th periodic report on implementing the CRC. Preparations for compiling the additional report began under the coordination of the Estonian Union for Child Welfare already in 2009, including carrying out various surveys among children in 2008–2015, and repeatedly drawing the attention of the Government to the need to comply with its international obligation.
- Submit reports on implementing the ratified conventions in time and involve interest groups in the initial stage of drawing up the reports.

1.4 Coordination of national actions

- 7. Despite positive developments¹² (including improvement of some statistical indicators reflecting child welfare and the establishment of the institution of the Ombudsman for Children) the support system for children is in need of active further development¹³. Different studies have revealed the following systemic problems: insufficient cross-sectoral cooperation between the authorities in ensuring child welfare, varying capacity of local authorities and insufficient state support to them, too slow reorganisation of the institutions supporting children (e.g. substitute homes, special schools) and expansion of their working methods (e.g. as regards substitute care and juvenile sanctions).
- **8.** Currently, no institutions have set cross-sectoral objectives covering the welfare of children, young people and families, nor taken responsibility for achieving them ¹⁴. The state has not assumed a sufficiently strong role as a coordinator, manager, developer or implementer of the area of child welfare ¹⁵. There is no central coordinating implementing unit to ensure cooperation between the parties and protection of the interests of children in the relevant areas ¹⁶. Development of the relevant areas is largely project-based (e.g. the EU; the EEA; the Norwegian funding mechanism), thus causing a lack of sustainability; there is also a lack of integration, and cooperation between different parties needs improvement ¹⁷.

¹⁰ Voluntary commitments and obligations under the UN General Assembly Resolution 60/251. Available on the Ministry of Foreign Affairs website: http://www.vm.ee/?q=node/13056 (in Estonian)

¹¹ For example, on 21 March 2012 the Riigikogu ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities but has not launched the Convention supervision nor submitted an implementation report.

¹² For example, launching of the European Economic Area grant programme "Children and youth at risk" and revision of the Child Protection Act. Developments in providing systemic assistance to children with behavioural problems (e.g. establishment of mental health centres, implementation of a family-based intervention programme for children with behavioural problems).

¹³See for more detail the "Basic principles for the development of across - sectoral support system for children and youth" [Laste ja noorte valdkondadeülese tugisüsteemi väljaarendamise lähtealused] 2014.

¹⁴ The analysis of national development documents reveals fragmentation of objectives between different ministries. Sectoral development plans set overarching objectives for respective sectors as well as related areas but responsibility for their implementation is dispersed.

¹⁵See for more detail the "Baseline analysis on the revision of the organisation of child protection" [*Lastekaitse korralduse uuendamise alusanalüüs*] 2013.

¹⁶ It is problematic that the area of child protection is organised by the Ministry of Social Affairs, partly through county governments (as subordinate institutions to the Ministry of Internal Affairs), i.e. the Ministry of Social Affairs can only have a limited say in establishing the operating expenses, personnel and additional tasks for the county governments.

¹⁷ Responsibility for establishing the need for intervention can be divided between many different parties, e.g. in case of a child suffering from psychiatric disorders six different parties may be involved in establishing the initial need for intervention.

- **9.** The function of state and administrative supervision over local authorities is performed by county governors, but regardless of what has been established in the legislation the county governors do not perform supervision over the quality of services¹⁸. There is a lack of service standards based on which supervision should be performed, as well as a lack of skills¹⁹.
- Establish a cross-sectoral cooperation format for coordination of specifically targeted and interlinked actions.
- Establish a national minimum list of local-level social services and quality standards, as well as improve the relevant supervision.

1.5 Institution exercising supervision over the rights of the child

- **10.** A positive development has been the active work done by the institution of the Ombudsman for Children (established in 2011)²⁰ in analysing and monitoring compliance with the rights under the CRC. However, 80% of children in 2012 were not aware of the activities of the Ombudsman for Children²¹, and in 2011–2015 children only rarely used the individual right of complaint to the Ombudsman.
- More actively raise awareness of society about the Ombudsman for Children as the institution supervising the rights of the child, and explain in a child-friendly manner in relevant channels (including among the Russian-speaking population) the possibility for children to exercise their right of complaint.

1.6 Collection of data

11. In the recent years, more surveys concerning children have been carried out²², none the less more attention should be given to collection of nationwide data. The state lacks a detailed overview of the area of child protection, including lack of an overview of how many people exactly are dealing with the issues of child protection²³. Although the number of children has decreased²⁴, the number of children in need has increased. Unfortunately, there is no clear overview of how many children (including children in risk groups²⁵) in fact need assistance. No information is collected about the reasons why children come under the attention of the child protection system. The data do not always allow obtaining information²⁶ only about children or about children of certain age²⁷. Different problems relating to data collection have been described in the following chapters of this report.

12. The collected data are currently held in at least five²⁸ different databases, which are not integrated

¹⁸See for more detail the National Audit Office audit report (2013) "Organisation of child welfare in rural municipalities and cities".

¹⁹ In 2008–2012, the operating expenses of county governments dropped by 21% and continue to decline; not all county governments have a full-time child protection worker.

²⁰See for more detail http://lasteombudsman.ee/.

²¹See for more detail the "Monitoring survey on the rights of the child and parenting" (2012).

²² Statistics Estonia together with the department of the rights of the child of the Office of the Chancellor of Justice published a compilation "Laste heaolu" [Child welfare] in 2013 covering topics directly affecting the welfare of children. Such a compilation should be published annually to serve as a basis for the existing services and for planning preventive activities

²³See for more detail the "Baseline analysis on the revision of the organisation of child protection" (2013).

²⁴ According to the population and housing census 2011, leaving aside the county centres and the nearest surrounding rural municipalities, the number of children in the remaining local authorities in Estonia today is approximately 30% smaller than ten years ago.

²⁵ Children in risk groups could also be in need but their need for assistance might not be officially registered.

²⁶Terms and definitions are ambiguous and include many different groups – e.g. a child in need without parental care. Data collection is inconsistent – some data appear in the database with a delay, some data are not up-to-date and some data are not collected at all.

²⁷ In some databases data can be obtained only by age groups but not specifically for all ages.

²⁸ The Population Register, the social services and benefits information register STAR, the Social Insurance Board information system SKAIS, the education information system EHIS, the Police and Border Guard Board database on families and persons at risk.

and do not allow for a sufficiently quick outlook on child welfare. Data input also causes problems²⁹, probably also because maintaining records of cases involving children in the database of social services and benefits is not obligatory³⁰. The possibilities for cross-use of the databases are insufficient (e.g. shelters and accident and emergency rooms do not enter data in the same database), and therefore information about children in need does not necessarily reach child protection workers. Specific benchmarks for measuring the effectiveness and efficiency of child protection and of the services aimed at children are also absent.

- Revise the principles for data collection (including harmonisation of definitions and classifiers in different information systems), improve integration between the databases. Make inputting of data concerning child protection compulsory in one database.
- Prepare indicators for monitoring the implementation of the rights of the child, so that the indicators concerning child welfare are targeted and variations in them can be observed. For promoting the rights of the child, annual publication of a compilation including indicators of child welfare is necessary.

1.7 Preparation of the report and cooperation with civil society organisations

1.7.1 Preparation of the report

This topic is covered in section 1.3 of the report.

1.7.2 Cooperation with civil society organisations

- 13. Over the years, the number of civil society organisations (CSOs) focusing on the welfare of children and families has risen³¹ and they have become more active in advocacy activities, the provision of services and in policy-making. However, the funding of CSOs is unclear (e.g. the bases for funding have not been harmonised between the different ministries), it is mostly project-based (including in case of large and long-term sectoral non-profit associations which have been the state's cooperation partners on different levels), and this is not sustainable for the development and achievement of the objectives of the CSOs.
- Harmonise the funding of CSOs (including revising the principles for grants given by the Gambling Tax Council) and ensure support to assessing the impact of the activities (including dissemination of the assessment tools and funding of the assessment), and funding of the evidence-based programmes.

1.8 Allocation of state funds

1.8.2 Support to child protection work

14. The main burden of organising and funding the area of child protection lies with the local authorities. In a situation where the number of children in need continues to increase, the expenditure of local authorities on social protection of children and families has decreased. While in 2008 the social protection expenditure for children and families made up 22% of the total social protection expenditure, in 2014 it was 19%³². Administrative capacity of local authorities varies and local authorities with a lower revenue base do not have sufficient resources to develop and fully implement child protection services.

15. The state lacks an overview of the detailed use and efficiency of resources allocated for child protection. There is no information on where and how many resources local authorities precisely

_

²⁹ In 2013, 90% of the child protection workers kept records on assistance to children in paper files, 81% used their personal computer for keeping records, and only slightly more than half (52%) used the STAR register for keeping records. ³⁰ For example, if a child's place of residence changes, the child protection worker in the local authority of the child's new residence cannot access or process the data relating to the child.

³¹ In addition to what was mentioned in the Government's report, since 2013 the NGOs operating in the area of children and families in Estonia are also united under the network of the Chamber for the Protection of the Interests of Children.

³² Social protection expenditure of local authorities in 2014 was total 123 million euros (the same in 2012), See for more detail: http://www.fin.ee/kov-eelarved-ulevaated#KOVK (in Estonian).

allocate³³. When allocating resources for child protection from the state budget, the state has so far not indicated with sufficient clarity the differences between the tasks of the state and of the local authorities³⁴. Similarly, the impact of the money allocated from the state budget for protecting the rights of children has not been assessed, and no gender budgeting is implemented.

16. In 2012, about 60% of children in Estonia lived in local authorities which did not have a separate child protection worker³⁵ or did not have a sufficient number of them³⁶ – only in 3 out of the 15 counties the number of children was below the ideal ratio³⁷, while in the remaining counties the number of children per one child protection worker was higher. Overload may result in the deterioration of the quality of work and the children might not receive the necessary timely and good-quality assistance³⁸. The number of child protection workers with specialist education has increased over the years but still many child protection workers lack special education³⁹ – therefore the daily practice of child protection work differs between local authorities or even within one local authority. There is a huge shortage of in-service training (including legal training)⁴⁰. The new organisation of child protection⁴¹ somewhat alleviates the situation⁴², but does not offer a final solution to the two problems in this area – the shortage of child protection workers in local authorities and the availability of services being dependent on a particular region.

- Support and develop consistently the child protection capacity of local authorities (e.g. further trainings, supervision), including promoting cooperation between the local authorities. In order to ensure the functioning of organisational changes, funding of child protection should be stable and targeted both on the national and local level.
- Allocate more targeted resources to local authorities for hiring more child protection workers as an increase of the number of child protection workers is a precondition ensuring children's rights.
- Increase professionalism (qualifications, competence) of the parties in the area of child protection and the quality of intervention activities. The development of the competencies should be systematic,

³³ The funding allocated from the state budget to local authorities is divided in two: non-targeted funding the use of which can be decided by the local authorities themselves, and targeted funding, such as the needs-based family allowance and the subsistence benefit, for which the local authorities act as intermediaries. It is unclear what exactly is included in social protection expenditure for children and families in different statistical presentations.

³⁴ In terms of the funding of child protection, the Supreme Court *en banc* judgment of 16 March 2010 No 3-4-1-8-09 represents an important milestone, as it obliges the state to establish bases to distinguish between the functions imposed on cities and rural municipalities, and to indicate the distribution of money for performing respectively the functions of the state and of local authorities. The Supreme Court stressed that the constitutional right to sufficient financial means for performing the functions of local authorities requires that the state should establish a regulation to secure funds for local authorities for the performance of local functions at least to the minimum necessary extent.

³⁵ The decision whether to hire child protection workers depends on a local authority.

³⁶ The National Audit Office 2013 audit report "The organisation of child welfare in rural municipalities and cities" revealed that only 38% of the local authorities had hired a separate member of staff for child protection work.

³⁷ According to the "Development plan for children and families 2012–2020", the optimal ratio of children per one child protection worker is 1000:1.

³⁸ The survey by the Union for Child Welfare "Assessment of child welfare" (2011), observations by child protection workers: "There is little time, some families would need constant attention but there is no time because we, social welfare workers, cannot be on duty 24/7. Working alone in a rural municipality continuous work is not possible (you have to make choices)"; "First of all the personal resource, because the local authorities do not proceed from the number of children when hiring child protection workers"; "shortage of specialists in the county".

³⁹ Child protection workers also include people who have acquired education, for example, in agriculture, merchandising or cybernetics.

⁴⁰ The Union for Child Welfare in its opinion of 21 January 2014 on the Draft Child Protection Act proposed to add a module on legal bases for the in-service training of child protection workers. The need primarily for legal training is also revealed in the National Audit Office report "The organisation of child welfare in rural municipalities and cities" (2013). According to the "Baseline analysis on the revision of the organisation of child protection" (2013), 39% of the surveyed child protection workers wanted additional legal training. See for more detail the Health Development Institute's 2015 "Analysis of the training needs of child protection workers".

⁴¹ The new Child Protection Act enters into force on 1 January 2016.

⁴² Inter alia, the child protection workers will be entitled to regular in-service training ensured by the state.

1.10 Introducing the Convention (Article 42)

- 17. Attention to valuing of the child and promoting the rights of the child has been given on the level of the state⁴³as well as non-profit associations⁴⁴ in Estonia for years, but the awareness of society about the rights of the child is still insufficient. Surveys⁴⁵ affirm the continued need to deal with raising awareness and spreading information about the rights of the child and about the relevant institutions (e.g. 23% of adults and 16% of children in 2012⁴⁶had not heard about the rights of the child before). We can witness tendencies like increasing peripheralisation and non-availability of systematic information (in particular in Ida-Viru County)⁴⁷; 25% of the children surveyed in 2012 were not convinced that all children had the same rights. In north-eastern Estonia even 67% held this opinion, and the awareness of children in that region about the possibilities of getting assistance was also below average⁴⁸.
- **18.** Estonia ratified the CRC in 1991 and the national basic school curriculum provides for introducing the Convention; yet in 2013 61.3% of the respondents (even 75% of the Russian-speaking children and young people in Ida-Viru County who replied to the questionnaire) had not heard of the Convention⁴⁹.
- **19.** None of the higher educational institutions had offered systemic education on the rights of the child until 2014 when Tartu University Institute of Social Sciences in cooperation with the Law Faculty launched a study module (24 ECTS credit points) on the rights of the child as part of the Master's curriculum on social work and social policy, which is aimed at future child protection and social workers, lawyers and other specialists dealing with children⁵⁰.
- Better inform society about the rights of the child, including introducing the CRC to both adults and children (including in Russian), using channels aimed at different target groups. Carry out regular campaigns covering the whole of Estonia to introduce and explain the rights of the child.
- Carry out information activities concerning the rights of the child in cooperation with non-profit associations, and support preparation of information materials introducing the CRC (both in Estonian and Russian), including in child-friendly versions (both as interactive and printed material). -Increase the scope of human rights education on different school levels and in the in-service training of occupations dealing with children. Include in teacher training (including kindergarten teachers)

⁴⁴ Inter alia, the Union for Child Welfare (www.lastekaitseliit.ee), which has been active for 26 years in promoting the protection of the rights of the child in Estonia. The awareness about the organisation in society is also affirmed by the Praxis survey from 2012 (62% of children were aware of the Union for Child Welfare). The whole activity proceeds from the principles of the CRC and is aimed at introducing the CRC.

⁴⁵ Inter alia, the "Monitoring survey on the rights of the child and parenting" (2012), "Supporting the participation and involvement of children in decision-making processes" (2013); "Participation and involvement of children and young people at school" (2014).

⁴⁶ In the Praxis monitoring survey, the internet (33%) was indicated as the main source of information from which children could learn about their rights, followed by information from the parents (31%). As it appears that children expect their parents to explain the rights of the child to them, the parents' own awareness about the rights of the child is extremely important.

⁴⁷ The same tendency was also pointed out in the Estonian Human Capital Report (2010), the Estonian Human Development Report (2010).

⁴⁸ Children in north-eastern Estonia had a below average awareness about all the institutions (68% of the children there knew about the children's helpline, 56% about the work of the child protection workers, which is significantly lower than the average in Estonia (78%).

⁴⁹See for more detail the survey "Supporting the participation and involvement of children in decision-making processes" [*Laste osaluse toetamine ja kaasamine otsustusprotsessides*] (2012/2013; 688 children and young people throughout Estonia participated in the survey).

⁵⁰ The module was introduced as part of the Estonian Union for Child Welfare project "Child's voice" [*Lapse hääl*] and it contains subjects on human rights and the rights of the child, child protection and practical work with children and families.

12

⁴³ Since 2011, the activities of the Ombudsman for Children can be highlighted (www.lasteombudsman.ee).

topics on promoting the rights of the child and participation of children.

- Pay more attention to the development of the child and legal training at the universities and applied higher educational institutions within the curricula for child protection and social workers and within in-service training.

2. DEFINITION OF THE CHILD (Article 1)

20. In the Government's report (page 31) it has been mistakenly noted that the Estonian legislation also provides for exceptions where a child is deemed as adult later than 18 years of age. However, under § 8(2) of the General Part of the Civil Code Act, persons who have attained 18 years of age (adults) have full active legal capacity. It is positive that in 2013 subsection 2 was added to § 3 of the Republic of Estonia Child Protection Act – if the age of a person is unknown and there is reason to believe that the person is below the age of eighteen years, the person shall be deemed to be a child until proven otherwise 51.

2.1.1. Marriage and consent in sexual relationship

21. In Estonia, children have often been ill-treated by persons belonging to a close family or social network. Penalties for sexual offences against children were toughened in 2013, including penalties for a parent, a person with the rights of a parent, or a grandparent, who engages in sexual intercourse with a descendant; the prohibition to engage in sexual intercourse or committing another act of sexual nature with a person of less than 18 years of age⁵². Commission of the offence against a person who is in a service or dependent relationship with the offender, or if the offender is a family member of the victim, lives with the victim or if the victim is otherwise in a family relationship with the offender, or commission of the offence against a minor with abuse of power or confidence, were established as aggravating circumstances⁵³.

2.1.3. Child as party to proceedings

22. Recent studies in Estonia and Europe reveal in general that children do not receive sufficient support when participating in criminal or civil proceedings; guaranteeing that the child is notified and understands the proceedings has not yet become a general custom⁵⁴. Although under § 219(2) of the Code of Civil Procedure, in a family matter, the court may appoint a representative (i.e. an advocate in accordance with the procedure under the State Legal Aid Act) to a person without active civil procedural legal capacity in a proceeding which concerns him or her if this is necessary for protection of the interests of the person, the practice in appointing a representative to a person under guardianship varies (in civil proceedings there have been cases where no state legal aid lawyer was appointed)⁵⁵.

2.1.4. Succession capacity and capacity in property law

23. One of the forms of supervision exercised by guardians (including parents) is granting of a consent to enter into transactions (e.g. real estate transactions, renunciations of succession, taking a loan, etc) on behalf of the persons under guardianship (including minors)⁵⁶. To improve supervision, under the

⁵¹ Domestically, the principle was previously established in § 7(10) of the Granting of International Protection to Aliens Act, but it could not be applied in all the potential cases concerning minors (due to the nature and scope of the Act it only applied to aliens).

⁵² With the Act on the Amendment of the Penal Code and the related Acts, in 2013 twelve Acts were brought into conformity with the European Parliament and Council Directive 2011/93/EU on combating the sexual abuse and sexual exploitation of children and child pornography, and replacing Council Framework Decision 2004/68/JHA.

⁵³ Penal Code § 58 clause 4 expanded the definition of a family relationship and explicitly established that family dependency may also mean a simple fact of living together even without financial support or maintenance.

⁵⁴See for more detail Chapters 1 and 9 of this report.

⁵⁵See for more detail the case-law analysis compiled by the Supreme Court (2011).

⁵⁶ The list of transactions for which parents and guardians need to seek a court's consent has been established in § 187 and § 188 of the Family Law Act. For example, without prior consent of a court, a guardian shall not do the following on behalf of a ward (including a minor): dispose of an immovable or a real right in immovable property belonging to the ward; dispose of a claim belonging to the ward and aimed at transfer of immovable property ownership or creation,

new Family Law Act in 2010 granting of consent was transferred from local authorities to the courts. The amendment was, inter alia, explained by the fact that local authorities did not always have staff with legal knowledge⁵⁷. The Supreme Court's analysis (2011) shows that in the majority of the cases the court consented to the transaction requested by the applicants, refusal from consent was mostly an exception⁵⁸.

2.1.5 Alcohol, tobacco and illegal substances

- **24.** Consumption of alcohol among young people in Estonia is a serious problem⁵⁹. According to the survey on alcohol and drug use among school students, 15–16-year-olds considered access to alcohol to be easy⁶⁰, although compared to the previous years the accessibility has somewhat decreased. Legal provisions for the prevention of alcohol consumption among minors are difficult to implement⁶¹; inter alia, the problem is that an identity document as proof of age is seldom asked from minors when buying alcohol in 2014, the sales staff asked for an identity document from minors wishing to buy light alcoholic drinks only in 24% of the purchases, and in case of strong alcoholic drinks in 36% of the purchases⁶².
- **25.** Stigmatisation of minors by misdemeanour sanctions should be avoided. In 2015, § 72 of the Alcohol Act was repealed under which purchase of alcohol by a minor was punishable. At the same time, sanctions for a misdemeanour offence of a violation of the age restriction in handling alcoholic drinks were toughened (§ 67 Alcohol Act)⁶³.
- **26.** With regard to tobacco and illegal substances the overview is available in Chapter 6 of this report.
- Harmonise the practice of appointing a representative to children in family matters concerning children.
- Improve measures to make alcohol, tobacco and drugs inaccessible to minors, including prevention of sale/giving of alcohol to minors: increasing the probability for violators of the prohibition being caught and toughening of consequences in case of violation. Restrict alcohol advertising in general.

3. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

3.1 Non-discrimination (Article 2)

3.1.1 Gender equality and equal treatment

27. The Basic Schools and Upper Secondary Schools Act refers to gender equality as one of the principles of organising school life, at the same time for teachers the reduction of gender inequality

transfer or termination of a real right in immovable property; assume an obligation to perform the above disposals; enter into a contract aimed at acquisition for charge of an immovable or a real right in immovable property on behalf of the ward; grant the use of an immovable belonging to the ward; take a loan; renounce a succession, legacy or compulsory portion or enter into a contract for division of an estate; enter into a contract aimed at acquisition or transfer of an enterprise or an organisationally independent part thereof or a contract of partnership aimed at operation of an enterprise; lease an enterprise; acquire a holding in a legal person or join its membership.

⁵⁷ Representatives of local authorities have also noted that social workers are not competent to assess the financial or legal expediency of the transactions performed with a child's property.

⁵⁸ E.g. Pärnu County Court ruling of 27 May 2011 in civil case No 2-11-1578. The court refused to consent to a sale of an apartment ownership of a minor for the reason that the eldest child wished to settle in the apartment soon. Therefore, the court found that the transfer of the ownership would harm the interests of the children.

⁵⁹ The results of the "Survey on risk behaviour" (2014) show that 23% of 4th-year students, 48% of 6th-year students and 70% of 8th-year students have consumed alcohol.

⁶⁰ According to the ESPAD survey from 2011, 54% of 15-16-year-olds considered light alcohol and 76% strong alcohol easily available.

⁶¹ E.g. in 2012, 6282 cases of consumption of alcoholic beverages by minors (§ 71 Alcohol Act) and 28 cases of purchase of alcoholic beverages by minors were registered. At the same time, in 2012, a misdemeanour sanction for violation of the age restriction in handling alcoholic beverages by minors was imposed 60 natural persons (§ 67(1) Alcohol Act) and three legal persons (§ 67(2) Alcohol Act).

⁶² Regardless of some differences in the methodology of test purchases (2011, 2012, 2014), the situation has not improved over the years.

⁶³ Under § 67(1) of the Alcohol Act, a possibility of imposing a sanction of detention was introduced (previously only a fine), and under § 67(2) the maximum fine for legal persons was raised to 10 00 euros (previously up to 3200 euros).

at school is not a priority⁶⁴, there is insufficient awareness⁶⁵ about the wider social significance of the topic as well as about the possibilities for cutting gender-stereotyped approaches in the teaching and learning process. Surveys among school students show that they understand and feel that teachers treat boys and girls at school differently. Students believe that boys are punished more often at school. 28. Despite the legislative provisions, the principle is not sufficiently covered in curricula, textbooks, teacher training or practical study on all levels of education (including vocational education). Gender inequality in education is reflected in the gender composition of the teachers⁶⁶, academic achievement of girls and boys, career choices of young people, and achievements in tertiary education. Gender neutral education of itself does not guarantee de facto equal treatment of students of different gender – among basic school drop-outs more than 70% are boys; 2/3 of the girls and only slightly more than half of the boys pass their school-leaving exams with good results; there are 40% of boys among persons with general secondary education; among graduates of higher educational institutions there are 194 women per 100 men (the biggest gap in comparison with other EU member states). The results of PISA 2006/2009/2012 reveal differences between the students in Russian- and Estonian-speaking schools, as well as in the school life and school perception of city and rural students, showing weaker results among children in Russian-speaking and rural schools⁶⁷ (see also point 16 of this report). The current Equal Treatment Act does not offer protection on the basis of religion or beliefs, age, disability, or sexual orientation in education.

29. In Estonia, the gap between the average hourly wage of men and women is the biggest in the European Union (30.9%), despite the average education level of women being higher. As wage is also an important factor in calculating benefits (unemployment, health insurance and parental benefits) and pensions, the current wage also affects the quality of life in the future. A quarter of children live with a single parent, mostly with mother; hence, the approximately one third lower wage of women also directly affects children and their opportunities.

30. In 2014, the Registered Partnership Act was adopted in Estonia⁶⁸, accompanied by a heated debate in society. The Act provides for a possibility to obtain legal protection for all families, including families consisting of two same-sex persons and their children (including the rights of couples to adopt each other's biological children). However, regrettably the Government's inactivity in passing the implementing legislation has to be noted.

3.1.2 Penal Code

31. The EU framework decision on racism (2008) imposes an obligation to punish for incitement to hatred and denial or justification of certain crimes if it is characterised by incitement to hatred. The wording of § 151 in the current Penal Code does not meet this requirement as the provision requires a link to danger to the life, health or property of a person which is hard to prove in practice. LGBT groups in Estonia have expressed concern that the Estonian legislation does not establish hatred based on sexual orientation and gender identity as separate motives for hate crime⁶⁹.

32.The survey on the deviant behaviour of children (2014) revealed that 16% of children had experienced bullying via the internet, e-mail or SMS; 6% of children had experienced threats of violence or use of violence against them based on religion, language, colour, social position order to

⁶⁴See for more detail "Gender and gender equality: experiences and attitudes among university students and teachers" [Sugu ja sooline võrdõiguslikkus: üliõpilaste ja õpetajate kogemused ning hoiakud] (2014).

⁶⁵ Most of the teachers during their career have not received any gender related training or been exposed to specialist literature on the topic: different ways of studying and coping among boys and girls. ... Most of the teachers do not even consider the gender aspect a sufficient reason to scrutinise it further, the relevant training is considered redundant. Tiina Pihlak. Õpetaja tegevus poiste toimetuleku mõjutajana soolisest aspektist lähtuvalt. [Activities of a teacher as a factor affecting the coping of boys from the gender perspective]

⁶⁶A large majority of the teachers are women while the education systems are run by men.

⁶⁷See for more detail Kerikmäe. T., Remmelg, A., Särav, S. (2014) Õigus haridusele [Right to education].

⁶⁸ The Act is presumed to enter into force on 1 January 2016.

⁶⁹See for more detail the Human Rights Watch report on the situation of human rights in Estonia (2015).

other similar hate crime during the year prior to the survey⁷⁰. In the opinion of students, they had become a victim of hate crimes or cyber-bullying first and foremost because of "another personality trait" (36.5% of hate crime victims), followed by "social position" (22.6%) and "language" (21.9%)⁷¹. Only 10% of the victims of hate crime reported it to the police⁷².

- Integrate gender issues to teacher training and implement the topical in-service training. Establish a learning environment and prepare study materials which take into account the needs of both genders.
- Expand the scope of protection of the Equal Treatment Act.
- Create equal opportunities at the labour market, support reconciliation of work and family life, combat poverty among women, and reduce the gender pay gap.
- Draw up the implementing acts for the Registered Partnership Act.
- Introduce provisions in the Penal Code to make a motive of hatred (including based on sexual orientation and gender identity) an aggravating circumstance for the crime regardless of whether it resulted in a direct threat to a person's life, health or property. Implement measures to effectively combat incitement to hatred.
- Organise information campaigns to prevent negative racist attitudes in society and combat them. Increase the proportion of human rights in the curricula of different levels of education.
- Inform society about the right to have recourse to the Chancellor of Justice for conducting conciliation proceedings if a person finds that a natural or a legal person in private law has discriminated them on grounds of an attribute of discrimination established by law.

3.2 Right to life, survival and development (Article 6) 3.2.1 Suicides

33. In the recent ten years, no significant change in the number of suicides has occurred, the prevention is not coordinated and no authorities have been assigned responsibility. The Government's report notes that the number of suicides among young people has decreased (page 39), but unfortunately in 2014 the suicide rate in the age group 14–19 rose twofold in comparison with the two previous years⁷³. According to the SEYLE⁷⁴ 2010 survey, 22% of students had sometimes felt that life was not worth living. 5% of students had had a serious suicide plan (assessment of the last two weeks). At the same time, only 12% of teachers considered their knowledge of the mental health of children sufficient, and only 8% knew that their school had a crisis or action plan for situations when a student becomes suicidal or commits suicide.

16

 $^{^{70}}$ The most frequent place of becoming a victim of hate crime was either school or school yard – as indicated by 48% of the victims of hate crime and 44% of the victims of an attack.

⁷¹ In the case of Russian children, the most frequently mentioned reason for an aggressive attack or a threat was language (34%), followed by ethnicity and religion (both 25%). Estonian children most often pointed out "another reason" (44%) or social position (24%). In comparison to their Russian counterparts, Estonian children more often pointed out "another reason" which often related to appearance.

⁷² The police more often receive reports of Russian children becoming victims than reports of Estonian children becoming victims, except robbing. Reports of robbing are twice more frequent in the case of Estonian children (25%) than Russian children (12%).

⁷³ Suicides in the age group 15–19 (2012:3, 2013:5, 2014: 10).

⁷⁴ A health promoting programme for adolescents in European schools.

3.2.2 Abortion

- **34.** The number of abortions in Estonia has constantly decreased, including a drop in the abortion rate in the age group 15–19 (1996:49.2 and 2013:19.3 abortion rate per 1000 women aged 15–19). Until 2015, the Termination of Pregnancy and Sterilisation Act did not allow minors to have an abortion without the consent of their legal representative or, in case of disagreement of the legal representative, without the permission of the court. A wider debate with the interest groups was held in 2014–2015 when the Riigikogu abolished this restriction.
- Improve measures aimed at suicide prevention (including for the prevention of self-injuries) and assign a responsible state agency.
- Empower specialists working with children to improve their capability to recognise mental problems of children.

3.3. Right to express one's views (Article 12) and the principle of the best interests of the child

35. In case of decisions concerning children, the legislation provides for hearing of the opinion of a child who is ten years or older⁷⁵, but in practice its implementation is uneven. Support materials on hearing of the child are available for prosecutors, police and border guard officers and judges, but no specific guidelines exist for lawyers, child protection and social workers and bailiffs. Only some child-friendly leaflets have been produced to support explaining of the rights, but they are not available for example to children with special needs and children with the Russian mother tongue⁷⁶. In practice, the protection of the rights of the child is often hampered by the lack of knowledge or insufficient skills of a specialist ⁷⁷, e.g. specialists interviewing children have little theoretical knowledge about the rights of the child (including about the best interests of the child, the development of the child) and little practical skill for interviewing of children, establishing contact with children and talking to them⁷⁸.

36. The principle of the best interests of the child⁷⁹ has been analysed throughout the report.

3.3.1 Participation of children in decision-making

37. Children often receive information about their participation rights in the relevant subject classes in educational institutions (e.g. civics studies class) and through student representative bodies when they exist⁸⁰. At the same time, introduction of the rights of the child often depends on the discretion and level of awareness of a particular teacher.

⁷⁵ The Family Law Act provides for this requirement in deciding cases of adoption (§ 151). The Social Welfare Act establishes that the child's wish has to be taken into account in matters concerning the child personally (§ 25¹(2) and § 32). Under the Code of Civil Procedure, the child should be heard in all matters pertaining to the child, e.g. in custody cases (§ 552¹(1)). In all these cases, also a child younger than ten years old may be heard if its development level so permits. No minimum age limit has been established for hearing of minors in criminal proceedings. General rules, such as the defendant's or victim's right to be heard and express their opinion, apply (§ 34–35 and § 38 Code of Criminal Procedure). In education, the Basic Schools and Upper Secondary Schools Act establishes that proposals by students should be taken into account whenever possible (§ 6 clause 3).

⁷⁶ Leaflet *Tunnistajana kohtus* [In court as a witness]; *Riigikohtu infovoldik õpilastele* [Supreme Court's information leaflet for students].

⁷⁷ The new Child Protection Act for the first time clearly establishes the obligation to find out the opinion of the child in decisions concerning the child.

⁷⁸See for more detail K. Kask (2009), *Erialaspetsialistide pädevus alaealiste tunnistajate ja kannatanute ülekuulamise kohta kriminaalmenetluses* [The competence of specialists in interviewing juvenile witnesses and victims in criminal proceedings]; K. Kask, (2015), *Alaealiste kannatanute video salvestatud ülekuulamiste analüüs* [Analysis of video recorded interviews with juvenile victims].

⁷⁹ Under the coordination of the Union for Child Welfare, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child general comment No 14 on the right of the child to have his or her best interests taken as a primary consideration was translated into Estonia. To better understand the substance of the articles of the CRC, the Union for Child Welfare will continue translating the Committee's general comments into Estonian.

⁸⁰ According to the Ministry of Education and Research, there are 533 schools in Estonia (primary school, basic school, upper secondary school, nursery-primary school, nursery-basic school) and 164 of them have student representative boards, thus having a reach of almost 100 000 school students.

- **38.** Involvement of children and young people in decision-making on the local level takes place most actively through youth centres⁸¹ and youth councils (15 county-level youth councils). Children and young people are most often involved in consultative processes through the Estonian National Youth Council⁸², the Estonian School Students Councils' Union⁸³, the Estonian Association of Open Youth Centres⁸⁴, the Estonian Union for Child Welfare⁸⁵. A consultative body with the Ombudsman for Children has been established⁸⁶. Since 2014, the Estonian Youth Parliament (*Noorteparlament*) became operational under the coordination of the Union for Child Welfare and in cooperation with other youth organisations⁸⁷, which evolved from a 22-year-old project "101 Last Toompeale" [101 children to the Parliament]⁸⁸.
- **39.** The Union for Child Welfare carried out extensive surveys among children (both with the Estonian and Russian mother tongue) in 2012–2015 to draw attention to the rights of the child and in particular Article 12 of the CRC and to make the opinion of children heard, under the titles "Supporting the participation and involvement of children in decision-making processes" (2012/2013) ⁸⁹; "Participation and involvement of children and young people at school" (2014)⁹⁰ and "Participation of children in family life" (2015)⁹¹, which demonstrate the wish of children to participate in decision-making processes in different environments. As an example, the amendment of the Constitution in 2015 under the leadership of the Estonian National Youth Council could be highlighted⁹², by which the voting age in the elections of local government councils was lowered from 18 to 16 years. The problems include: little involvement or children and young people in preparing national reports, insufficient attention to raising awareness of children with the Russian mother tongue and children with special needs about the right of participation and involvement, little practice in giving feedback to children on how their opinion was taken into account ⁹³, insufficient guidance materials for promoting participation of children on different levels. Regardless of positive developments, children often do not feel that their opinion has any impact on the national level.
- Ensure involvement of children and young people in decision-making processes on different levels by paying more attention to involvement of socially excluded children and children with fewer opportunities.

⁸¹ According to statistics, 22 000 different children and young people visit youth centres every week and 89 000 every month.

⁸² The Estonian National Youth Council is an umbrella organisation uniting 43 youth bodies operating in Estonia, 15 county youth assemblies and 70 youth councils.

⁸³ The Estonian School Students' Councils Union unites student representative boards from 164 different schools, thus representing the opinions and interests of almost 100 000 school students.

⁸⁴ The Estonian Association of Open Youth Centres comprises 115 youth centres from local authorities (Estonia has a total of 220 youth centres).

⁸⁵ The Estonian Union for Child Welfare unites 34 member organisations, it has established a separate youth council and various consultative bodies under several projects (e.g. youth panel "Targalt Internetis" [Behaving smartly on the internet], the project "Lapse hääl" [Voice of the child]), camps for children, etc.

⁸⁶ The consultative body includes ten young people with different participation experience and knowledge from the following organisations: youth assembly of the Estonian Guides Association, the Estonian National Youth Council, the Estonian Scouts Association, *Eesti 4H*, Organisation of Home Daughters, youth assembly of the Estonian Union for Child Welfare, Young Eagles, the Assembly of Student Councils, the Estonian School Student Councils' Union, and the association *Ühise Eesmärgi Nimel*.

⁸⁷ See for more detail http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/noorteparlament/

⁸⁸ Continuation of the initiative is threatened by lack of funding.

⁸⁹115 local authorities and 688 children and young people from all over Estonia participated in the survey.

⁹⁰ 1787 children and young people from all over Estonia participated in the survey (including 404 Russian-speaking children).

⁹¹ Final results of the survey will be published in November 2015; over 500 children aged 13–14 participated.

⁹² The Republic of Estonia Constitution Amendment Act on Lowering the Voting Age in the Election of Local Government Councils – RT I, 15 May 2015, 1.

⁹³ See for more detail "Supporting the participation and involvement of children in decision-making processes" (2012/2013).

- Train specialists dealing with children and young people with regard to the right of participation of children and the aspect of the best interests of the child. Prepare supporting guidance materials and intensify information activities.
- -Ensure sustainable funding for different forms of participation of children and young people, including by paying particular attention to vulnerable target groups.

4. CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS

4.1 Registration of birth, name and nationality (Article 7)

4.1.3 Acquisition of citizenship

- **40.** The Government claim (page 45) that currently the Estonian legislation is, *in general*, in compliance with the requirements provided by international conventions. As the number of stateless children in Estonia is high (936 as at August 2014), the need to amend the Citizenship Act has been pointed out by the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Nils Muižnieks⁹⁴, the Chancellor of Justice as well as non-profit associations. The positive development is that under the amendments to the Citizenship Act (entering into force on 1 January 2016), a child born in Estonia who does not acquire citizenship pursuant to his or her parents will receive Estonian citizenship by naturalisation at the time of birth, unless the parents or a parent raising the child alone waive this possibility. Also, persons with undetermined citizenship under 15 years of age who are habitually resident in Estonia at the time of entry into force of the amendment, whose parents with undetermined citizenship have legally lived in Estonia for at least five years, will receive citizenship from the moment of entry into force of the amendment⁹⁵. However, the amendments do not cover16-18-year-olds and do not apply to children born to stateless Estonian residents outside Estonia⁹⁶.
- Supplement the Citizenship Act to take into account the situation of 16- to18-year-old children and children born to stateless Estonian residents outside Estonia.
- Accede to the 1954 Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons and the 1961 Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness in order to protect all stateless persons in Estonia.

4.2 Preservation of identity (Article 8)

41. There is a general rule (§ 26 Constitution and § 25(3) Social Welfare Act) that sisters and brothers should be kept together upon arranging substitute care. However, in many substitute homes siblings from the same biological family live in different substitute home families. It is problematic that children have been placed under different forms of substitute care⁹⁷. The main justifications given by the substitute homes were more of an organisational nature⁹⁸, proceeding from the needs of the substitute home⁹⁹. There are several local authorities which believe that communication between

⁹⁴See for more detail the Report by Nils Muižnieks, Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe, following his visit to Estonia from 25 to 27 March 2013.

⁹⁵ According to this implementing provision, Estonian citizenship by naturalisation is granted to minors under 15 years of age who were born in Estonia before 1 January 2016 and whose parents or a parent raising the child alone, and whom no country under the effective legislation considers to be its citizen, who have lived in Estonia legally for at least five years, and if the minor under 15 years of age is habitually resident in Estonia. This minor is not granted the Estonian citizenship in case of compliance with the above conditions if their parents or a parent raising the child alone submits a request to the authorised Estonian government agency for waiving the child's Estonian citizenship before 1 January 2017.

⁹⁶See for more detail the Human Rights Watch report on the situation of human rights in Estonia (2015).

⁹⁷ The Chancellor of Justice 2013 analysis of the substitute home service reveals that, for example, some of the siblings from the same family live in a substitute home while some live in a foster home or guardianship family.

⁹⁸ E.g. depending on the availability of free places in substitute home families and rooms.

⁹⁹ E.g. after the inspection visit of 13 April 2012 the Chancellor of Justice recommended to the head of Haiba Children's Home and Loksa and Maardu town governments and Anija rural municipality government, in their functions as guardians of children without parental care to support brothers and sisters from the same family in preserving their relationships. According to the explanations of the head of the children's home, siblings from Loksa had been placed separately due to considerations arising from the size of the families. However, both of the families in which the children were placed had eight children (the maximum limit established by law) already before their placement. Thus, in view of the size of the

siblings is up to the children themselves to arrange and do not take an active role in promoting it. Substitute homes also pay different attention to the preservation and development of the mother tongue skills of children with different linguistic and cultural backgrounds or to introducing to children their culture¹⁰⁰.

4.2.2 Citizenship

- **42.** As the state only randomly receives information about persons who are also citizens of another country, there are no reliable data about minors holding several citizenships. Under § 1(2) of the Citizenship Act, an Estonian citizen may not simultaneously hold the citizenship of another country. As the only exception, temporarily it was allowed to hold the citizenship of another state in addition to Estonian citizenship for a person who had acquired both citizenships by birth 101. As a positive development, with the amendments to the Citizenship Act in 2015 these groups of minors who had acquired citizenship by birth and by naturalisation 102 were afforded equal treatment in terms of admissibility of multiple citizenships. Also, children who had acquired Estonian citizenship by naturalisation and in case of whom it later appeared that they had also acquired the citizenship of another state, due to which they lost their Estonian citizenship, can now restore their citizenship (200 children in 2014).
- **43.** With the amendment of the Citizenship Act in 2015, also the regulation in § 3(2) enter into effect from the 1st of January 2016, according to which in respect of a person wishing to acquire or restore Estonian citizenship, the requirement of release from the current citizenship is not applied if the person has been afforded international protection by the Republic of Estonia or another European Union member state, the situation in their country of origin has not significantly changed and the person cannot therefore renounce their current citizenship.
- Ensure that the local authorities and providers of the substitute home service proceed from the preservation of the existing family connections (e.g. children from the same biological family should be placed under substitute care together, except if this is contrary to the interests of the child).

4.3 Freedom of expression and access to appropriate information (Articles 13 and 17)

44. In the Government's report it is claimed (page 44) that since the Constitution does not provide for a restriction concerning persons in closed institutions, they are guaranteed access to information equally to persons at liberty¹⁰³. In reality, for example in 2014 in the accommodation bloc for minors in Viru Prison¹⁰⁴ there was no internet access to official legislation databases and court decisions¹⁰⁵. Also, in 2013 in Tapa Special School¹⁰⁶ the possibilities of students to communicate with their next of kin were extremely limited, e.g. the internet could only be used for studying purposes under the supervision of school staff.

- Ensure that minors in closed institutions have access to the information to the extent proceeding

families, these children should not have been admitted to Haiba Children's Home at all. Moreover, children have also not been placed in the same family even after some of the children had left the family and other new children were instead admitted to the family to fill the vacancies.

¹⁰⁰ In case of some children, their limited knowledge of the mother tongue has hindered their communication with the relatives. A family name which is different from the others has raised questions and caused confusion for children.

¹⁰¹ Under § 3 of the Citizenship Act, a person who by birth acquires the citizenship of another state in addition to Estonian citizenship must renounce either his or her Estonian citizenship or his or her citizenship of the other state within three years after attaining the age of 18 years.

¹⁰² According to the population register data, in 2014 there were about 41 500 persons under 18 years of age who had acquired Estonian citizenship by naturalisation.

 $^{^{103}}$ The right of access to the information disseminated for general use over the internet has been significantly restricted by the legislator to the extent provided for in § 311 of the Imprisonment Act – i.e. prisoners are prohibited to use the internet, except in the computers specially adapted for such purpose by the prison service which enable access under the supervision of the prison service to public legislation databases and the register of judicial decisions.

¹⁰⁴ See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Viru Prison 2014.

¹⁰⁵ According to the persons detained in the department S17, the computer had been out of order for some time already. ¹⁰⁶See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Tapa Special School 2013.

from the specific nature of the institution and in line with the fundamental rights of the child (including the right to education).

4.6 Protection of privacy (Article 16)

45. A child who has been separated from the family and is staying in a closed institution must have an opportunity to communicate with his or her parents and next of kin¹⁰⁷. Although under § 6¹(4) of the Juvenile Sanctions Act the director or other staff of a school for students who need special treatment due to behavioural problems may not examine the contents of a student's correspondence and messages forwarded by telephone or other public communication channels, in Tapa Special School¹⁰⁸ in 2013 the opportunities of students to communicate with their next of kin were extremely limited. Communication by phone with the next of kin took place only under the supervision of a member of school staff¹⁰⁹. Problems have also been found at Tallinn Children's Safe House at Nõmme¹¹⁰, e.g. interviews with children at the safe house revealed that no precise rules on examining the correspondence existed and the staff did not follow uniform practice. The children also affirmed that it was not possible to call outside the safe house and the teachers were reading children's personal letters and diaries.

-Organise communication of children in closed institutions with their parents and next of kin in a way that the right of children to the confidentiality of their messages and to privacy is not violated.

-

¹⁰⁷ Under Article 9 para 3 of the CRC and § 28 of the Republic of Estonia Child Protection Act, a child whose liberty has been restricted and who is therefore temporarily separated from his or her parents has the right to maintain personal relations and direct contact with both parents and close relatives, except if it would be harmful for the child.

¹⁰⁸See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Tapa Special School 2013.

¹⁰⁹ Whereas students could communicate by phone with their next of kin at fixed times and only if the parent himself or herself called the school, and the allowed maximum duration of the conversation at one time was seven minutes.

¹¹⁰See for more detail the inspection visit to Tallinn Children's Safe House department at Nomme tee 2009.

4.7 Right not to be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (Article 37a)

4.7.1 Prohibition of physical punishment of children

- **46.** Estonia has been criticised for the absence of a provision condemning physical punishment of children by the Committee on the Rights of Child¹¹¹ as well as the Council of Europe Committee of Social Rights. A positive development is the adoption of the new Child Protection Act in 2014 which explicitly prohibits physical punishment of children¹¹².
- 47. The Ministry of Social Affairs ¹¹³, the Ombudsman for Children and civil society organisations ¹¹⁴have done consistent explanatory work to emphasise raising of children with positive and proactive methods, without using violence against children. Acceptance of physical punishment of children by parents has somewhat declined over the years but it is still too high: 40% accepted it in 2010¹¹⁵ and in 2012 about 33% found it acceptable ¹¹⁶. Children themselves do not support physical punishment ¹¹⁷. However, 15% of young people in 2013 had been physically punished by parents and 4% had become a victim of physical ill-treatment. Physical punishment is more often used against young Russian people ¹¹⁸.
- **48.** According to the results of the European Social Survey, 44% of parents in 2010 admitted that during the last year they had felt the need for advice and assistance as a parent but they did not know where to get it, 25% of the parents admitted that they did not dare to approach anyone. Insufficient knowledge is often an obstacle in seeking advice and support in relation to problems of child rearing; first and foremost this applies to families who would most benefit from such assistance and support¹¹⁹. **49.** The use of physical punishment and physical ill-treatment of children increases the risk of offending by the minors¹²⁰. Children who had been physically punished during the year prior to the survey committed offences twice as often than children who had not been physically punished by their parents. There is also a link between the physical ill-treatment of a child and excessive alcohol consumption (i.e. five or more doses at one time) among children twice more often.

¹¹³ E.g. in the "Development plan for children and families 2012–2020" approved by the Government, and the activities set out in its implementing plan which are aimed at developing the practice to support parents in raising children and promoting the rights of the child.

¹¹⁴ First of all the information work and diverse activities to prohibit the physical punishment of children and to support parenting undertaken over many years by the Union for Child Welfare.

¹¹¹ Recommendation 31b. The Committee recommended to Estonia to explicitly prohibit corporal punishment and take all measures to prevent all forms of physical and mental violence, including corporal punishment and sexual abuse of children in the family, in schools and in institutions.

¹¹² The Act will enter into force on 1 January 2016.

¹¹⁵According to the European Social Survey (2010), 40% of parents ranked with 5-10 points the statement: In certain situations the physical punishment of children is a necessary and justified educational method (on a 10-point scale 10 points "completely agree")

¹¹⁶See for more detail the "Monitoring survey on the rights of the child and parenting" 2012.

¹¹⁷The opinion poll carried out by the Union for Child Welfare among children in 2008 and the survey on the participation of children in family life 2015.

Within the ISDR-3 survey (2014), 5.6% of the girls (and 3.1% of the boys) answering the questions had experienced physical ill-treatment during the last year and 18% of the girls (13% of the boys) had been physically punished.

¹¹⁹Stress and insufficient parenting skills may also be linked to the fact that 40% of the parents in the European Social Survey in 2010 agreed that in certain situations physical punishment of children was a necessary and justified educational method.

¹²⁰ISDR-3 survey (2014) showed that children who are physically punished or ill-treated are also characterised by weaker contact with their parents, they inform parents less about their activities, the awareness of the parents about the activities of their child is lower, and in such families conflicts between the parents are also more frequent.

¹²¹ Excessive alcohol consumption among ill-treated children occurs twice more often than among children whose parents have not heavily beaten them or otherwise injured them. See reference 120.

- Inform and communicate about the changes arising from the new Child Protection Act (including the prohibition of physical punishment of children) via different media channels (including in Russian). In the following years, also train specialists to ensure effective implementation of the new Child Protection Act.
- Develop services on the national and local government level to offer support to families for rearing children without violence (by offering professional assistance on rearing children to those who need it and increasing the availability of information on effective, violence-free rearing methods).

4.7.2 Protection of the rights of minor victims and witnesses in the course of proceedings The topic is covered in Chapter 9 of this report.

5. FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE

5.1 Parental responsibilities (Article 5 and Article 18 para 1 and 2)

- **50.** The state has not done enough explanatory work to raise awareness of parents with the aim to ensure better understanding of the new Family Law Act (entered into force in 2010) in society (including among the Russian-speaking population). Also on the institutional level (courts, child protection workers and lawyers representing children) there is insufficient knowledge about hearing of children, or recognising violence ¹²²; and concepts concerning custody rights of parents are unclear ¹²³.
- **51.** The number of families where parents work abroad and children live in Estonia is growing ¹²⁴. Many such children therefore lack regular supervision and it is not known how the parents exercise their right of custody in respect of these children. Social workers unfortunately lack information about such families ¹²⁵.
- **52.** Regulation concerning maintenance of contact between the child and the parent living separately from the child¹²⁶ needs specification (i.e. there are no effective measures on how to influence parents to comply with court decisions)¹²⁷. The Chancellor of Justice in her memorandum¹²⁸ noted that the enforcement procedure under § 179 of the Code of Enforcement Procedure for ensuring the right of access to the child was contrary to § 14 and § 27(4) of the Constitution.

5.2 Parental guidance and support (Article 5)

53. The main shortcomings that need to be addressed ¹²⁹: insufficient number of child protection workers, organisation of preventive work and quality requirements for social services. About 60% of children live in local authorities which do not have a separate child protection worker or do not have

¹²² E.g. to distinguish a violent relationship from staged violence; to recognise also other types of violence, such as psychological violence, besides physical violence. See for more detail the "Survey on assigning custody rights of parents" (2013).

E.g. in practice the distinction between the suspension of the right of custody (Family Law Act § 140) and its restriction (§ 134) raise questions, as well as the distinction between § 119 of the Family Law Act (granting of powers of decision to one parent) and § 137 (partial transfer of the joint right of custody).

¹²⁴ According to the population and housing census, 24 907 persons worked abroad in 2011, which is about 4% of all the employed persons.

¹²⁵ In the survey "Violence in intimate partner relationships in Estonia through the perspective of the social worker" [*Lähisuhtevägivald Eestis sotsiaaltöötaja pilgu läbi*] (2014) 41% of social workers found that they had insufficient information about families where children live alone because their parents live outside Estonia.

^{126 § 143} of the Family Law Act establishes the right of access to the child.

¹²⁷Tallinn Administrative Court in 2014 ordered the Republic of Estonia to pay 7500 euros to a father because during three years the father had invoked all the possibilities provided under the legislation to have access to his child but without any success.

¹²⁸ See the Chancellor of Justice memorandum to the Minister of Justice and the Minister of Social Affairs (27 March 2015 No 6-8/131398/1501356).

¹²⁹See for more detail the National Audit Office reports "Organisation of child welfare in rural municipalities and cities", "Preconditions for the provision of public services in small and peripheral local authorities".

a sufficient number of them¹³⁰, and therefore there is not enough time for preventive work, including for counselling of families. Unfortunately, the "Development plan for children and families" does not contain measures for increasing the number of child protection workers on the local level, and no changes will be brought about by the new Child Protection Act either (entering into force in 2016).

54. Insufficient funds and human resources in smaller local authorities restrict the development of services and introducing new services (including to support parents)¹³¹. The level of guarantee of social fundamental rights of children varies regionally¹³². There is little substantive cooperation in developing the services between the local authorities themselves as well as between local authorities and service providers¹³³. The state lacks mechanisms which could oblige the primary level to provide counselling to parents.

55. Under the new Child Protection Act, counselling competence is created within the Social Insurance Board and the child protection officials of the Board will offer counselling to local government child protection workers in resolving more difficult cases of child protection.

5.2.1 Family policy

56. In some respects the Estonian family policy lacks a common vision and different participants are too much influenced by party politics ¹³⁴. Despite the fact that in 2014 some family benefits increased ¹³⁵, family policy in Estonia needs to be changed in order to help families living in poverty ¹³⁶.

- Supplement the social education curricula to raise awareness of young people about the rights and duties involved in marriage and/or becoming a parent.
- Raise the awareness of parents and specialists (teachers, school psychologists, social pedagogues, youth workers, juvenile police officers) about parental duties and the possibilities to receive assistance (including when the parents go to work abroad).
- -Organise training for specialists who deal with children on issues of hearing of children and recognising violence; and training courses to explain the Family Law Act to child protection workers.
- Establish an effective regulation for enforcement of judicial decisions concerning custody of parents based on good practices identified in other countries.
- Bring the enforcement procedure for ensuring access to the child under § 179 of the Code of Enforcement Procedure into conformity with the Constitution.
- Prepare measures and define the duties of the state and local authorities along with the respective financing model to improve the availability of services established by law (including for increasing the number of child protection workers) and to improve cooperation.

5.3 Separation of child from parents (Article 9)

57. In 2014, a total 382 children were separated from their biological family, about one fifth of them

¹³⁰ Taking into account the optimum ratio of children per one child protection worker (1:1000) as recommended by the Ministry of Social Affairs.

¹³¹ Ineffectiveness of the provision of services by local authorities, including services in support of families, was underlined by the European Commission in its 2013 country specific recommendations and the relevant justifications.

¹³² Also the Supreme Court in its judgment of 16 March 2010 No 3-4-1-8-09 para 67 stressed: "For instance, according to the purpose of § 28 of the Constitution, a situation where the secured main social fundamental rights, to the extent for which the local self-government is responsible, vary substantially in different regions of the state /.../ is unacceptable."

¹³³ E.g. the Estonian Children's Fund has created a network of support groups for parents, carers and teachers of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), where psycho-pedagogical counselling is offered once a month.

¹³⁴ Universal allowance versus the needs-based family benefit.

¹³⁵ E.g. the subsistence level, the needs-based family benefit income level, the maximum cost of the childminding service and the substitute home service. From 1 January 2015, the universal child allowance for all children in the family was raised (it had been unchanged since 2006), as well as the foster care allowance.

¹³⁶ In cooperation between Praxis and different Estonian universities several surveys were carried out in 2014 which reveal that the principles of family policy in Estonia are good but they could be better implemented. See for more detail "The green paper on family benefits, services and the leave for parents" [Peretoetuste, teenuste ja vanemapuhkuste roheline raamat] (2015).

were under 3 years old. The number of children separated from the family has dropped ¹³⁷. The legislation does not provide for a basis to separate a child from the family for isolated reasons (e.g. poverty, material exclusion, insufficient parenting skills, etc), yet there have been cases where the local authority has not sufficiently reasoned or justified separation of a child from the family, and the decision has been therefore challenged in the administrative court ¹³⁸.

- **58.** The new Child Protection Act establishes a legal basis for child protection workers of local authority and of the Social Insurance Board, in case of separation of a child from family, to also restrict the right of access to the child if contacts between the child and a parent endanger the child's health or life¹³⁹.
- **59.** Statistics collected on children separated from their family does not reflect information about the background of those families so as to assess the combination of risk factors and causes which usually provide a basis for separating a child from the family. There are no data to offer an overview of the extent and effectiveness of the prevention work prior to separation of a child from the family. The current legislation does not provide for any specific intervention measures for supporting and strengthening families and for preventing the separation of children from families ¹⁴⁰. Estonia has not yet acceded to the Council of Europe Convention on Contact concerning Children (2003).
- Offer necessary services to families (including by ensuring regional availability of services with the support of the nationally coordinated system of counselling and service centres) and benefits which help families to cope independently, and avoid separation of children from families.
- Improve supervision in local authorities to ascertain and prevent situations hampering the development of children, including providing guidelines and training courses to local authorities, and ensuring resources for implementing those activities (including for collecting the relevant statistics).
- Accede to the Council of Europe Convention on Contact concerning Children.

5.4 Family reunification (Article 10)

60. According to the Government's report, recommendation 35b has been taken into account (page 62). However the Estonian legislation does not deal with situations where family members of a person who has received international protection have remained in the country of origin, and it is also not established that the family left in the country of origin should receive visas on simplified conditions and in what way the Estonian state would participate in the process¹⁴¹.

61. § 118 and § 150 of the Aliens Act provide for a legal basis for a child to settle with his or her parent. However, the Act does not establish a legal basis to apply for a residence permit for a person who has a minor child living in Estonia on the basis of a residence permit or the child is an Estonian citizen living in Estonia. The Supreme Court¹⁴² as well as the Chancellor of Justice¹⁴³ have both

has expressed the opinion that deprivation of a parent's right of custody due to neglecting the child and in case where a parent for some reason is not capable to care for the child without endangering the child, is an exceptional measure which is applied only when it is obvious that supporting measures are not sufficient to eliminate the threat to the child's welfare.

139 See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice opinion (28 January 2015 No 6-1/141453/1500410).

¹⁴⁰The European Court of Human Rights has found that the right to family life also includes contacts between the child and the parent even if the child is separated from the parent(s), See for more detail the ECtHR decision of 15 May 1996 in case No 25159/94, *Hokkanen v. Finland*.

¹⁴¹ In the process of reunification, families have been assisted by Vao accommodation centre, support persons from Johannes Mihkelson Centre and staff of the Estonian Refugee Council. Providing assistance in the process of family reunification has proved to be most complicated in cases where a family lacks the necessary identity documents for travelling to Estonia. Also problematic have been situations where the person afforded international protection and their family do not have financial means to reach Estonia.

¹⁴² The Supreme Court has noted that the absence of such a basis could be contrary to the fundamental right to family protected under the Estonian Constitution and Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

¹⁴³See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice memorandum to the Minister of Internal Affairs (28 April 2014 No 6-

25

¹³⁷ At the same time, it should be taken into account that the number of children in the population has decreased over the years.

referred to the topicality of this problem.

- Regulate clearly the process of applying for family reunification by defining the state's participation in the process.
- Bring the Aliens Act into conformity with § 26 and § 27 of the Constitution and provide for a legal basis to apply for a residence permit if a person's minor child is living in Estonia.

5.6 Recovery of maintenance for the child (Article 27 para 4)

- **62.** In Estonia in 2014 the parents failed to voluntarily comply with the maintenance obligation in respect of 12 138 children¹⁴⁴ (this significantly increases the risk of poverty of the child¹⁴⁵). In 2013, the court ordered payment of maintenance support only to 10% of children placed under the substitute home service and 14% of children under foster care¹⁴⁶. Hopefully, the amendments to the Code of Enforcement Procedure entering into force in 2015 will help to increase the number of persons complying with their maintenance obligation in the future¹⁴⁷.
- **63.** The development plan for children and families 2012–2020" supports family mediation but the use of such mediation is not widely spread¹⁴⁸, there is no regulation of responsibility or funding. The family mediation service is expensive and not all local authorities are prepared to finance it, and therefore the service is not available to everyone regardless of their place of residence¹⁴⁹. The availability of free legal assistance is also a big problem in Estonia (including among the Russian-speaking population)¹⁵⁰. The number of international legal assistance requests in civil cases in increasing and, inter alia, there has been a significant increase in maintenance proceedings¹⁵¹.
- Improve availability of the family conciliation service (as a nationally funded service) and raise awareness about the existence of such a service. Increase availability of free legal assistance (including in Russian).
- Facilitate the participation of the parent living separately in the maintenance of the child and improve the support aimed at single parent families in a situation where the other parent does not comply with the maintenance obligation.

5.7 Children deprived of a family environment (Article 20)

64. In 2011–2015 the number of children without parental care and children in need has grown year by year in the local authorities¹⁵² reaching 6311 children in 2014¹⁵³. Despite a decrease in the overall

_

^{8/140522/1401859).}

¹⁴⁴ Enforcement proceedings initiated in the total sum of 10 766 732.10 euros, it is a growing trend.

¹⁴⁵ Various surveys affirm that persons living in a household of a single parent have an especially high poverty risk in Estonia.

¹⁴⁶ Only 1/10 of the children in the substitute home service for whom payment of maintenance had been ordered received it in the sum that had been awarded.

¹⁴⁷ The right to suspend the following rights of a maintenance debtor: motor vehicle driving right, hunting right, right to drive a recreational craft or personal watercraft, and the validity of a fishing card, weapons permit and a weapons acquisition permit.

¹⁴⁸ Various surveys affirm that child protection workers most often feel the lack of psychological counselling and family conciliation in their work.

¹⁴⁹ E.g. families in Tallinn and Harju County can be sent to a family conciliator free of charge, while no such possibility exists in Pärnu County.

¹⁵⁰ Since 2010, the Union for Child Welfare in cooperation with the Estonian Bar Association provides free legal counselling on family law matters (about 1000 have received counselling). See for more detail: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/vajad-abi/hea-nou-lastega-peredele/ From 2014 to March 2016 the project is supported by the Ministry of Justice.

¹⁵¹ 52% increase in the number of requests within one year. In comparison with 2011, the number of proceedings has grown almost five-fold.

¹⁵² In comparison – at the beginning of 2006 there were about 800 registered children without parental care and children in need. Since 2006, the statistics also include children in need (i.e. children who have not been separated from the family but whose case the social worker has begun to resolve with the help of measures supporting the family).

¹⁵³ The proportion of children registered for the first time among the overall number of children in the respective age

number of children in the population, the workload of child protection and social workers on the whole has rather increased, and therefore intervention often takes place only when the problem has already deteriorated 154.

- **65.** In 2014, 30% of children separated from their family were placed in non-biological families (foster care, guardianship, adoption), 30% in substitute homes, 15% in shelters/safe houses, and about 25% of the children returned to their biological family¹⁵⁵. A large part of the children separated from their families are still placed in an institution rather than a family. Oppositely to the principle of excluding the institutionalisation of children under three years of age, the proportion of children under three years old who have been placed in a substitute home has even somewhat increased in comparison to the overall proportion of all the placed children¹⁵⁶.
- **66.** According to the National Audit Office (2009), the placement of children in the substitute home service is hindered by the capitation system on which its funding is based, i.e. substitute homes are interested in admitting a possibly large number of children. For the local authorities, it is also easier¹⁵⁷and economically more profitable (especially if the substitute home is in the ownership of the local authority) to refer children without parental care to a substitute home instead of a foster family (and information about substitute homes is also more easily available)¹⁵⁸.
- 67. The problem relating to the placement of children in a safe house¹⁵⁹ has also been pointed out by the National Audit Office (2009)¹⁶⁰ as well as the Ombudsman for Children (2013). In 2014, total 1245 children received the shelter service¹⁶¹, among them 28% of the children under 7 years old and 30% of 15-17-year-olds spent four or more months in a safe house/shelter. There have been cases where children separated from the family and placed in a safe house/shelter are temporarily transferred to a substitute home family in a situation where the safe house/shelter service is provided in the same premises as the substitute home service¹⁶².
- **68.** Due to incomplete collection of data, it is not possible to carry out a systematic and complete analysis of the replacement practices prior to and after the placement in the substitute care, nor the reasons or consequences of such practices. This makes it more difficult to assess the impacts of or the necessity of changes in the current organisation of substitute care.

5.7.1 Foster care

_

group has grown on the whole, despite the decrease of the number of children in the population.

¹⁵⁴ According to the National Audit Office 2013 report "Organisation of child welfare in rural municipalities and cities", the organisation of child protection work in local authorities does not ensure confidence that children receive assistance in time, i.e. in the early stage of their social problems, or furthermore, that problems can be prevented. There are no uniform principles on how to methodologically organise prevention, i.e. each local authority deals with it at its own discretion.

¹⁵⁵ In 2014, the number of children returning to their biological family increased significantly (in comparison 2012:43, 2014:112).

¹⁵⁶ For example, in 2012, 40% of them were placed in non-biological families, 35% in substitute homes, 13% in safe houses, and 12% returned to their family.

¹⁵⁷ According to the survey carried out in Ida-Viru County in the framework of K. Kaurla's Master's thesis in 2013, child protection officials were not always motivated to place a separated child in foster care due to their previous negative experiences.

¹⁵⁸ There have been several cases where children had been placed in the substitute home service without the relevant local authority decision or without considering other alternatives.

¹⁵⁹ Although the safe house/shelter service are not substantially the same, in practice it is difficult to distinguish between them for various reasons. The law does not regulate the substance of the safe house or shelter service.

¹⁶⁰ According to the data collected by the National Audit Office, children placed in a safe house/shelter spent on average 84 days there, although a child should not spend more than two months in a safe house/shelter.

¹⁶¹ Unfortunately, based on the collected statistics it is not possible to distinguish how many of them were in a safe house/shelter together with their parent(s) and how many were alone (including children separated from their families).

¹⁶² According to the accompant of the National Audit Office (2000), the state should accompanishility for children

¹⁶² According to the assessment of the National Audit Office (2009), the state should assume responsibility for children in need not only when the child has been under temporary care for several months while waiting for a decision on his or her future. Children who for some reason cannot live with their biological parents should immediately receive the service suitable for them.

- **69.** Contrary to the strategic objective set by the state, the proportion of foster care in substitute care has decreased (more than 50% in 2006–2014), the number of foster families has also decreased. There is no complete overview of the applicant foster families and practices for assessing their suitability ¹⁶³. There is also no mechanism for assessing the needs of the child (inter alia, local authorities do not have an obligation to visit the family), no guidelines for local authorities and no uniform template for the foster care contract exist.
- **70.** According to the Government's report (page 64), caregivers receive state funded PRIDE training, however in practice the preparation is incomplete¹⁶⁴: the training programme and the methodology have not been adapted to Estonia nor validated in view of the relevant conditions; the training is not uniformly available in different regions, etc. Under the current regulation it is not ruled out that the child is placed in foster care before the person (the family) have completed the preparatory training programme.

5.7.2 Substitute home services

- 71. The number of children receiving the substitute home service has constantly decreased in 2006–2014¹⁶⁵, inter alia due to the decline in the total number of children in the population. At the end of 2014, 1056 children were receiving the substitute home service¹⁶⁶. At the same time, the number of places in substitute homes is higher than the number of children receiving the service, which may induce local authorities to place children separated from families first and foremost in the substitute home service, in view of the fact that it is a state-funded service and the so-called capitation system applies in funding the service¹⁶⁷.
- 72. Children with disabilities make up a very large proportion of children receiving the substitute home service in 2014, 42% of the children had a disability (87% of them had a severe or profound disability)¹⁶⁸. On the whole, in 2006–2014 the proportion of children with disabilities increased¹⁶⁹, which might show that the counselling, support and assistance for parents and families raising children with disabilities has not been sufficient to ensure that the children are raised in the family, or designation of disability financially simplifies facility costs (financial support is higher when disability is designated).
- **73.** As regards resolving of problems of children without parental care, the trend towards decentralisation and delegation of responsibility to local authorities exists in Estonia¹⁷⁰, whereas the quality and extent of the social services provided by local authorities varies to a very large degree¹⁷¹. By 2013, the majority of state-owned substitute homes had been transferred to local authorities after

 164 For example, in 2012 only 75% of all the foster families had undergone PRIDE training, and only 26% follow-up training.

¹⁶³ I.e. how exactly is the conformity with the requirements (as required by the law) assessed; how different are the practices of different local authorities in this respect; how often and for which reasons have the applicant foster families found to be unsuitable, etc.

¹⁶⁵ E.g. in comparison with 2006 the number of children in the state-funded substitute home service has decreased by 30% and the number of children with a severe or profound disability placed in the substitute home service by more than 50%. ¹⁶⁶ Of these, 1009 received the state-funded substitute home service and 47 children with a severe or profound disability received the service on the basis of a request by a parent, for the cost of whose service the parent himself or herself partially pays. See for more detail the Ministry of Social Affairs statistics database (s-veeb).

¹⁶⁷ I.e. from the point of view of economic operation of a substitute home service it is more profitable if more children are receiving the service.

¹⁶⁸ The majority of the children with disabilities receiving the substitute home service are in need of daily or 24-hour assistance and supervision depending on severity and nature of their disability.

¹⁶⁹ In 2006, children with disabilities made up 30% of the children and young people receiving the substitute home service. ¹⁷⁰ For the organisation of the substitute care, including for the provision of both foster care as well as the substitute home service.

¹⁷¹See for more detail "Analysis of the situation of children without parental care or in danger of being deprived of parental care, based on the rights of the child" [Laste õigustel põhinev vanemliku hoolitsuseta laste või vanemliku hoolitsuseta jäämise ohus olevate laste olukorra analüüs] (2009).

their renovation and completion of family houses¹⁷².

- **74.** The ratio of children and teachers in substitute homes does not comply with the requirements established by the law¹⁷³. Due to the organisation of work of the substitute home staff in shifts, it is difficult for children to establish lasting, trust-based relationships with the persons who take daily care of them. By disregarding the statutory ratio of teachers and children, substitute homes cannot always guarantee the right to safety and all-round development¹⁷⁴. The capitation money allocated by the state is not in fact sufficient for complying with all the requirements established under the legislation to satisfy the basic needs of the child, and therefore the institutions meeting the minimum staff requirements cannot ensure all the other needs of the children (e.g. hobby activities)¹⁷⁵. There are no incentive measures for substitute homes to implement the system of family elders living together with children.
- **75.** The quality of work of county governors who perform state supervision over the quality of the substitute home service is different, e.g. county governors have interpreted differently the statutory requirements for the substitute home service, and shortcoming can be found in the preliminary and follow-up supervision performed by the county governors¹⁷⁶.
- 76. The current legislation does not regulate in more detail the preparation for withdrawal from substitute care and the follow-up care after the withdrawal, including the related duties of the providers of substitute care, local authorities and the state.
- Take measures for reducing the need and demand for substitute care, and transferring to the family-centred approach of substitute care and child protection work including conscious work with a child's parent(s)/family before and after the child's separation from the family and placement in substitute care.
- Ensure collection of case-based data, the precondition for which is uniform electronic handling of the cases concerning children separated from the family, their families and placement. Allocate sufficient resources for the development of STAR and make its use compulsory for child protection workers.
- Set specific objectives for deinstitutionalisation of substitute care and prepare solutions to support and promote the placement of separated children in family-based forms of substitute care (foster family or placement under care, adoption). Thereby exclude placement of children under three years old in institutional care, except when this is the only possible solution in view of the needs of the child.

 Organise the regulatory framework concerning shelter and safe house services (the objective of the
- Organise the regulatory framework concerning shelter and safe house services (the objective of the services, their substance, target group, requirements, etc) and the bases for the collection of departmental statistics.
- Establish a uniform electronically administered nationwide overview of the persons applying to be

¹⁷³For example, in case of new family houses an activity licence has been granted for the provision of the service to maximum 8 children, although under the Social Welfare Act the maximum size of the family since 2015 should be up to 6 children. However, the Ministry of Social Affairs requested the postponement of this deadline (1 January 2015) until 1 January 2017.

¹⁷⁴ Examples of situations where teachers have not been able to prevent violence between children, cope with children having behavioural problems or teach sufficient skills for becoming independent in life (e.g. cooking, independent management of affairs) or where children lack the motivation of learning or engage in hobbies, characterise rather those substitute homes where teachers work in shifts and where the number of children per one teacher is higher than allowed (based on the 2013 analysis of substitute homes by the Ombudsman for Children / the Chancellor of Justice).

¹⁷⁵ However, the institutions which invest more in creating possibilities essential for the development of children, such as hobby activities, camps, school excursions, do not have a sufficient number of teachers to ensure individual attention to and supervision of children. See for more detail the "Substitute home service analysis" 2013.

¹⁷⁶ County governors often fail to make use of the possibilities in connection with the granting of activity licences and concluding administrative contracts to ensure that no more children are sent to live in a substitute home family than the limit admissible under the law, or that local authorities draw up a case management plan for each child. County governors do not always monitor that substitute homes in fact comply with the recommendations issued in the course of supervision.

29

¹⁷² This has brought along, inter alia, an increase in an unjustified transfer of children either inside one substitute home or between substitute homes.

caregivers or adoptive parents and of their background (including reasons why they were found to be unsuitable), establish a procedure for the collection and use of legally required data.

- Ensure support for children with specific needs and the development of specialised services for them. In developing the services, take into account more than previously the special needs of the target group for the substitute home service (including children and young people having a severe or profound disability or psychosocial special needs).
- Establish the description and standard for the substitute home service in order to be able to assess the substantive quality of the service. Draw up a cost-based financing model of the substitute home service based on the substance and objectives of the service and the requirements established for the service. Use this as a basis in the funding of the service from the state budget. Continue the development of the family-based substitute home service in addition to reorganising the physical environment of the provision of the service and also in terms of substance and organisation (including the working time organisation of the staff). Ensure relevant in-service training for specialists working with children in substitute care (including children with disability).
- Ensure support and follow-up care (including legal regulation) for young people in transferring to independent life from substitute home service.

5.8 Adoption (Article 21)

77. In 2006–2014, about 90–160 children per year have been adopted either domestically in Estonia or internationally, whereas the total number of adopted children has dropped (94 children were adopted in 2014¹⁷⁷). There are problems with data collection: there are no complete data with regard to persons wishing to adopt¹⁷⁸; how many parents agreeing to adoption have received counselling by the county governments¹⁷⁹ or how many of them have subsequently withdrawn their consent to adopt. The law does not establish a general obligation for adoptive parents to undergo a relevant training programme prior to adoption; and also does not specify what requirements such a training programme should meet or what it should contain; and the bases for financing are also unclear ¹⁸⁰.

5.8.1 International adoption

78. International adoption has significantly declined over the years in Estonia (2010:28, 2014:5 children). The procedure and requirements for international adoption, including the tasks and responsibility of the different parties in the process (Ministry of Social Affairs¹⁸¹, county government, local authority, child's guardian, substitute home) are regulated in general terms¹⁸², there is no single body responsible for the process¹⁸³ (causing a possibility of different interpretations of the law). There is no statistical overview of the number of failed international adoptions (i.e. the child was subsequently separated from the adoptive family)¹⁸⁴, and information on how long it was tried to find

¹⁷⁷Including 46 children inside the family, 59 children to a new family, and 5 children internationally.

¹⁷⁸ It is problematic that the same family may submit an application for adoption simultaneously to several county governments, because the Family Law Act does not establish specifically to which county government the person wishing to adopt should submit their application.

¹⁷⁹ The assessment of suitability of the person wishing to adopt depends to a large extent on the professionalism of the official in a particular county government as well as various (subjective) considerations.

¹⁸⁰In practice, some of the potential adoptive parents have completed (voluntarily) the PRIDE training programme intended for substitute families. No statistics on participation exist, it is also unclear who should pay for the training for persons wishing to adopt – whether the state, which pays for the relevant training of substitute families, or the person wishing to adopt.

¹⁸¹With the entry into force of the new Child Protection Act on 1 January 2016, the Social Insurance Board.

¹⁸²Inter alia, it is not clear in the Family Law Act who is responsible for preparing an international adoptive parent and for the collection of necessary documents concerning the adoptive parent in order to decide the adoption. The Act also fails to establish the procedure for communication between the international adoptive parent and the Estonian Ministry of Social Affairs.

¹⁸³In practice, there have also been various shortcomings and problems in connection with data protection.

¹⁸⁴In 2013, the partnership contract between Estonia and the United States ended because in the previous adoption cases the US did not give sufficient feedback on the life and well-being of the child and the US did not sufficiently comply with

an adoptive parent in Estonia and which steps were taken for this.

- Prepare solutions for improving the work of county governments and/or alternatives for institutional reorganisation so as to ensure that the preparation of adoption and data collection are based on uniform grounds as much possible.
- Establish specific requirements for preparing adoptive parents (including their training) and ensure the necessary conditions and resources for implementing them. Ensure consistent provision of services prior to and after the adoption as well as availability of the services to those who wish to become or have already become adoptive parents.
- Regulate more clearly the process of international adoption along with the tasks and responsibility of the different parties and the establishment of the principles for data collection and preservation.

5.9 Right of child placed in care to periodic review of placement (Article 25)

- **79.** The number of children initially separated from the family and later returned to their biological family is growing ¹⁸⁵. Unfortunately, there are no overall statistics on how many of the children placed in one or another form of substitute care eventually (and permanently) return to the family, also whether and how work with the family continues after the child's separation from or also return to the family. Social workers often see substitute care as a final solution in the child's life arrangements and after referral of the child to substitute care the work with the family is mostly considered as completed ¹⁸⁶.
- **80.** Many local authorities of the child's residence have not complied with the statutory duty to visit the substitute family in which the child has been placed, at least twice a year. Local authorities have also not demonstrated sufficient interest in the development and situation of the children under their guardianship in substitute homes¹⁸⁷.
- Draw up methodological assessment guidelines for local authorities to support their cooperation with families and help to plan the process of family reunification.

5.10 Abused and neglected child (Article 19) and psychological and physical recovery of the child and re-socialisation (Article 39)

See Chapter 9 of this report.

the confidentiality requirement important for Estonia.

¹⁸⁵E.g. 43 children in 2012 and 112 children in 2014 were returned to their biological family.

¹⁸⁶The return of children to the biological family is hindered in practice, inter alia, because social workers lack the motivation and resources to support the parent(s) after the child's separation from the family, as well as lack of the belief that the child's return to the family is necessary and possible and in the interests of the child. See the summary of the survey "Reunification of families – a void on the social work landscape in Estonia" [Perekondade taasühendamine – tühmik Eesti sotsiaaltöö maastikul].

¹⁸⁷This is proved by the cases where children placed in a substitute home have either not been drawn up a case management plan taking into account the child's needs and guiding the child's development and/or such a plan has not been regularly updated, although under the Social Welfare Act the individual case management plan of a child should form an appendix to the administrative contract concluded upon a child's placement in a substitute home. There are also children in substitute homes who have not been visited periodically by a representative of the local authority of their residence. Therefore, the child's right to be involved in the decision-making concerning him or her has not been ensured.

6. PROTECTION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL WELFARE 6.1 Children with disabilities (Article 23)

- **81.** People with disabilities make up 10.7% of the Estonian population¹⁸⁸. The number of children with disabilities is constantly growing while in 2009 about 6400 children received the state benefit, in 2014 the number was over 9000, and 60% of them had a severe or profound disability. In 2012, the Riigikogu ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities¹⁸⁹ but has not launched the Convention supervision. Although domestic legislation is mostly in conformity with the Convention, its practical implementation is not limited or ineffective use of financial resources; insufficient assistance to families of children with disabilities; insufficient protection against discrimination based on disability; limited involvement of children with disabilities; limited access to education. Large regional disparities in the availability of the service as well as in the amount of the benefit paid to children with disabilities¹⁹⁰.
- **82.** Unlike in the case of services mostly financed from the state budget (e.g. rehabilitation services, special social welfare services), statutory minimum requirements do not apply to the services offered by local authorities and instead only advisory guidelines have been issued. Almost half of the parents of children with disabilities have had problems with accessing social services intended for children with disabilities have had problems with accessing social services intended for children with disabilities have had problems of such children have experienced problems with obtaining the benefit (including due to the complicated application process). Services aimed at children with an intellectual disability or mental disorder are not sufficiently ensured 192.
- **83.** Local authorities are unable to guarantee for all children with disabilities a place in an ordinary kindergarten and in a school at their place of residence, there is insufficient support to teachers for teaching children with disabilities¹⁹³. For the implementation of inclusive education¹⁹⁴ on different education levels the following problems need to be resolved: early recognition of a child's special educational needs, timely intervention by use of special pedagogy measures, teacher training and study aids, special needs support and physical access¹⁹⁵. The proportion of school leavers among children with disabilities is significantly small in comparison with the remaining students.
- Ensure on the state level services for children with a severe or profound disability based on the needs of the child and the family.
- Improve access of children with disabilities (as well as families) to public services (including education and social welfare services). Increase general awareness about the available services (including in Russian).
- Take diverse measures to prevent exclusion of children with an intellectual disability (including raise the awareness of society, train specialists working with children). Amend the Equal Protection

190 See for more detail the report concerning Estonia with regard to the study "Member States' Policies for Children with

¹⁸⁸See for more detailhttps://statistikaamet.wordpress.com/tag/puudega-inimesed/

¹⁸⁹The President of Estonia had signed it already in 2007.

Disabilities" 2013.

191 The service is offered too far from home (54%); receipt of the service involves too much bureaucracy (62%); long

queues for access to the service (57%); parents of a child with disability are not aware of the available services (50%) or are not aware of their entitlement to the service (48%). See for more detail the "Survey on the coping and needs of families with children with disabilities" [Puudega lastega perede toimetuleku ja vajaduste uuring] (2009).

¹⁹²Such children need services which local authorities are often unable to provide or provide only to a limited extent (e.g. family support person, assistant teacher, adapted curriculum, small class size, assistance with learning, etc).

¹⁹³In 2013, only 53% of kindergartens had created a position of a support specialist.

¹⁹⁴ Under § 14(1) of the Preschool Child Care Institutions Act, rural municipality and city governments shall provide children with physical disabilities, speech disorders, sensory disabilities or intellectual disabilities or children who need special support or special care with the opportunity to develop and grow in the preschool institution of their residence. Under § 2(4) of the Basic Schools and Upper Secondary Schools Act, it is States obligation to provide persons with physical disabilities, speech impairments or sensory or intellectual disabilities and persons who need special support with the opportunity to study at the school.

¹⁹⁵About 20% of schools are accessible to children with disabilities, the remaining schools are either partially accessible or not accessible at all.

Act to provide a clear basis for protecting people against discrimination based on disability also in the social and education sector and in the provision of services.

- Ensure necessary support services for children with disabilities in educational institutions (including hiring mental health nurses at schools) as well as availability of study aids, and revise teacher training respectively.

6.2 Health and healthcare services (Article 24)

84. The mortality of children and young people in Estonia has decreased constantly. Since 2000, the mortality of children under one year old per one thousand live births has decreased significantly (2013: 2.1%). According to the results of prophylactic examination of school students, in 2013 the main health problems of school aged children were visual disorders (20%), posture problems (17%) and being overweight (11%). Mental health problems among children and young people have increased ¹⁹⁶, as reflected also in the rise of suicides ¹⁹⁷. Although recently there have been several positive developments, the focus is rather on dealing with the consequences (treatment and rehabilitation) than on the prevention of problems (universal prevention, early noticing and intervention) ¹⁹⁸.

85. Social services and healthcare (both primary level and psychiatric assistance) are not sufficiently well integrated, the information exchange does not often function and therefore local authorities do not always receive information about a child in need or how to assist the child and the family. Also according to the assessment of the Police and Border Guard Board several incidents of violence are not notified by the health care institutions¹⁹⁹. Some children remain lost for the healthcare system – children who are not registered in the practice list of a general practitioner²⁰⁰ are also deprived of a required health examination (and therefore several cases of ill-treatment may remain undetected).

6.2.2 Medical assistance

86. Estonia needs to deal more with bringing specialised medical care services more to the regional level (e.g. mental health services are ensured primarily in the larger centres). Even in case of services provided free of charge the persons in need of assistance do not necessarily have access to the service because the service provider is physically too far²⁰¹.

6.2.5 Disease prevention and health promotion

87. Up to 25% of children do not visit a dentist even once every three years²⁰². The reason is first and foremost low health awareness and shortcomings in consistent prevention activities ²⁰³. The prevalence of caries is 83.3% among 12-year-olds (while the same indicator among Danish children

 $^{^{196}}$ According to health statistics, mental disorders and behavioural problems caused by mental health problems were diagnosed in 5861 cases in 2013; at the age of 1–4 years – 7.5%; 5–9 years – 36.1%; 10–14 years – 20.9% and 15–19 years – 25.5%.

¹⁹⁷In 2014, two children at the age of 10–14 and ten children at the age of 15–19 committed suicide.

¹⁹⁸Today, the state relies too much on informal noticing and no universal screening on the primary level has been implemented for timely detection of possible problems.

¹⁹⁹The following case is an example of the fact that information is not forwarded, is not forwarded sufficiently fast or that specialists coming in contact with children lack clear guidelines: in Ida-Viru County a ten-year-old boy had recourse to the doctor four times in 2010 due to an ill-treatment related syndrome (physical abuse– sexual abuse – torture – mental violence).

²⁰⁰As no clear supervision is performed over the persons' obligation to ensure that the address of their place of residence in the population register is correct, the regulation does not in practice ensure correctness of personal data in the register, which makes the work of child protection, juvenile, social and other child mental health specialists considerably more difficult, in particular in situations where families move or are evicted from their apartment.

²⁰¹For example, persons from Kohtla-Järve and Saaremaa come to a specialist doctor's reception in Viljandi, or a child in need of a speech therapist is referred from Tapa to Rakvere, Haljala or Tartu, and persons from Narva are often referred to Tallinn or Tartu.

²⁰²The number is growing– in 2010–2012 the indicator was 22%. See for more detail the "Analysis of the use of dentist's services by children" [*Laste hambaraviteenuse kasutuse analüüs*] (2014).

²⁰³This was also shown by a considerable under-execution of contracted volumes for the prevention of children's dental diseases by service providers in 2013.

is 62.1%). It is necessary to increase referral of children to a dentist's check-up by family and school nurses²⁰⁴.

6.2.6 School health care

- 88. Self-perceived health among the 11-15-year-old students has somewhat improved, but at the same time the occurrence of depressive moods has increased²⁰⁵. According to the SEYLE survey (2010), 2/3 of the teachers believe that they could assist children with mental problems but they know too little about this topic²⁰⁶.
- **89.** The results of the Health Board's ad hoc survey in 2009 reveal shortcomings in the daily schedules and organisation of work of schools²⁰⁷: the curricula are overburdened, resulting in students' lack of enthusiasm to learn, a high level of school stress and school fatigue²⁰⁸. The positive aspect is the possibility of receiving hot school meals free of charge both in the basic school and the upper secondary school. In addition, many schools have started distributing hot morning porridge to students to avoid setting in of the feeling of fatigue.
- 90. The availability of equipment on playgrounds and sports grounds of some schools 209 is insufficient, the equipment is often depreciated²¹⁰, increasing the risk of injuries²¹¹. Parallel textbooks are seldom used, causing the problem of too heavy school bags, especially for primary school students²¹².

6.2.9 Immunisation

91. Despite active awareness raising about the importance of vaccination, vaccination coverage for several infections remains below the 95% target set by the WHO 213. Often, the necessary revaccinations are not done in later age, primarily due to refusal by parents. Because of the lack of funding, vaccination against HPV to prevent cervical cancer has not been launched.

6.2.10 Counselling of young people concerning reproductive health and the prevention of sexually transmitted diseases

- 92. Since the age of 15, 13% of women have experienced sexual violence, whereas about 50% of the women having suffered sexual violence during the past 12 months were 16–17 years of age²¹⁴. In Estonia the risk factor for sexual violence is being teenage (so-called dating violence); sexual violence occurs more often among the Russian-speaking population. Intimate partner violence is not sufficiently covered in legislation and the healthcare system does not deal with it systematically²¹⁵.
- 93. The implementing plan of the population health development plan 2009–2020 covers measures for raising the general awareness among young people about reproductive and sexual health, but there

²⁰⁴Family and school nurses have the obligation of referral of children and students to preventive dental check-ups – this is regulated in the work instructions of the general practitioners and nurses working with them, as well as in the regulation regulating the work of school nurses.

²⁰⁵See for more detail the WHO Health Behaviour in School-aged Children, HBSC4 (2014).

²⁰⁶However, the readiness of teachers to assist children with mental problems also depends on their own level of subjective well-being and general satisfaction with the school environment.

²⁰⁷For example, in 36% of the studied classes, tests were scheduled also to take place in the first and last lesson of the day. ²⁰⁸The SEYLE survey (2010) shows that more than half of the 14-15-year-olds are often tired already when going to school in the morning.

²⁰⁹The playground, gym, sports hall or a possibility to use public gyms, sports halls and playgrounds exists in pre-school child care institutions and 97% of schools.

²¹⁰Owners of pre-school child care institutions have not always ensured regular professional inspection and maintenance of playing and sporting equipment and facilities.

²¹¹In 2011, a 3-year-old child died on a kindergarten's depreciated playground due to suffocation.

²¹²According to the results of the Health Board 2009 ad hoc survey, satchels of 30% of 1st-year students, 72% of 2nd-

year students and 86% of 3rd-year students are heavier than the admissible weight. ²¹³For example, in 2014 94.5% of 2-year-old children were covered by vaccination against diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis, 93.4% against measles-mumps-rubella, 94.5% against polio, 94.1% against hepatitis B virus.

²¹⁴See for more detail the Survey of the Health of Estonian Women (2014).

²¹⁵ From total 1966 women aged 16-44 with an experience of sexual intercourse, 17.2% had experienced physical violence, 4.1% sexual violence and 1.8% both. See for more detail, M. Laanpere: "Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia".

is no separate reproductive health programme aimed at girls with disabilities. In the case of young people who have grown up in substitute care, the problem is also awareness about sexual behaviour as well as about couple and family relationships with regard to different risks²¹⁶. In many cases, substitute homes do not see a role in offering sexual and family education, believing it to be primarily the task of the school or other specialists²¹⁷.

94. In 2014, 291 persons were diagnosed with HIV in Estonia, of whom seven were at the age of 0–19 years (including newborns who got infected in the course of pregnancy or birth).

6.2.11 Prevention of tobacco consumption

95. The first experience of trying a cigarette comes at an increasingly later age in Estonia²¹⁸, the number of daily smokers is decreasing²¹⁹ and accessibility of tobacco for young people has decreased. Unfortunately, minors try different tobacco products at an early age (half of 13-year-olds have tried a tobacco product); trying an e-cigarette is just as spread as trying a cigarette²²⁰. It is positive that in 2015 amendments to the Tobacco Act entered into force prohibiting the consumption and owning of hookahs, e-cigarettes and tobacco-free moist snuff for minors, and it was also prohibited to offer these products for sale, or to sell and advertise them to minors.

6.2.12 Healthy nutrition

96. Child-age obesity is a growing problem in Estonia²²¹, in 2014 16.6% of the boys and 13.6% of the girls aged 11–15 were overweight or obese. The proportion of overweight/obese children is higher in rural areas, in families in a poor economic situation and families with one biological parent. Some families have problems to afford fully nutritional food for their children²²², in one out of eight families the child does not get to eat fresh fruit and vegetables every day, and in one out eleven families children do not get a daily portion of meat or fish²²³.

6.2.13 Promotion of mental health

97. Estonia lacks a clear concept and cross-sectoral regulation for the provision of mental health services that would establish, in addition to treatment, rehabilitation and support services, also activities for promoting mental health and for preventing mental health problems²²⁴.

98. In 2013, mental and behavioural disorders were diagnosed in 5861 cases and mood disorders in 481 cases in children and young people. In comparison to 2010, occurrence of depressive moods had become more frequent among school students in 2014²²⁵, prevalence of depression in this age group is about 10%, subliminal depression about 30% ²²⁶. The number newly diagnosed mental and behavioural disorders among children and young people has been on the increase since 2009. The prevalence of mental disorders related to the use of narcotic substances is above the European

²¹⁶E.g. early sexual life and (unwanted) pregnancy; becoming a parent in an early age and difficulties with fulfilling one's parental role and responsibility; difficulties with establishing a couple relationship /family and maintaining it, etc. See for more detail the "Baseline analysis of the concept of substitute care" (2013).

²¹⁷ See the Ombudsman for Children (2013). Analysis of substitute homes.

²¹⁸While in 2006 62% of 11-year-old boys had not tried a cigarette, in 2014 it was 85%.

²¹⁹The proportion of daily smokers among the 11–15-year-olds in the period 2002–2014 was on decline. In 2014, 4% of boys and 3% of girls were daily smokers, and in 2002 respectively 10% of boys and 5% of girls.

²²⁰ 33% of 11–15-year-olds have tried an e-cigarette, 36% have tried a cigarette.

²²¹ In 2013, one in ten school-aged children was overweight, whereas since 2008 the number of overweight children had increased by 5000.

²²² Estonian social survey – material welfare of children in Estonia 2014.

²²³To a large extent, the welfare of children in a family depends on the family's income, which is connected to the number of income earners in the family.

²²⁴See for more detail the "Baseline analysis of the concept of integrated child mental health services" [*Laste vaimse tervise integreeritud teenuste kontseptsiooni alusanalüüs*] (2015).

²²⁵ See for more detail the "Survey of the health behaviour of school students in Estonia" [*Eesti Kooliõpilaste Tervisekäitumise Uuring*] (2014).

²²⁶Pre-disease symptoms of depression do not enable diagnosing of clinical depression, but it is extremely important to notice the signs of the pre-disease condition in an early stage and offer necessary assistance to the child with problems even when he or she does not yet need immediate treatment.

average²²⁷. Mental health problems of children deteriorate upon separation of children from the family – 62% of children studying in closed institutions (special schools) have symptoms of the attention deficit hyperactive disorder²²⁸. In Estonia, 5% of school students have developed internet addiction²²⁹. A common mental health problem among students is the infliction of intentional self-injuries, 1/3 of the students have at least once in their life intentionally injured themselves in one or another way (whereas this is more common among girls).

99. Primary level psychological assistance²³⁰ is not sufficient (lack of mental health nurses in family health centres and schools, as well as limited coverage by support specialists – psychologists in kindergartens/schools, special education teachers ²³¹) and accessible, causing long queues for appointment with psychiatrists/psychologists, speech therapists and other providers of mental health services²³². At the same time, the assistance of child psychiatrists is not available in most county centres²³³, whereas the development of child psychiatry has been hindered for years by the shortage of specialists²³⁴.

100. A positive development is the recent creation of regional mental health centres for children and young people²³⁵. However, again this is a project-based initiative²³⁶, the future funding for which is unclear, i.e. the whole development activity could remain a single event and the positive impact on the relevant area as a whole could be temporary.

6.2.14 Prevention of injuries and poisonings

101. Estonia is a country with a high mortality caused by injuries²³⁷. Child mortality as a result of injuries has decreased since 1989²³⁸. In 2013, most deaths of children under 14 years of age occurred as a result of drowning²³⁹, up to 14-year-old children most often needed treatment as a result of

²²⁷Taking into account the "Survey of the health behaviour of school students in Estonia" (2014) and the ESPAD trends over several years.

36

²²⁸See for more detail "Study of the cognitive and personality traits and mental health, addictive behaviour and social background of children in closed institutions" [Kinnistes asutuste viibivate laste kognitiivsete ja isiksuslike omaduste ning vaimse tervise, sõltuvuskäitumise ja sotsiaalse tausta uurimus] (2014).

²²⁹In boys, pathological internet addiction appears more often, while girls belong more often in the group on the verge of internet addiction. See for more detail the SEYLE survey (2010).

²³⁰ The state has imposed on local authorities statutory obligations to provide several mental health support services but there is no central overview of the organisation, extent, continuity and quality of the provision of the services.

²³¹In case of an initial appointment, queues can be up to two months long although, according to specialists, in case of mood disorders the waiting time should not exceed four weeks, and in case of unstable patients admission to an appointment with a psychiatrist should be ensured even quicker.

²³²Specialists and parents have both pointed out the shortage of specialists (speech therapists, special pedagogy teachers, psychologists, social pedagogues) at schools, which could be alleviated by an additional team of such specialists in kindergartens where early attention to a child's problem could help to prevent problems in the future.

²³³Assistance is guaranteed only in larger centres, in practice it is impossible to further develop priority out-patient assistance or equivalent regional accessibility on the level of central and regional hospitals. The limited number of specialists does not allow ensuring consultative assistance on the primary level healthcare.

²³⁴Both with regard to child psychiatrists as well as clinical child psychologists, speech therapists and psychiatric nurses who are indispensable for treatment teams.

²³⁵Mental health centres are located in Tallinn, Tartu, Pärnu and Kohtla-Järve and their regional branches are also represented in Narva, Võru, Valga and Põlva. However, although the mental health centres were established on the basis of the principle of coordinated provision of services, they are essentially separate units, i.e. it has not been harmonised which services and under which principles are provided, it is also not clear whether the centres have similar or different aims

²³⁶The project is funded from the Norwegian grant programme "Public Health", the Ministry of Social Affairs.

²³⁷In 2013, there were 958 deaths caused by injuries, which is approximately twice higher than the European average.

²³⁸While in 1989 deaths caused by injuries made up 53–57% of all the deaths of children aged 1–14, in 2012 the cause of 29–31% of the deaths of 1–9-year-olds was an injury (data by the Ministry of Social Affairs).

²³⁹Every year several children drown and tens of children sustain health damage due to getting in danger of drowning or suffocation. The proportion of children successfully completing the basic swimming course (90% of children are able to cover a 25-metre distance independently in a pool after the completion of the course), yet every year about 800 children from the total 12 000 fail to complete the course either partially or fully for various reasons (e.g. illness, injury,

injuries caused by falling or mechanical force²⁴⁰. Due to poisonings, medical assistance was needed most often for children aged 0–4 (203 children)²⁴¹. In the avoidance of risk behaviour and in the prevention of injuries, parents and the school both pay an important role. Although the new curriculum supports integrated topic coverage no assessment of its implementation has been undertaken.

102. Alongside alcohol, the second important risk factor for injuries are drugs; in 2014 it appeared that 39% of 12th-year students had tried drugs²⁴². In view of the number of drug addicts, the treatment volume is disproportionately small²⁴³, there is also no clearly defined treatment system for alcohol addicts.

- Ensure quality of treatment data concerning children, the movement of the data into the healthcare information system and access of the specialists dealing with children to the data.
- Establish a legislative obligation for families to undergo primary level health screening to ensure early noticing and relevant response to problems (including mental health problems). Ensure assistance to risk groups which, as a result of the screening, are found to be in need of most attention and assistance.
- Increase awareness of parents about the necessity of immunisation, dental treatment and other health promotion. Offer to breast-feeding mothers counselling based on contemporary knowledge.
- Prepare and implement sexual education training programmes for vulnerable groups (e.g. children with disabilities, children in substitute homes).
- Prepare a strategy for the promotion and improvement of sexual health which includes prevention of violence against women, including intimate partner violence.
- More effectively reduce prevalence of smoking among minors.
- Prepare a strategy for the prevention of obesity among children, and integrate the topic in the health education programme in kindergartens and schools.
- Establish uniform mental health policy on the national level, assign a coordinator of the field along with the specific responsibilities. Organise clearly defined state funding (including coverage of specialised medical care and local level services), increase prevention, by channelling most of the primary and second-level intervention funding to the child's daily environment.
- -Increase the mental health component in all the in-service training programmes for primary level specialists (including kindergarten teachers, school teachers, family nurses and general practitioners).
- More prevention work by the primary level treatment network (general practitioners and family nurses) for raising awareness of the parents about the causes of accidents. Increase the treatment volumes of juvenile drug addicts.

6.3 Standard of living (Article 27 para 1–3)6.3.1 State measures for reducing poverty risk

103. In 2013, 22.1% of the Estonian population lived in relative poverty and 8% in absolute poverty. Over the years, the level of poverty in society has grown²⁴⁴. The relative poverty level of children (aged 0–17) was 20.2%. The higher the number of children in family, the more severe the poverty – among families with one child 21% lived in relative poverty and 9% in absolute poverty, and among

_

absenteeism, little financial contribution by local authorities).

²⁴⁰See for more detail the "Taskforce on the policy for the prevention of injuries and deaths caused by injuries" [*Vigastuste ja vigastussurmade ennetamise poliitika rakkerühm*] 2014.

²⁴¹Direct possibility for distributing information to parents: general practitioners and family nurses, as well as midwives. ²⁴²The "Survey on the awareness of risk behaviour in three target groups" (2014).

²⁴³Currently 45 beds are available for adult drug addicts in Estonia (20 beds in Viljandi hospital and 25 in Sillamäe) and 28 beds for juveniles (24 in Jõhvi and currently 4 in Tallinn). In Tallinn Children's Safe House the treatment of young addicts is combined with education.

²⁴⁴ The initial level of relative poverty in 2010 was 17.5%; Estonia's objective 2015 – 16.5%.

families with three children respectively 28% and 16%²⁴⁵. Children with a single parent or nonemployed parent are in a significantly higher poverty risk. Living conditions of children have slightly improved over the years, yet one fifth of children live in poor conditions²⁴⁶.

104. The unemployment rate of young people (aged 15–24) rose from 12% in 2008 to 18.7% in 2013; the problem is the growth of the number of young people not in education, employment or training (NEET)²⁴⁷. As the success of young people on the labour market depends on the quality of their studies, the acquired level of education and skills, one of the main reasons for the increase in youth unemployment could be considered their insufficient preparation for entering the labour market and staying on the market. As a positive development, in the framework of the ESF period (2014–2020) Estonia has planned additional measures for the prevention and reduction of youth unemployment.

105. The state has decided to invest in children²⁴⁸, raising family benefits²⁴⁹, including the child allowance, and has set an objective to raise employment of parents. Preparation of the strategy for combating poverty "The development plan for social security, inclusion and equal opportunities 2016–2023" can also be highlighted as a positive example with one of its aims being reduction of child poverty.

- Harmonise the system of family benefits, increase its flexibility for improving the opportunities for reconciliation of work and family life of parents. Improve the system of support for single parent families.
- Establish indexation of the subsistence benefit and link the subsistence level to the minimum means of subsistence and to the consumer price index.
- Implement effectively the measures under the Youth Guarantee (preventive activities, the first job measure).
- Raise the minimum tax exempt income in order to reduce the poverty risk of low-income families.

6.4 Social security, childcare services and childcare institutions (Articles 26 and 18 para 3) 6.4.2 Family benefits

106. The Estonian state invests approximately 782 million euros a year in children and families²⁵⁰. Since 2009, expenditure on national family benefits has dropped²⁵¹. Since 2015, the expenditure on family benefits will increase by approximately 78 million euros per year²⁵². Universal child allowance is mostly not sufficient for alleviating poverty, and families suffering from more severe poverty also need additional support.

107. Guarantee of the social fundamental rights of the child varies significantly between different regions, because both the provision of social services and the payment of various supplementary benefits depend on the capacity of each particular local authority²⁵³. Since 2009, school allowance is no longer paid under the State Family Benefits Act, which has led to unequal treatment of children – the amounts of benefits paid by local authorities differ several times and there are also local authorities

²⁴⁷ NEET young people made up on average 12.5% of all the young people in Estonia in 2013.

²⁴⁵Statistics Yearbook of Estonia 2015. See for more detailhttp://www.stat.ee/90732.

²⁴⁶See for more detail "Child welfare". Statistics Estonia.

²⁴⁸In 2016, the subsistence level will rise from 90 euros to 130 euros.

²⁴⁹Since 1 July 2013, needs-based family benefit is available which is paid to families living below the needs-based family benefit income level, as well as to families with children receiving the subsistence benefit. From the aspect of reducing child poverty, it is positive that the universal child allowance has risen from 19 euros to 45 euros. By 2019, the universal child allowance will rise to 60 euros.

²⁵⁰See for more detail the "Green paper on family benefits, services and leave for parents" 2015.

²⁵¹The decline in the expenditure for family benefits has been affected by the decrease in the number of recipients of child benefits, which is due to the decrease of the number of children in the relevant age group in the population.

²⁵²Since 2015, the amount of the needs-based family benefit rose to 45 euros per month for a family with one child, and to 90 euros per month for a family with two or more children. In the period from 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2014 the amount of the needs-based family benefit was 9.59 euros per month for a family with one child and 19.18 euros per month for a family with two or more children.

²⁵³Throughout Estonia there are huge disparities with regard to the provision of the services as well as payment of benefits.

which do not pay such benefit to children at all²⁵⁴.

6.4.3 Parental benefit

108. The Estonian system of the leave for parents is a positive example of length of the period of payment of the substitute income guaranteed to parents of an infant and of the generosity of such compensation²⁵⁵, but still more attention should be paid to increasing the participation of fathers and better reconciliation of work and family life²⁵⁶. State-guaranteed protection of income decreases sharply, at the latest when the child attains 1.5 years of age, regardless of the fact that many parents cannot hand over the burden of care and fully return to work, because the childcare service affordable for most households usually becomes available only once the child has attained three years of age.

6.4.4 Benefits for persons with disabilities

109. In 2014, total 9000 children received the benefit for children with disabilities, whereas 60% of them had either a severe or profound disability²⁵⁷. Unfortunately, instead of offering a wider selection of support services to people with disabilities, various social security benefits are paid with the main aim to compensate for the additional expenses incurred due to disability. The basis for the calculation of different benefits is the rate of disability allowance (25.57 euros) which has been unchanged since 2005.

6.4.5 Childcare service

110.In 2013 in Estonia, 12 700 working-age persons (aged 15–69) did not work due to the need to take care of children or other family members, 5800 of them were parents (93% women) of pre-school aged children²⁵⁸. Almost all children aged 4–6 have a kindergarten place while only three fourths of 1.5–3-year olds have it²⁵⁹, in 2013 almost 5400 children aged 1.5 to 3 years were waiting for a place in a kindergarten²⁶⁰.

111. An important measure to support reconciliation of work and family life is an accessible and good - quality childcare service²⁶¹. Since 2015, at the request and with consent of a parent the local authority may enable the use of the childcare service for infants instead of a kindergarten place, whereas the parent's participation fee for the service may not exceed 20% of the minimum wage²⁶². Problems that need to be resolved include the following: the existence of unjustifiably different

²⁵⁹In 2013, 91% of children aged 3–6 years attended pre-school child-care institutions, and 95.5% of children from 4 years old to school-entry age participated in pre-school education. According to the European Social Survey (Statistics Estonia 2013), 23% of children under 3 years old participated in formal childcare, which is 10 percentage points below the EU target. Shortage of kindergarten places is experienced mostly in larger cities – in Tartu and Tallinn, to a smaller extent in Pärnu and in several rural municipalities in the vicinity of these cities.

²⁶⁰Under § 10(1) of the Preschool Child Care Institutions Act, a rural municipality or city government shall, at the request of the parents, provide all children from eighteen months to seven years of age whose residence is in the territory of the given rural municipality or city and whose residence coincides with the residence of at least one parent the opportunity to attend a preschool institution in the catchment area. A rural municipality or city government may, with the parent's consent, substitute the place of a child from eighteen months to three years of age in a preschool institution with childcare service, the financing of which shall be based on the provisions of § 27(3) and (4) of this Act.

²⁶¹The availability of childcare possibilities enables parents to participate in the labour market and thus also reduce the family's poverty risk, good-quality and available childcare is also one of the most effective policy measures for increasing the birth rate. Good-quality pre-school education and childcare support the social and emotional development and further educational progress of children (in particular children in vulnerable groups).

²⁵⁴For example, in 2013 Kärdla rural municipality in Saare County supported 1st-year students with 160 euros, followed by Kihelkonna, Kaarma, Mustjala and Valjala municipality with 130 euros. In Orissaare rural municipality the school allowance was 120 euros, while in Laimjala rural municipality it was 35 euros.

²⁵⁵The expenditure for parental benefits decreased significantly in 2013 when the expenditure reached slightly more than 157 million euros. In connection with increased income, the expenditure on parental benefits can be expected to increase in the nearest years.

²⁵⁶Also the relatively low birth rate and low employment rate of mothers with infants are a sign of difficulties with reconciling work and family life.

²⁵⁷Since 2009, the number of recipients of the benefit has increased by approximately 2700 persons.

²⁵⁸Statistics Estonia 2013 workforce survey.

²⁶²The results of the analysis show that the higher the kindergarten fee, the higher the absolute poverty of children.

requirements for pre-school education and the childcare service; absence of the quality assessment system for providers of the childcare service; limited possibilities for degree courses and in-service training for child-carers along with methodological support; problem of childcare for children with disabilities²⁶³.

- Maintain the universal system of child benefits, targeting the benefits to families in a higher risk of poverty. Establish indexation of the child benefit in line with the consumer price index and the dynamics of tax revenues.
- Reduce inflexibility of the vacation and compensation schemes to increase possibilities for reconciliation of work and family life and improve the freedom of choice.
- Increase availability of pre-school education and childcare, thereby promoting the participation of the least well-off families in pre-school education. Establish a uniform system of pre-school education and childcare which supports quality and availability, belongs in the area of administration of one ministry, corresponds to uniform quality requirements and is regulated within one law; revise personnel training.

7. EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES (Articles 28, 29 and 31)

7.1 Education, including vocational training (Article 28)

7.1.1 Pre-school education

112. Participation of children in pre-school education is high²⁶⁴, creating good preconditions for a smooth transfer to school. It is positive that in the recent years more focus has been placed on value education²⁶⁵. According to the forecast of the number of children, an increased need for the number of kindergarten places can be expected in the nearest years²⁶⁶ (see also point 6.4.5 of the report). In 2014, households with children at the age of 1.5–7 years were mostly satisfied (85%) with the availability of the kindergarten or nursery service, the level of dissatisfaction varies significantly between centres and rural areas²⁶⁷. There are also large discrepancies between different counties as regards conformity of kindergarten teachers to qualification requirements²⁶⁸. The problem is also that in Russian-speaking kindergartens only 36% of the teachers have higher-level proficiency in the Estonian language.

113. In practice, local authorities are unable to ensure a place in an ordinary kindergarten for all children with disabilities, there is also not enough support for teachers in teaching children with special needs (e.g. in 2013 only 53% of kindergartens had a position of a support specialist²⁶⁹). Not all teachers have enough preparation for implementing inclusive education policy and there is scarcity of resources for creating the necessary learning environment.

7.1.2 Compulsory school attendance

114. The number of children in Estonia not complying with the compulsory school attendance is relatively small. Since 2015, the Basic Schools and Upper Secondary Schools Act was repealed which provided for a possibility to impose a fine on a parent in case of the child's failure to comply with the compulsory school attendance²⁷⁰.

²⁶³The sum of 402 euros a year allocated for the state-funded childcare service (intended for children with a severe and profound disability) is only sufficient to purchase the service for a child in the target group for only five days a year.

²⁶⁴In Estonia 91.7% of children aged 4–6 years participated in pre-school education in 2013, which is slightly below the EU average level.

²⁶⁵See for more detail point 128 of the report.

²⁶⁶Whereas 78% of the respondent with Russian as their home language prefer an Estonian-speaking kindergarten for their children or grandchildren. See for more detail the "Integration monitoring survey" 2011.

²⁶⁷See for more detail "Satisfaction of inhabitants with local public services"[*Elanike rahulolu kohalike avalike teenustega*] 2014.

²⁶⁸From the total 8081 kindergarten teachers in 2014, 6698 or 83% met the qualification requirements, but for example in Harju and Valga County 79% and in Hiiu County 96% of kindergarten teachers met the qualification requirements.

²⁶⁹See for more detail "Laste heaolu. Child Well-Being." Statistics Estonia 2013.

²⁷⁰In the explanatory memorandum, it was explained that the wording of the norm was unfortunate – it did not meet the

7.1.3 Alternative options for acquiring education

115. Of the students in general education schools in 2013, 17% had a special educational need (SEN), about 3.2% needed special organisation of studies, and 74% of children with special needs attended a special school (i.e. approximately 3000 students). In the school year 2014/2015, 38 schools for children with special educational and behavioural needs operate in Estonia, among them 20 state schools, 13 municipal schools and 5 private schools²⁷¹. Nationally, student places are distributed unequally, also students with different special educational needs are distributed unequally between the state, municipal or private schools. Under the new concept for teaching SEN children, the orientation is towards inclusive education and it is planned to revise the existing network of SEN schools. Shortcomings that need to be addressed include the following: SEN students attending regular schools do not receive sufficient support²⁷², school managers and teachers lack readiness and knowledge to implement inclusive learning; SEN students have not been ensured equal opportunities for access to the services of support specialists because different local authorities have very different capacity for implementing the services of support specialists.

7.1.4 Repetition of grade and dropping out of school

116. The problem of dropping out of school before the acquisition of basic education or being side lined after leaving the basic school without continuing the studies²⁷³or without acquiring vocational education. The drop-out rate from daytime study in general education schools declined in 2011–2014 and stabilised at 0.5–0.6% on stage III of the basic school (i.e. grades 7–9) and at 1.0–1.1% in the first year of the upper secondary school, but is still too high. The problem is also the large proportion of drop-outs in the distance study of general education and in vocational education²⁷⁴. Dropping out of boys in stage III of school is twice higher than among girls, and poorer results at the end of basic education are also reflected in a higher drop-out rate in the next stage. According to the assessment of students, the main reasons for interruption of studies in vocational education are first and foremost related to a wrong choice of speciality²⁷⁵, little study motivation of a student, conflicts with teachers or other students, and financial difficulties.

117. In the context of the inclusive education policy, the problem is the quality of teaching the so-called borderline children with normal intellect but with behavioural problems or learning difficulties ²⁷⁶ and the shortage of classes/schools and competent teachers for them. In practice, these children often change schools, their educational life is unstable and their skills might not find suitable application.

118. Schools can choose whether to organise the services of the special pedagogy teachers and school psychologists independently locally or whether to outsource the service from the *Rajaleidja* centre²⁷⁷. People working at school daily claim that counselling committees (there is one advisory centre per

²⁷¹The number of students in schools for children with special educational and behavioural needs has declined over the last ten years, in the state SEN schools the number has declined by approximately 1000 students, i.e. 40%.

structure of a liability norm and its content was also in conflict with the General Part of the Penal Code (e.g. imposition of community work).

²⁷²Inclusion of SEN students in regular schools in comparison with Europe and the Nordic countries is smallest in Estonia. ²⁷³The total number of students not continuing their studies after the acquisition of basic education has declined. Yet it is a problem – they drop out of the education system as a whole, i.e. due to their low level of education and lack of a profession they may also encounter difficulties in finding work and may turn into NEED youth who are not engaged in education, employment or training.

²⁷⁴In the school year 2013/2014, 21.8% of all the vocational education students interrupted their studies, see for more detail the 2014 annual analysis by the Ministry of Education and Research.

²⁷⁵This is an indication of the weakness of career education and career counselling at the basic school, which the vocational education institutions are unable to compensate for (Espenberg et al 2013: 40).

²⁷⁶Regular schools do not often wish or are unable to teach them and they are not in the target group for special schools either.

²⁷⁷In all the counties in September 2014 the *Rajaleidja* centres managed by the Innove Foundation began to operate, organising the work of counselling committees in the respective counties. However, the problem is availability of the service, including distance.

each county) alone are not sufficient, the work of support specialists on the spot at school is also necessary²⁷⁸. For example, the need for the service of a school psychologist is affirmed by the fact that at least 40% of 11–15-year-old girls and 22% of the boys of the same age feel sadness/depression at least once a week.

- 119. The existence of support specialists at school again depends on the financial capacity of a particular local authority and varies considerably between different local authorities (large city schools²⁷⁹ versus small rural schools²⁸⁰), there are also schools which do not have any support specialists at all. Problems are also caused by the shortage of specialists: it is difficult for schools to find a replacement for specialists who have left school to go and work at *Rajaleidja* centres. The shortage of specialists is also not alleviated by the current state-commissioned education ²⁸¹. Particularly critical is the shortage of specialists with the knowledge of Russian, the impact of which can be felt first and foremost in Ida-Viru County.
- **120.** The readiness of students to pull themselves together also depends on whether the teacher is using cognitive activation strategies. Unfortunately, alternative teaching strategies, diverse assessment strategies and helping students to think critically are implemented less frequently in the classroom in Estonia than in other countries²⁸².
- 121. Society sees the quality of education and schools too much in terms of the results of national examinations. Surveys show that the choice of a school on the basis of a market principle reproduces the phenomenon of so-called good and not so good schools, by uniting children on the basis of background characteristics of their parents and their registered address and pre-schooling²⁸³, and weaker results of students in the Russian-speaking schools are partly due to the lower social background of the students attending those schools.

7.1.6 Boarding school programme

- **122.** The availability of the boarding school service is restricted due to the small number of boarding school facilities and limited places in them (boarding school facility 2014:42 schools; 2015:39 schools, including the diminished number of places), difference in the availability of support services in counties and weak networking and insufficient readiness of boarding school facilities to deal with students' behavioural problems²⁸⁴.
- Specify funding of pre-school education, the responsibility of local authorities and the creation of flexible forms of pre-school education and childcare based on the needs of children and families.
- Develop teacher education (including paying more attention to alternative teaching strategies based on the individual abilities of students), study aids (including digital), early language learning of students and a system for early recognition and support of special needs of children.
- Prepare measures for the organisation of studies with the aim to increase efficiency of studying and reduce dropping out. Ensure the availability and quality of necessary support services for students, regardless of the child's place of residence and existence of a special educational need, and develop the system for supporting students.
- Give schools the right to shape their ways to implement national curriculum and evaluation system Involve more frequently SEN students in their local school, ensure funding for the adaptation of the learning environment to suit their needs.

42

²⁷⁸See for more detail "Taskforce on the policy for the prevention of injuries and deaths caused by injuries" (2014).

²⁷⁹In many larger schools support specialists work full-time, sometimes part-time, depending on the needs and possibilities of a school and students. See for more detail "Satisfaction with and availability of the academic advisory services" [Õppenõustamisteenustega rahulolu ja nende kättesaadavus] (2011).

²⁸⁰Rural schools can only rarely afford to hire psychologists and social pedagogues – their tasks must be performed by other members of school staff according to the situation and their abilities.

²⁸¹For example, every year 3–4 qualified speech therapists are added although the need for them is considerably higher. ²⁸² See for more detail the results of the TALIS survey 2013.

²⁸³See for more detail "The stratifying effect of school choices in Tallinn" [Tallinna koolivaliku kihistav mõju] (2013).

²⁸⁴ Increasingly more children with behavioural problems attend boarding school facilities. See for more detail "Support measures concerning organisation of study for children with behavioural problems" (2010).

- Ensure miscellaneous support services in boarding school facilities, raise the competence of specialists. Analyse the reasons why students stay at these facilities in order to avoid that referral to a boarding school facility would become a substitute for dealing with the actual need of assistance of the family on the local level.

7.2 Objectives of education (Article 29)

123. The issues concerning the implementation of this article have been covered throughout the report under the relevant areas.

7.2.1 Development plan for the general education system 2007–2013

124. International comparative surveys show that the majority of learners in Estonia acquire good basic skills and the impact of the socio-economic background of learners on the learning results is small. However, the learning approach which has been theoretically adopted and also approved in documents, as well as appreciation of giftedness and recognition of special needs²⁸⁵ have not become an inseparable part of the learning process: the upper secondary school network does not take into account the large decrease in the number of learners, small upper secondary schools are unable to offer diverse and good-quality learning opportunities; access of learners to the digital infrastructure and digital study aids is insufficient and uneven, and society sees the quality of education and schools too much in terms of the results of national examinations²⁸⁶.

125. For the implementation of the "Estonian lifelong education strategy 2020" the state has promised to adjust the number of educational institutions and the student places²⁸⁷, although currently there is no clarity about the future of the school network²⁸⁸. If no resources are allocated for the reorganisation of the network of general education schools, the availability of good-quality and diverse general education in rural areas will deteriorate and the movement of children to schools in larger centres will accelerate. The objective of the strategy is to have motivated and competent teachers and school managers. Good-quality education presumes better appreciation of the work of teachers ²⁸⁹, The satisfaction of Estonian teachers with their work is lower than in other OECD countries²⁹⁰, the reason: low wage, little recognition by society, unstable education policy, low position of teachers in society, overburdened curriculum and excessive workload. The average age of teachers in general education schools has constantly grown in the period 2007–2014²⁹¹ and the interest of young people in teacher training is declining.

7.2.2 Reduction of school violence

teachers.

126. Estonia has a high level of school bullying. The survey on the deviant behaviour of children (2014) revealed that 22% of children had been victims of school bullying²⁹², whereas the indicator was somewhat higher in Estonian-speaking schools in comparison to the Russian-speaking schools (22.4% and 19.8% respectively). In the opinion of children, it is most important that teachers should

²⁸⁷According to the National Audit Office assessment, the state should quickly agree not only on the principles of reorganisation of the upper secondary schools network but it should be done for the whole school network.

²⁸⁵According to the PISA survey, in comparison with many other countries we have a low proportion of students with low or very good skills.

²⁸⁶See for more detail the "Estonian lifelong education strategy 2020".

²⁸⁸According to the latest school network analysis by Praxis, instead of the current 484 schools providing basic education and 194 schools providing upper secondary education in Estonia, respectively 352 and 58 schools would suffice 2020. ²⁸⁹Several national and voluntary initiatives have been launched to popularise the profession of the teacher and teaching. For example, the programme *Noored kooli* [Young people to school] offering the experience of being a teacher for gifted university graduates; the initiative *Tagasikooli* [Back to school] in the framework of which everyone can have a try at teaching a class; the campaign *Õpi õpetajaks* [Learn to be a teacher]; month of a good teacher; the start-up subsidy for

²⁹⁰Particularly poor is the satisfaction with the status of the profession of the teacher in society – only 14% of the surveyed teachers and 12% of school managers believe that the teacher's profession is valued in society.

²⁹¹While in the school year 2007/2008 there were 33% of teachers under 40 years old, in 2013/2014 it was 27%.

²⁹²Also the 2009/2010 survey on the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) showed that 41% of 11-15-year-olds had experienced school bullying at least once in the past couple of months before the survey.

notice and react to bullying, whereas 29.4% of the victims in Estonian-speaking schools and 44.7% in Russian-speaking schools had never told anyone about the bullying. The victims of bullying are often children who have been growing in socially difficult conditions while the bullies are often neglected children²⁹³.

127. In the recent years, the state has taken important steps to reduce school violence: the Ministry of Justice strategy for the prevention of violence 2015–2020 focuses first and foremost on violence related to children (including with the active help of the so-called internet constables), the Ministry of Social Affairs launched in 2015 the parenting programme Incredible Years²⁹⁴, also in the education system increasingly more attention is given to the prevention of bullying behaviour. Under the leadership of the Estonian Union for Child Welfare, Tartu University ethics centre, the Foundation Bullying-Free School²⁹⁵ and the Youth Association TORE, in 2014 the movement *Kiusamisvaba Haridustee Eest* [For Bullying-Free Education] was established which is aimed at creating a safe growing and educational environment for all children and young people beginning from the kindergarten to the end of the upper secondary school.

128. As of 2015, 439 kindergartens (from 524) and 81 schools (from 544) have joined the Union for Child Welfare project *Kiusamisest vaba lasteaed ja kool* [Bullying-free kindergarten and school]. With support from the methodology centres, the nationwide effective programme for the prevention of bullying has developed since 2010, and the coordination of its activities is also supported by county-level education specialists²⁹⁶. *Kiusamisest vabaks!* [Freedom from bullying!] methodology provides an effective way for promoting a positive communication network; but in the opinion of the teachers the factors hampering its implementation are shortage of time and the lower than expected support by the school management and colleagues²⁹⁷.

7.2.3 Small schools

129. The Government's report (page 96) contains a reference to the new general education financing model, which was implemented in 2008 and supports the preservation of an elementary school near home. Despite the opposition by the local communities²⁹⁸, in practice many small schools have been closed down. In 40% of local authorities in Estonia, the number of students in the basic school is below 100²⁹⁹. The necessity to reorganise the school network has been topical for more than ten years, school operators (local authorities) have unequal capacity to ensure the quality of study because the school network has not adapted to the change in the number of children³⁰⁰. In schools with a small number of children, it is difficult to ensure full workload for teachers, and upper secondary schools are unable to offer sufficient options for students.

²⁹³In the ISDR-3 survey 2014, it was found that the victims of school violence most often tell not the school psychologist or social pedagogue but their friends (27%) or parents (25%) about the problem.

²⁹⁴Aimed at the parents of children with behavioural problems and parents who wish to prevent the development of possible behavioural problems in their children.

²⁹⁵The programme of the Bullying-Free School (Estonian abbreviation KiVa) operates since 2012, in the school year 2014/2015 17 schools all over Estonia used the KiVa programme and 14 schools were preparing to join it.

²⁹⁶See for more detailwww.kiusamisestvabaks.ee For further expansion of the programme the Union for Child Welfare cooperates with Tallinn University and Tartu University ethics centre, the Association of Estonian Cities, the Association of Municipalities of Estonia, the Estonian Childhood Education Managers Association and the Innove Foundation's *Rajaleidja* centres in all counties; also involved in the project are supervisors from the non-profit association Moreno Centre and trainers from Tartu Children's Support Centre with the training on early recognition.

²⁹⁷The information is based on the results of the survey carried out among the teachers of classes which joined the methodology *Kiusamisest vabaks!* in the project's pilot schools in the school year 2014/2015. The survey revealed that as a result of practising the methodology the proportion of bullying in the relationships between the children declined and at the same time caring and attentiveness among the children increased; the children had learned to better understand social situations, recognise emotions and express empathy, and the courage and initiative of children themselves to intervene in bullying increased.

²⁹⁸See for more detail Tartu Administrative Court judgment in administrative case No 3-11-2982.

²⁹⁹ Data from the Estonian Education Information System (EHIS).

³⁰⁰The number of school-aged children has dropped by about 40% in the last 16 years.

- Define the tasks of the state and local authorities, as well as the funding, in ensuring preschool, basic and upper secondary school education in order to improve the quality of education, its availability and sufficient wage level of the teachers. In reorganising the school network, take into account the regional specificities arising from the small number of students.
- Develop the school system as a whole to ensure a more effective implementation of an inclusive education policy aimed at increasing tolerance (including training for teachers, adaptation of the necessary learning environment, support to expansion of programmes to prevent bullying (including in Russian-speaking schools)).
- Increase the volume of teaching human rights (including the rights of the child) social skills on different school levels and in the degree courses and in-service training for occupations dealing with children.
- Ensure in all educational institutions and boarding school facilities a position of a support specialist whose main job is to provide primary counselling in the institution (for students, teachers, parents) in planning and implementing psychosocial support (including with the aim to prevent bullying).

7.3 Leisure, recreation and cultural activities (Article 31)

131. As a positive trend, the participation of children and young people in recreational activities and the work of youth centres can be highlighted (2010:37%; 2014:47%)³⁰¹. Even though the availability of youth work has increasingly improved³⁰², regional disparities do exist as the organisation of recreational activities is within the competence of local authorities³⁰³: in 2014/2015 more than half of the 215 local authorities in Estonia do not have a single hobby school registered in the Estonian Education Information System (EHIS)³⁰⁴, 61 local authorities do not have open youth centres³⁰⁵. Participation in recreational activities is often hindered by the difficult economic situation of the parents³⁰⁶. The Estonian School Student Councils' Union is of the opinion that participation in one hobby group free of charge should be guaranteed to each student³⁰⁷.

7.3.2 Youth and project camps programme

132. The number of children attending camps has decreased in the recent years (2012:29 611; 2014:27 915), which is related to the decline in the overall number of children as well as to the economic situation of families. It is positive that the support of the Ministry of Education and Research to camps has increased year by year³⁰⁸ and the number of participation vouchers to children from disadvantaged families and young people living in social welfare institutions has increased (2012:2185 children; 2014:2377 children)³⁰⁹.

- Support participation of children in hobby education and recreational activities, camp programmes

³⁰¹In the school year 2014/2015, 56 848 general education school students attend a hobby school (i.e. 42% of all the students in daytime study of general education schools), in addition approximately 74 000 students (i.e. about 52%) participate in hobby groups in general education schools.

³⁰²By the school year 2014/2015, there will be 246 open youth centres and 591 hobby schools, the number of sports schools has increased

³⁰³Based on the index of capacity of local government units, local authorities which have a hobby school are considerably more capable. In comparison of the local authorities in 2012, the difference in the relative poverty of children was approximately six and a half times (Harju County versus border regions in the north-eastern and southern Estonia).

³⁰⁴As of 2014, 13% of all the young people aged 7–26 years live in these local authorities.

³⁰⁵See for more detail the 2014 annual analysis by the Ministry of Education and Research.

³⁰⁶In 22% of households in relative poverty with children under 14 years old in 2010, the lack of money was a factor hampering access of children to hobby education. 16% of parents in 2011 were able to ensure participation of their child in youth work with regard to all the child's wishes. Slightly less than one tenth of the parents were unable to support the participation of their child in activities for a fee. See for more detail the Estonian Social Survey.

³⁰⁷See for more detail the "Concept of social guarantees for students" [Õpilaste sotsiaalsete garantiide kontseptsioon] 2013

³⁰⁸In 2010, the project "A healthy and developing holiday for young people" [*Noorte tervistav ja arendav puhkus*] was supported with 733 194 euros and in 2014 with 871 248 euros.

³⁰⁹See for more detailhttp://www.entk.ee/laagridand aggregated annual reports of the projects.

and extended-day groups (with a focus on families with coping difficulties). Increase the scope and availability of youth work services and competencies of the staff.

8. SPECIAL CHILD PROTECTION MEASURES

8.1 Children in refugee status (Article 22)

133. Although in comparison to the rest of the European Union member states there are not many asylum seekers or refugees in Estonia, in the survey carried out in 2014³¹⁰ 16% of the respondents found the current number of refugees to be too high, wishing to see an even stricter policy. Estonian refugee organisations have indicated that the services and reception conditions offered to asylum seekers and refugees are inadequately organised (including a non-existent support system). The Granting International Protection to Aliens Act does not establish a process for ascertaining special needs of asylum seekers as required by the EU directive on reception conditions (2013/33/EU)³¹¹, and there is also no functioning system for ascertaining these needs³¹².

134. In 2014, no asylum applications were submitted by unaccompanied minors³¹³, according to the available information in 2014 there was one unaccompanied minor in Estonia who subsequently left the country. Since 2014, the partner for the Social Insurance Board³¹⁴ is SOS Children's Village Association of Estonia with whom an administrative contract has been concluded for the provision of the substitute home service to aliens who are unaccompanied minors³¹⁵. A local authority appoints a representative for the minor – usually the local authority's social worker who lacks more comprehensive knowledge about migration policy, asylum law, cultural specificities of the child, etc. **135.** Guardianship is one of the most important factors in protecting the child. Unfortunately, the call announced by the Police and Border Guard Board in 2014 for concluding a contract of representation for unaccompanied minors with a natural or legal person failed, and currently there is no network of representatives to represent aliens who are unaccompanied minors within the procedures carried out by the Police and Border Guard Board under the Granting International Protection to Aliens Act and the Obligation to Leave and Prohibition on Entry Act. The regulation of guardianship/representation in respect of unaccompanied minors is inadequate, in particular with regard to ensuring independence of representation³¹⁶.

136. Compulsory school attendance also applies to minors enjoying international protection during

³¹⁰Such a view is more frequent among 60-74-year-old people who are ethnic Estonians, live in rural areas, have a lower education and lower income. See for more detail the "Survey on the awareness and attitudes of the Estonian population with regard to refugee issues" [*Eesti elanike teadlikkus ja hoiakud pagulasküsimustes*] 2014.

³¹¹As of 1 September 2015, Estonia has not transposed the directive on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection(2013/32/EU), which deals with the procedural conditions, and the directive laying down standards or the reception of applicants for international protection (2013/33/EU), which deals with the reception conditions.

³¹²This is particularly important, for example, in case of torture or rape victims who might not themselves immediately reveal what has happened to them.

³¹³In 2009–2013, total nine unaccompanied minors applied for asylum in Estonia. Together with parents, 28 children applied for asylum in Estonia in the same period.

³¹⁴After detection/identification (on the border or inland) of an unaccompanied minor who is an alien, the Police and Border Guard Board will take the minor to a substitute home. The Social Insurance Board is notified of the child and at first opportunity will contact the substitute home of the SOS Children's Village, and the substitute home in turn will contact the local authority of its location and prepare the necessary documentation for referral of the child to receive the service.

³¹⁵The content of the substitute home service has been described in the Social Welfare Act. In addition to what is provided in the Act, unaccompanied minors who are aliens are ensured the essential translation and interpreting service and access to health care services.

³¹⁶On 28 April 2013, amendments to the Victim Support Act and other related Acts entered into effect, as a result of which it was possible the Police and Border Guard Board was given the right and possibility to conclude a contract (for the representation of unaccompanied minors) with a natural or legal person to ensure representation of unaccompanied minors during the proceedings under the Granting International Protection to Aliens Act and the Obligation to Leave and Prohibition on Entry Act, i.e. no independent representative through the court is appointed.

their stay in Estonia under § 75 of the Granting International Protection to Aliens Act. Similarly to the children of new immigrants, they are treated as children with special linguistic needs. As a rule, studying takes place in a regular class on the basis of an individual curriculum³¹⁷. So far less attention has been given to supporting opportunities for studying outside the compulsory education (e.g. in kindergarten, upper secondary school, vocational or higher educational institution).

- 137. Children who have been deprived of their liberty (see also point 9.2.4 of the report) should be ensured opportunities for leisure activities suitable for their age and ensured access to education. There are no provisions regulating practical leisure activities and access to education for aliens who are minors under detention and subject to expulsion. In practice, ensuring access to education for aliens who are minors subject to expulsion has proved to be complicated, in particular due to the language barrier and gaps in their previous education.
- 138. Minors should not be detained during any of the stages of applying for international protection. yet in 2012 in expulsion centres 318 total 17 minors who were citizens of third countries were detained³¹⁹. There are few provisions regulating the specificities of detaining minors and the current regulation does not provide enough support to practical detention of minors. Under the current regulation the same maximum deadline as provided under the general regulation also applies to
- **139.** In view of the absence of accessibility to organised regular legal assistance for asylum seekers, in the period from 2011 to June 2015 the Estonian Human Rights Centre provided legal assistance to asylum seekers within the project *Pagulaste õiguskliinik* [Legal clinic for refugees]³²⁰ (e.g. in the period January–June 2015 counselling was provided to 102 asylum seekers³²¹). Since July 2015, no possibility to receive such organised legal assistance exists for asylum seekers, although they can still apply for state legal aid (low awareness).
- Create special conditions for the accommodation of unaccompanied minors (create conditions for the detention of citizens of third countries who are minors in a separate establishment or create special conditions for accommodating minors in the expulsion centre).
- Supplement the current regulation with specific provisions concerning the detention of minors (i.e. as regards the organisation of detention, special conditions of detention, including the term of detention).
- Train the staff dealing with unaccompanied minors (including law enforcement authorities, interviewers, interpreters, social and youth workers, health care specialists, guardians, persons conducting the proceedings) with regard to issues concerning the protection of the rights of the child.
- Supplement the current regulation so as to ensure access of detained minors to education and leisure activities suitable for their age).
- Ascertain the services necessary for asylum seekers with special needs, including unaccompanied minors, and specify on the level of legislation access of asylum seekers to services free of charge.
- Change the current organisation of representation/guardianship of unaccompanied minors because under the current arrangement the independence of representation is not guaranteed, thus also compromising the conduct of proceedings in line with the interests of the minor.

8.3 Criminal liability and administration of justice over children (Article 40)

³¹⁷In the national curriculum it is recommended to teach these children also Estonian as second language, and in case of opportunity and wish also their mother tongue and, if possible, waive the teaching of the second foreign language.

³¹⁸The expulsion centre is a general detention establishment for aliens and it is not specialised to the detention of minors. Under the law, the expulsion centre is not obliged to ensure that it has the staff specifically trained to work with minors. In case of high occupancy of the expulsion centre, it lacks sufficient possibilities to separate minors from adults.

³¹⁹Persons who claimed to be minors although within the subsequent proceedings 14 of them turned out to be adults.

³²⁰ See for more detail: http://humanrights.ee/pagulased-2/projektid/pagulaste-oiguskliinik/

³²¹Out of 102 persons 5 decided not to apply for asylum after having received counselling, 11 were afforded international protection (7 were granted the refugee status and 4 subsidiary protection).

140. The number of offences committed by children has been on the decline since 2012³²². In 2014, 1342 offences committed by minors were registered (19% less in comparison to 2013 and 2.5 times less in comparison to 2006). However, offences among minors are in fact considerably more widespread than reflected in the crime statistics. According to the 2014 survey on the deviant behaviour of children, 12% of the children³²³had committed an offence during the past year³²⁴. In comparison with Estonian children, children with Russian as their mother tongue commit offences more frequently almost with regard to all the categories of offences included in the survey (except the sale and intermediation of drugs). Two criminal offences against life were registered in 2014, among them the incident of school shooting in Viljandi in which a teacher was shot, which was the first of its kind in Estonia.

141. This topic is covered in more detail in Chapter 9 of the report.

9. GENERAL STRATEGIC CHANGES IN CRIMINAL POLICY

142. Society has become increasingly aware of the importance of the topics of violence. Family violence, violence related to children and human trafficking have been set as priorities in the fight against crime³²⁵. It is positive that during the past five years a better overview of the spread and nature of violence has been obtained, although some shortcomings still persist³²⁶. A systemic change in preventing violence is needed³²⁷: there have been few long-term and evidence-based prevention programmes; there is little information and prevention activity aimed at the non-Estonian speaking population; healthcare and educational institutions have been insufficiently involved in the prevention of violence. There are not enough extrajudicial measures (including social and educational programmes) available for child offenders. Measures of restorative justice are also too rarely used in case of children.

143. Despite the training, specialists are not always able to recognise signs of violence, which hampers offering the necessary support to victims. Approximately 2/3 of the specialists (child protection and social workers, teachers, law enforcement workers, etc) have failed to notify about a child who may have experienced ill-treatment. The most frequent reason is uncertainty of a specialist as regards the severity of the problem (45%) or lack of knowledge about whom to notify (29%)³²⁸.

144. In 2011, non-profit associations³²⁹ raised the issue of the protection of the rights of the child in

³²⁴Over the period of eight years, there has been a decline in the proportion of children taking part in gang fights from 7% to 4% as well as children carrying cut-and-thrust weapons. While in 2006 10% of children replied that they had been carrying a weapon like object (knife, chain, baseball bat, etc), in 2014 the indicator had dropped to 6%.

³²⁵The strategy for the prevention of violence 2015–2020 includes violence between children, ill-treatment of children, family violence (intimate partner violence), sexual violence, human trafficking. Regular statistics available at http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/

³²⁶Inter alia, there no overview of the prevalence of sexual and other physical ill-treatment of children; there have been few studies on the need for special services to assist victims; there are not enough surveys to help assess the changes; statistics on victims of violence and offenders are patchy and are not easily accessible or comparable. There is insufficient information about the more precise characteristics of victims. There is also no systemic case-based overview of the more serious cases of violence.

³²⁷As a positive example, the joint programme for children and young people at risk implemented jointly by the Ministry of Education and Research, the Ministry of Social Affairs and the Ministry of Justice can be highlighted. The programme is funded from the Norwegian and European Economic Area support fund. In the framework of the programme, projects and horizontal activities for reducing risks to children and young people through education, youth work, child welfare and the legal system are implemented. See for more detail http://eeagrants.fin.ee/et/riskilapsed-ja-noored.

³²⁸ See Soo, K., Ilves, K. Strömpl, J. (2009). *Laste väärkohtlemise juhtumitest teavitamine ja võrgustikutöö*. [Notification of the cases of ill-treatment of children and networking]

³²⁹Based on the topics raised at roundtable discussions, in 2013 the Union for Child Welfare submitted to the Minister of Justice a proposal for analysing the situation with a view to ensuring the best interests of the child in cases of intimate partner violence (the letter of 8 May 2013 K-2/26).

³²²See in more detail "Criminality in Estonia" [Kuritegevus Eestis] 2014, the chapter on juvenile crime [Alaealiste kuritegevus].

³²³ Students in grades 7–9 were interviewed in the course of the survey.

cases of intimate partner violence, with a focus on the problem that a child as witness of violence between the parents cannot independently use the compensatory measures established under the Victim Support Act (e.g. psychological counselling, safe accommodation, assistance to the victim in communicating with different state and local government bodies, etc) and that treating as victim of a child who has witnessed violence depends on the preparation and skills of the particular person conducting the proceedings.

145. Currently treatment of child offenders often focuses too much on the offence itself and less attention is paid to the child's actual need for assistance. The current legal framework and the format of juvenile committees is not suitable for supporting children who have committed an unlawful act. Availability of specific and effective services to support children is not sufficiently guaranteed throughout Estonia.

9.1.1 Proceedings concerning juvenile crime

146. Significant progress with regard to procedural time-limits has been made, thus ensuring better protection of the rights of children participating in justice proceedings. However, children do not get enough support when participating in criminal³³⁰ or civil proceedings³³¹. Also, court proceedings which may intimidate children are not always adapted to the needs of children. Specific measures, for example prevention of direct confrontation of a child and the opposing party or witnesses in court, or ensuring that the child is informed and understands the proceedings, have not yet become a general custom. Also courtrooms are not child-friendly.

147. In order to ensure a child-friendly legal environment, the legal system needs modernisation (taking into account the interests of the child, finding out the child's opinion). Until now, little attention has been given to a supportive approach to victims in criminal proceedings³³² and to training the persons conducting the proceedings specifically with a view to this objective. There are considerably fewer judges than the available positions for judges³³³ and in the recent years the number of police officers has also been significantly cut, which in turn places a heavier burden on the specialists. Since 2014, only one of the four prefectures has a separate child protection service for handling all the offences related to children³³⁴. The other prefectures have a separate service only for handling serious offences related to children. Lesser offences related to minors are dealt with by regular police officers who do not all have the necessary special knowledge to conduct proceedings in respect of children.

9.1.1.1 Legal aid and the right of appeal of children

148. On 11 December 2012, the Supreme Court Constitutional Review Chamber issued a judgment³³⁵ by which it granted the request of Tartu County Court to declare § 407 of the Code of Criminal Procedure unconstitutional. Since 29 March 2015³³⁶ minors have the right to being heard and to

³³⁰In total, the criminal proceedings in 2012 concerned approximately 1500 and in 2013 approximately 1400 suspects who were minors.

³³¹, Child-friendly administration of justice – the opinions and experiences of specialists. Summary." [*Lapsesõbralik õiguse mõistmine – spetsialistide seisukohad ja kogemused. Kokkuvõte.*] (2015).

³³²For example, organisational shortcomings in interviewing children can be found, such as unclear role of the specialists involved in the interview, regional differences in practice, limited use of free and guided recollection in interviewing children. See for more detail the "Analysis of interviews with child victims in cases of violent crime" [Vägivallakuritegudes lapskannatanute ülekuulamise analüüs] (2014).

³³³As of summer 2015, 14 positions were permanently vacant.

³³⁴ In 2010, separate child protection divisions were created in all the prefectures of the Police and Border Guard Board, employing staff conducting the proceedings as well as operative staff who had received training on the rights of the child (including interviewing of sexually abused children), however today there is only one prefecture that has separate child protection devision.

³³⁵ Case No 3-4-1-20-12.

³³⁶ § 407 Code of Criminal Procedure. Contestation of grant of permission or refusal to grant permission. The juvenile committee, a minor or the legal representative of a minor may file an appeal against a ruling specified in § 406(3) of this Code pursuant to the procedure provided for in Chapter 15 of this Code.

protection³³⁷within the proceedings on deciding the authorisation for placement of a minor in a school for students with special educational needs.

149. It is positive that the Ministry of Justice is currently preparing a Draft Act to ensure the possibility of appointing a legal representative for minor victims under the non-repayable state legal aid arrangement. The necessity of specialisation of lawyers and supplementing of the state legal aid information system has been raised repeatedly in the course of free counselling provided within the project *Hea nõu lastega peredele* [Good advice to families with children]implemented by the Union for Child Welfare and the Estonian Bar Association³³⁸. During the counselling, the clients have described their previous negative experiences with incompetent representatives of children.

150. The domestic legislation does not establish that asylum seekers who are unaccompanied minor should be automatically given legal assistance³³⁹. In the case of an unaccompanied minor, even if the minor has been assigned guardianship (see Chapter 8 of the report), legal protection may prove to be insufficient³⁴⁰.

9.1.1.2 Influencing juvenile delinquents

151. Perpetrators of violence are mostly treated with the help of punitive measures. Although in the recent years there has been a decrease in the number of children in special schools (2005:143; 2014:46) and prisons (2005:90; 2014:33), the number of children in closed institutions is still too high. The National Audit Office has pointed out³⁴¹ that the state has not had success in dealing with problematic young people. Punitive measures (the prison and special school) are too expensive in case of minors, and at the same time ineffective – the rate of repeat offending is the highest among persons imprisoned as juveniles; in two years after release from prison 2/3 of juvenile prisoners committed a new offence ³⁴². The strategy for the prevention of violence 2015–2020 foresees, as one of the sub-objectives, that the ways of treating perpetrators of violence become more efficient and repeat offending by them declines ³⁴³, including support to children in community, e.g. through multidimensional family therapy³⁴⁴.

152. Estonia lacks alternative intervention measures alongside closed institutions for children with behavioural, mental and addiction problems; almost completely absent are family-based and multidimensional intervention measures offered in the community. Children or young people with a somatic disease, let alone young people with mental disorders, should not stay in the current conditions of closed institutions³⁴⁵. As a rule, these institutions currently lack the relevant conditions and specialists who could offer sufficient assistance (diagnostics, treatment and rehabilitation) on the spot³⁴⁶. The content, timing and quality of the assistance offered to children in closed institutions is

³³⁷I.e. the minor could not request review of the correctness of the County Court's decision by a higher instance court.

³³⁸In the framework of the project, from 2010 to autumn 2015 the lawyers participating in the project have provided counselling free of charge to a total of more than 1000 persons.

³³⁹Under the Directive 2013/33/EU Article 24 para 1 and Article 26 para 2, legal assistance to unaccompanied minors must be ensured if their application for asylum is rejected and it is in their best interests to appeal this decision.

³⁴⁰See for more detail the "Analysis of the access of asylum seekers to legal assistance" [*Varjupaigataotlejate õigusabile ligipääsuanalüüs*] (2014).

³⁴¹ The aim of the National Audit Office follow-up audit of special schools and juvenile committees (2010) was to assess whether the proposals made during the previous audits had been implemented and the work of special schools and juvenile committees become more productive.

³⁴² See for more detail "Repeat offending in Estonia" [Retsidiivsus Eestis] (2010).

³⁴³Currently there are not enough voluntary treatment and counselling opportunities for persons in need of timely and needs-based assistance to prevent a violent act. There are not enough counselling services for risk groups, e.g. minors with problems of sexual behaviour, persons committing situational family violence, persons with special needs and their next of kin.

³⁴⁴ Multidimensional Family Therapy (http://www.mdft.org/) was launched in 2015 under the Social Insurance Board when five supervisors began to work throughout Estonia, but unfortunately the activity is project-based.

³⁴⁵See for more detail "Study of the cognitive and personality traits and mental health, addictive behaviour and social background of children in closed institutions" (2014).

³⁴⁶As a rule, the adolescents currently staying in closed institutions have mental disorders, sometimes also undiagnosed

also negatively affected by insufficient coordination between different agencies and by the diffusion of responsibility.

153. In case of children with serious behavioural and addiction problems, there may be a need to assist the child regardless of his or her will and/or provide a service assisting the child. The Chancellor of Justice has repeatedly drawn the attention to the fact that the lack of grounds established in legislation has lead, in practice, to an unconstitutional situation persisting over the years where at least two child care institutions have restricted the freedom of movement of children without a legal basis³⁴⁷.

9.1.1.3 Juvenile committees

- **154.** For years, there has been a problem of inefficiency of the regulation under the Juvenile Sanctions Act, and also currently the law-making process needed for resolving the situation has again come to a halt due to the lack of cooperation between different agencies. Various surveys affirm that young people who have been before the juvenile committee felt that the committee did not touch upon the issues of real importance for them, it drew premature conclusions and did not ask for their opinion³⁴⁸. The current regulation of the Juvenile Sanctions Act and the format of juvenile committees does not support the implementation of the principle of restorative justice, the sanctions applied tend to be on a one-off basis and punitive. It is also problematic that before the child's problem reaches the committee too much time has passed from the commission of the offence³⁴⁹.
- Deepen the knowledge and skills of the persons conducting the proceedings, judges and other specialists (including lawyers) who work with children, by offering them in-service training on interviewing children (including interrogations), development psychology and the best interests of the child (including their assessment), and prepare topical guidance materials.
- Establish separate institution(s) for detaining minors in an environment which serves the rehabilitative aims and ensures the physical and mental well-being of the minors. As a rule, the current closed institutions are not suitable for children with serious mental disorders and serious somatic diseases or children with disabilities, and their placement in such institutions should be avoided.
- Develop the system for assisting ill-treated children in a way that the child victim can receive the necessary assistance prior to, during, as well as after the proceedings. To improve the skills for assessing the victims' needs for protection, the training programmes and study aids should be supplemented.
- Prepare the concept of the institution intended for young people with addiction problems, along with the necessary regulation, in cooperation between the Ministry of Education and Research, the Ministry of Justice and the Ministry of Social Affairs.
- Ensure timely and child-friendly assistance to child offenders by replacing the system of juvenile committees of a punitive nature with the child protection system focused on supporting the child's need for assistance.

disorders, and are in need of a thorough diagnosis with regard to accompanying disorders, complex treatment in line with their disorders as well as rehabilitation measures, which they currently receive insufficiently, if at all.

³⁴⁷Inspection visit to Tallinn Children's Safe House department at Nõmme teehttp://lasteombudsman.ee/et/kontrollkaik-tallinna-laste-turvakeskuse-nomme-tee-osakondand the inspection visit to Jõhvi Youth Treatment and Rehabilitation Centre http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_johvi_noorukite_ravi-ja_rehabilitatsioonikeskus_0.pdf

³⁴⁸See for more detail "Young people with behavioural problems and the application of sanctions imposed on them by the juvenile committees" [*Käitumisraskustega noored ja neile määratud mõjutusvahendite kohaldamine alaealiste komisjonides*].

³⁴⁹In 2014, the proportion of discussions lasting for more than 30 days has significantly decreased but still continues to be noticeable. See the "Overview of the speed of proceedings in juvenile committees in the first half of 2014" [*Alaealiste komisjonide menetluskiiruste ülevaade 2014. aasta I poolaastal*].

9.2 Deprivation of liberty (Article 37)

9.2.1 Alternatives to imprisonment

155. Schools for children in need of special educational measures lack the necessary individual approach to students (including sufficient consideration of their special needs). It is necessary to establish different levels of regime (including ensuring of safety) in the special schools³⁵⁰. The nature and accessibility of services offered to children differs significantly between different institutions, e.g. while Kaagvere Special School is fairly close to Tartu and the necessary specialists (e.g. psychiatrists, rehabilitation service) are available in Tartu, Tapa Special School must seek a psychiatrist in Tallinn or Viljandi and no rehabilitation service can be used in Tapa³⁵¹.

156. In the state report (page 112) it is said that *teaching and educating is integrated in the [special]* schools. Teaching is organised based on the special needs of the young person, and services of support specialists are offered (special educator, psychologist, and social educator). The schools also offer versatile hobby activities, intense leisure activities and creative therapies. In 2014, the position of psychologist at Tapa Special School was vacant and the school had no special pedagogy teacher. The selection of hobby groups is poor and does not proceed from the needs of the children. Kaagvere Special School needs a psychologist because the majority of the students have mental disorders and 2/3 of them also received treatment³⁵².

9.2.3 Young prisoner

157. In 2014, there were 33 minors in prison in Estonia³⁵³, of them 20 convicted prisoners and 13 remand prisoners. The number of prisoners who are minors has stayed on the same level for the last three years regardless of a considerable decline in the overall number of 14–18-year-old children in the population. The number of minors in prison is still too high.

158. After the acquisition of basic education ³⁵⁴ Viru Prison ³⁵⁵ also offers an opportunity for vocational training. However, in 2008 ³⁵⁶there were infringements concerning the right to education ³⁵⁷, as all the school-aged convicted and remand prisoners (1 month <) must have an opportunity to comply with the compulsory school attendance during their stay in the penal institution.

159. Both the CPT³⁵⁸ and the Chancellor of Justice (2008 and 2014³⁵⁹) have pointed out various violations and shortcomings in Viru Prison in connection with minors: in case of minors some incidents of solitary confinement exceeding 30 days were found (the maximum limit being 20 days); unreasonably limited opportunities to use the phone³⁶⁰; limited access to information³⁶¹; clothing not appropriate in view of the movement opportunities and the health condition; unreasonable periods for

դ

³⁵⁰See for more detail, the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Tapa Special School 2014.

³⁵¹Even when a rehabilitation plan for a young person at Tapa Special School has been prepared, the institution is unable to ensure the service because both the school and Tapa town lack the competence to provide it. The only locally available treatment is with pills.

³⁵²See for more detail "Study of the cognitive and personality traits and mental health, addictive behaviour and social background of children in closed institutions" (2014).

³⁵³Similarly to 2013, juvenile prisoners included 31 boys and 2 girls. By age distribution, there was one 14-year-old, 6 15-year-olds, 9 16-year-olds and 17 17-year-olds.

³⁵⁴ Under § 84(1) of the Imprisonment Act, young prisoners of up to 18 years of age are required to acquire basic education to the extent prescribed by law.

³⁵⁵ Viru Prison has a special department for convicted minors (aged 14–18) and young offenders (aged 18–21) which has been planned to hold all such prisoners in Estonia.

³⁵⁶See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Viru Prison, 2–3 December 2008.

³⁵⁷ § 37(1) (first sentence) of the Constitution establishes everyone's right to education.

³⁵⁸See the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CPT) report to the Estonian Government (2012). Available online: http://www.cpt.coe.int/documents/est/2014-01-inf-est.pdf ³⁵⁹See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to Viru Prison, 19–21 November 2014.

³⁶⁰Following the inspection visit in 2011, the Chancellor of Justice made a recommendation to Viru Prison to increase the weekly opportunities for the use of phone by minors and long-term remand prisoners or to extend the time of using the phone by them. During the Chancellor's 2014 visit, it was found that unfortunately the prison still applied the practice under which remand prisoners (including minors) could use the phone once a week for up to ten minutes.

³⁶¹See point 44 of the report.

minors to stay outdoors and the problem of sufficiency of the provided food and its diversity and appropriateness in view of the person's age³⁶²; the quality of healthcare services, in particular the situation of minors and young people with mental disorders³⁶³. The prison staff are of the opinion that Viru Prison has sufficient opportunities to provide the necessary services and no additional services need to be outsourced. However, for example, the prisoners usually do not get the rehabilitation service assigned to them.

9.2.4 Restriction of liberty in connection with entry into and leaving the country

160. This topic is covered additionally in Chapter 8 of the report. Currently, Estonia does not have an institution specially adapted for the detention of minors within the expulsion proceedings. The law does not establish the prohibition of detention of unaccompanied minors. In 2013, it was found that in the expulsion centre³⁶⁴ unaccompanied minors had been detained for a long time³⁶⁵. One of the minors had even been detained in the centre for more than six months³⁶⁶ although the person had all the necessary documents for return. Also in 2013³⁶⁷ there were problems found concerning the use of handcuffs³⁶⁸, detention of unaccompanied minors (including in connection with access to education, leisure time activities), availability of translation and interpreting and calculation of standard food portions. Since 2014, in practice, no unaccompanied minors are placed in the detention centre³⁶⁹, although on the legislative level the problem has not been resolved.

- Prepare the regulation to allow for an individual approach to students referred to a school for children in need of special educational measures due to behavioural problems, and take into account their special needs, as well as the establishment of different levels of regime in special schools.
- Integrate psychiatrists, psychologists, social pedagogues, teachers and rehabilitation service providers to work as a united team within the structure of closed institutions working with children.
- Reduce the number of children in closed institutions and ensure the necessary services and programmes for re-socialisation (both during and after the detention, including work with the family).
- Supplement the current regulation with specific provisions concerning the detention of unaccompanied minors (i.e. with regard to the organisation of detention, special conditions of detention, including time-limits).

9.4 Abuse of narcotic drugs (Article 33)

161. Abuse of narcotic drugs is a serious problem in Estonia. The availability of narcotic drugs for young people has somewhat declined³⁷⁰. However, the proportion of 15–16-years-olds having tried

³⁶²In its report the CPT noted: "the food provided to prisoners should be sufficient to ensure their well-being". The medical expert accompanying the Chancellor of Justice advisers on 19 November 2014 also noted that the term 'juvenile diet' was consistently used in the records of the medical department of the prison – upon further enquiry it was found that in practice this meant an additional piece of white or black bread.

³⁶³According to the expert, practically all the minors and young people in Viru Prison have been diagnosed with the attention deficit hyperactive disorder and they would need a clinical psychologist with the aim of rehabilitation, but no such service is available in Viru Prison.

³⁶⁴The expulsion centre is a structural unit of the Police and Border Guard Board under the area of government of the Ministry of Internal Affairs with the task of executing detention of persons subject to expulsion. In addition, asylum seekers who have submitted their asylum application during their stay in the expulsion centre are also detained there.

³⁶⁵Although upon an age expert assessment most of them were eventually found to be adults, as a rule in case of unaccompanied minors the underlying presumption should be that they are minors.

³⁶⁶16 years old upon placement in the centre, stayed in the centre from September 2012 to March 2013.

³⁶⁷See for more detail the Chancellor of Justice inspection visit to the expulsion centre of the Police and Border Guard Board, 2013.

³⁶⁸During the inspection on 12 March 2013 it was found that handcuffs had been used for escorting (allegedly) minors and young persons, e.g. when taking them for medical procedures, to the court or to the age assessment expert examination. ³⁶⁹I.e. when the person has been proved to be a minor or the Police and Border Guard Board have a reasoned suspicion that the person is an unaccompanied minor, detaining the person is refrained from, and at the first opportunity a child protection specialist is involved in the procedural steps and the person is referred to the substitute home service.

³⁷⁰A smaller number of young people in 2011 than in 2007 considered tranquillizers/opiates, ecstasy, amphetamine easily accessible.

an illegal drug is growing³⁷¹and poly-drug use begins at an earlier age. The high proportion of those trying cannabis (in 2002 12% of girls and 23% of boys among 15-year-olds had tried cannabis, in 2014 20% of girls and 29% of boys); half of those trying cannabis continued to use it³⁷². An important risk factor is accessibility of drugs (in 2011 32% of 15–16-year-old students considered it easy to get cannabis), and the entry into the market of ever new addictive substances (e.g. synthetic cannabis). In 2014, the number of drug-related offences rose, in particular the number of offences against minors: Penal Code § 185³⁷³ (2013:61; 2014:121) and § 187³⁷⁴ (2013:5; 2014:19). According to the survey on the deviant behaviour of children (2014), 3.1% of children had been engaged in the sale or intermediation of narcotic drugs in their life. It is positive that recently the state has started to pay more attention to raising the awareness among children about addiction disorders also in the internet environment.

-Prepare effective measures for the prevention of drug use among young people relying on international experience. Develop the necessary healthcare and social services to overcome addiction and ensure their availability (including funding of the services).

9.5 Sexual exploitation and sexual abuse (Article 34)

- **162.** The prevalence of sexual abuse of children in Estonia is high. A significant proportion of young people in closed institutions have been victims of sexual violence (e.g. according to the psychologists in Tallinn Children's Safe House more than half of the children staying there)³⁷⁵. Out of the 199 criminal offences against sexual self-determination registered in 2014, 142 had been committed against a victim who was a minor; the number of registered cases of rape (Penal Code § 141) was 147, of these 92 had been committed against minors³⁷⁶. The level of detection of sexual abuse of minors is low. Since 2013, special services through the victim support system are offered to victims of human trafficking and juvenile victims of sexual offences ³⁷⁷. However, the existence and accessibility of support services is insufficient ³⁷⁸.
- Ensure nationwide availability of good-quality and efficient services (i.e. integrated assistance) to support children, by increasing the funding from the state budget for implementing different measures of intervention.
- Revise the current regulation of rehabilitation services provided by the state, in order to expand the number of interventions corresponding to the particular need for assistance and to ensure their better availability.

9.6 The abduction, sale of or traffic in children (Article 35)

163. The number of human trafficking related offences has dropped in comparison to 2013³⁷⁹, but the number of such offences in cases of exploitation of minors is still high (2014:15; 2013:18). In 2014,

54

³⁷¹The indictor was 7%, in 1995, 15% in 1999, 24% in 2003, 30% in 2007 and 32% in 2011–ESPAD2011.

³⁷²At least half of the young people having tried cannabis had used it two or more times in their life–HBSC2014.

³⁷³ § 185 Penal Code. Providing of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances to persons of less than 18 years of age.

³⁷⁴ § 187Penal Code. Inducing minors to illegally consume narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances or other narcotic substances.

³⁷⁵See for more detail "Study of the cognitive and personality traits and mental health, addictive behaviour and social background of children in closed institutions" 2014.

³⁷⁶The youngest victims, whose abuse may have started several years ago, were 2 to 3 years old when the abuse started. In case of all the offences against sexual self-determination involving a minor victim, the average age of the victim was ten years. See for more detail "Criminality in Estonia" 2014.

³⁷⁷In 2011, the Union for Child Welfare opened the servicewww.vihjeliin.ee, which offers internet users the opportunity to notify about online environments containing materials concerning sexual exploitation of children. The Estonian hotline is a member of the INHOPE network of international hotlines. INHOPE currently unites 44 networks from 40 countries. ³⁷⁸The Ministry of Social Affairs wishes to implement in Estonia the Nordic system of so-called children's houses which has proved its effectiveness in different countries in providing integrated assistance to the child and in avoiding secondary victimisation.

³⁷⁹ 42 cases were registered in 2013 and 28 cases in 2014.

5 cases of human trafficking were registered (8 cases in 2013), 8 cases of pimping (13 in 2014), 15 cases of disposing minors to engage in prostitution (18 cases in 2013)³⁸⁰, 5 cases of buying sex from minors³⁸¹. Involvement in prostitution often begins as a minor³⁸² and the majority uses for this purpose the environment that the law enforcement authorities cannot thoroughly control³⁸³. The prohibition of buying sex from a minor³⁸⁴ applies, but in practice the detection of the offences is complicated. The number of victims of human trafficking is higher than the number of those receiving assistance, victims are not often noticed.

- Criminalise the buying of sexual services in Estonia. Reduce the number of minors involved in and enticed to prostitution, first and foremost by reducing the demand for the use of such a service.
- Increase the awareness of persons conducting the proceedings as well as other specialists about the issues of recognising human trafficking related offences.
- Take measures to prevent involvement of minors in the prostitution business.

³⁸⁰According to the HEUNI survey, human trafficking in Estonia also exists for purposes of work-related exploitation; people have experienced it but the cases of forced labour are not yet reflected in crime statistics. By giving more attention to work-related exploitation, it is possible to prevent, for example, persons going to work abroad from falling victim to human trafficking.

³⁸¹In one of the cases, a minor staying in a children's home repeatedly performed acts of sexual nature for a man she knew. In another case, a 16-year-old girl repeatedly had a sexual intercourse with an adult man for monetary compensation.

³⁸²According to the survey organised by the Estonian Institute for Open Society Research in 2006 – "Prostitution in Estonia: an overview of the situation of women involved in prostitution" [*Prostitutsioon Eestis: Ülevaade prostitutsiooni kaasatud naiste olukorrast*] approximately 50% of women became involved in prostitution as minors. Among the 600 women interviewed by the non-profit association *Eluliin* [Lifeline] in 2010–2011 the number was even higher (70 %).

³⁸³For example, through the online environment www.kodutud.com and *Noorte Hääl* minors were offered accommodation

³⁸³For example, through the online environment www.kodutud.com and *Noorte Hääl* minors were offered accommodation free of charge in return for acts of sexual nature; in one case two girls (aged 13 and 15) were each offered 40 euros.

³⁸⁴ § 145¹ of the Penal Code ("Buying sex from minors") entered into force on 13 December 2013.

9.7 Children belonging to ethnic minority or who are indigenous (Article 30) 9.7.1 Priorities of the organisation of education of students belonging to an ethnic minority

- **164.** Educational equality (including between ethnic groups) in Estonia is facilitated by widespread participation of children in pre-school educational activities and by the fact that the division of education into an academic versus vocational branch takes place only in the later stage. The application of the language immersion methodology has increased the integration of Russian-speaking young people in Estonian society³⁸⁵. However, the Russian-speaking schools do not ensure good proficiency in Estonian for all the students³⁸⁶ and by the end of the basic school the basic skills of learners are weaker than in the Estonian-speaking schools.
- 165. Transfer of the upper secondary school level of the Russian-speaking schools to the teaching of subjects in Estonian took place in 2007–2012³⁸⁷ (60% of the subjects are taught in Estonian and 40% in Russian), but in practice this often tends to be rather a formal activity³⁸⁸. The reforms of the language of instruction should have started rather on the primary level of the system, i.e. child care institutions³⁸⁹. There is a need for study aids specifically intended for studying in second language³⁹⁰, less than half of the language teachers are mother tongue speakers of the language they teach³⁹¹. School managers generally have a supportive attitude to transfer to the instruction in Estonian and to language teaching³⁹², while on the other hand the attitude of students and parents tends to be negative³⁹³, both students³⁹⁴and teachers are critical towards the timeline and the obligatory nature of the transfer of the upper secondary school level to instruction in Estonian³⁹⁵.
- Prepare and ensure basic subject related and language training and study materials (integrated with the standardised uniform training curriculum) for all the subject teachers teaching in Estonian. Develop the substance and scope of further training for Estonian language teachers, prepare study aids for Estonian as second language.
- Develop subject teaching in Estonian in basic schools and expand the language immersion programme, taking into account the recommendations contained in the "Estonian language development plan 2011–2017".
- Organise good-quality Estonian language teaching in pre-school child care institutions by using methods appropriate in view of the learner's age, and support the study of non-Estonian speaking children in Estonian kindergartens.
- In the new national integration plan, allocate resources to provide different forms of communication

³⁸⁶The proportion of basic school leavers of Russian-speaking schools who have acquired the Estonian language proficiency on level B1 (63.2%) has somewhat increased in 2014, but the target for 2020 is 90%.

³⁸⁸The objectives and criteria for acquiring Estonian are not sufficiently specific or clear for the schools.

³⁸⁵See for more detail the "Estonian lifelong education strategy 2020".

³⁸⁷According to the data from the Estonian Education Information System (EHIS), in 57 upper secondary schools 60% of the subjects were taught in Estonian and 40% in Russian in 2013/2014.

³⁸⁹The mutual social integration of the language-based instruction streams into a unified educational system promoting common democratic values, however, was neglected. See for more detail the Estonian Human Development Report 2014/2015.

³⁹⁰44% of subject teachers are not satisfied with the current textbooks, 60% of the students found that the textbooks were not interesting (2013).

³⁹¹A 2013 survey by Tallinn University and the Institute of the Estonian Language and Culture, in which only 39% of the respondent teachers marked Estonian as their mother tongue.

³⁹²See for more detail "Bilingual instruction in Russian-speaking schools" [*Kakskeelne õpe vene õppekeelega koolis*] (2013).

³⁹³Students have identified the following problems: increased workload, Estonian language proficiency of the teachers, varying language proficiency of the students.

³⁹⁴Also the upper secondary school students participating in the 2013 survey of social groups in the field of integration felt rather pessimistic about the equality of opportunities of ethnic groups. By contrast to the objectives of the reform, they saw the transfer to the instruction in Estonian as increasing the inequality of opportunities and limiting their competitiveness.

³⁹⁵Teachers and students are not satisfied with the current study materials in Estonian which have been written for students with Estonian as their mother tongue.

opportunities in the Estonian-speaking environment for students of Russian-speaking schools (student exchange, language camps, hobby activities, etc).

ANNEX 1: LIST OF KEY RECOMMENDATIONS: 1. GENERAL MEASURES OF IMPLEMENTATION (Articles 4, 42 and 44 para 6)

- Make the principle of hearing of the child by courts compulsory (including establishing the obligation of being heard in person), except when this is not in the best interests of the child, and remove the age limit under § 552¹(1) of the Code of Civil Procedure.
- Enhance the knowledge about the CRC among judges and other specialists by offering them training on the rights of the child (including hearing of children) and development psychology. Prepare practical guidelines on how to carry out a hearing of a child for specialists who come in contact with children.
- Submit reports on implementing the ratified conventions in time and involve interest groups in the initial stage of drawing up the reports.
- Establish a cross-sectoral cooperation format for coordination of specifically targeted and interlinked actions.
- Establish a national minimum list of local-level social services and quality standards, as well as improve the relevant supervision.
- More actively raise awareness of society about the Ombudsman for Children as the institution supervising the rights of the child, and explain in a child-friendly manner in relevant channels (including among the Russian-speaking population) the possibility for children to exercise their right of complaint.
- Revise the principles for data collection (including harmonisation of definitions and classifiers in different information systems), improve integration between the databases. Make inputting of data concerning child protection compulsory in one database.
- Prepare indicators for monitoring the implementation of the rights of the child, so that the
 indicators concerning child welfare are targeted and variations in them can be observed. For
 promoting the rights of the child, annual publication of a compilation including indicators of
 child welfare is necessary.
- Harmonise the funding of CSOs (including revising the principles for grants given by the Gambling Tax Council) and ensure support to assessing the impact of the activities (including dissemination of the assessment tools and funding of the assessment), and funding of the evidence-based programmes.
- Support and develop consistently the child protection capacity of local authorities (e.g. further trainings, supervision), including promoting cooperation between the local authorities. In order to ensure the functioning of organisational changes, funding of child protection should be stable and targeted both on the national and local level.
- Allocate more targeted resources to local authorities for hiring more child protection workers as an increase of the number of child protection workers is a precondition ensuring children's rights.
- Increase professionalism (qualifications, competence) of the parties in the area of child protection and the quality of intervention activities. The development of the competencies should be systematic, in cooperation with universities and other research institutions.
- Better inform society about the rights of the child, including introducing the CRC to both adults and children (including in Russian), using channels aimed at different target groups. Carry out regular campaigns covering the whole of Estonia to introduce and explain the rights of the child.
- Carry out information activities concerning the rights of the child in cooperation with non-profit associations, and support preparation of information materials introducing the CRC (both in Estonian and Russian), including in child-friendly versions (both as interactive and printed material).
- Increase the scope of human rights education on different school levels and in the in-service

- training of occupations dealing with children. Include in teacher training (including kindergarten teachers) topics on promoting the rights of the child and participation of children.
- Pay more attention to the development of the child and legal training at the universities and applied higher educational institutions within the curricula for child protection and social workers and within in-service training.

2. DEFINITION OF THE CHILD (Article 1)

- Harmonise the practice of appointing a representative to children in family matters concerning children.
- Improve measures to make alcohol, tobacco and drugs inaccessible to minors, including prevention of sale/giving of alcohol to minors: increasing the probability for violators of the prohibition being caught and toughening of consequences in case of violation. Restrict alcohol advertising in general.

3. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

- Integrate gender issues to teacher training and implement the topical in-service training. Establish a learning environment and prepare study materials which take into account the needs of both genders.
- Expand the scope of protection of the Equal Treatment Act.
- Create equal opportunities at the labour market, support reconciliation of work and family life, combat poverty among women, and reduce the gender pay gap.
- Draw up the implementing acts for the Registered Partnership Act.
- Introduce provisions in the Penal Code to make a motive of hatred (including based on sexual orientation and gender identity) an aggravating circumstance for the crime regardless of whether it resulted in a direct threat to a person's life, health or property. Implement measures to effectively combat incitement to hatred.
- Organise information campaigns to prevent negative racist attitudes in society and combat them. Increase the proportion of human rights in the curricula of different levels of education.
- Inform society about the right to have recourse to the Chancellor of Justice for conducting conciliation proceedings if a person finds that a natural or a legal person in private law has discriminated them on grounds of an attribute of discrimination established by law.
- Improve measures aimed at suicide prevention (including for the prevention of self-injuries) and assign a responsible state agency.
- Empower specialists working with children to improve their capability to recognise mental problems of children.
- Ensure involvement of children and young people in decision-making processes on different levels by paying more attention to involvement of socially excluded children and children with fewer opportunities.
- Train specialists dealing with children and young people with regard to the right of participation of children and the aspect of the best interests of the child. Prepare supporting guidance materials and intensify information activities.
- Ensure sustainable funding for different forms of participation of children and young people, including by paying particular attention to vulnerable target groups.

4. CIVIL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS

- Supplement the Citizenship Act to take into account the situation of 16- to 18-year-old children and children born to stateless Estonian residents outside Estonia.
- Accede to the 1954 Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons and the 1961 Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness in order to protect all stateless persons in Estonia.
- Ensure that the local authorities and providers of the substitute home service proceed from the preservation of the existing family connections (e.g. children from the same biological family should be placed under substitute care together, except if this is contrary to the interests of the

child).

- Ensure that minors in closed institutions have access to the information to the extent proceeding from the specific nature of the institution and in line with the fundamental rights of the child (including the right to education).
- Organise communication of children in closed institutions with their parents and next of kin in a way that the right of children to the confidentiality of their messages and to privacy is not violated
- Inform and communicate about the changes arising from the new Child Protection Act (including the prohibition of physical punishment of children) via different media channels (including in Russian). In the following years, also train specialists to ensure effective implementation of the new Child Protection Act.
- Develop services on the national and local government level to offer support to families for rearing children without violence (by offering professional assistance on rearing children to those who need it and increasing the availability of information on effective, violence-free rearing methods).

5. FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND ALTERNATIVE CARE

- Supplement the social education curricula to raise awareness of young people about the rights and duties involved in marriage and/or becoming a parent.
- Raise the awareness of parents and specialists (teachers, school psychologists, social pedagogues, youth workers, juvenile police officers) about parental duties and the possibilities to receive assistance (including when the parents go to work abroad).
- Organise training for specialists who deal with children on issues of hearing of children and recognising violence; and training courses to explain the Family Law Act to child protection workers.
- Establish an effective regulation for enforcement of judicial decisions concerning custody of parents based on good practices identified in other countries.
- Bring the enforcement procedure for ensuring access to the child under § 179 of the Code of Enforcement Procedure into conformity with the Constitution.
- Prepare measures and define the duties of the state and local authorities along with the respective financing model to improve the availability of services established by law (including for increasing the number of child protection workers) and to improve cooperation.
- Offer necessary services to families (including by ensuring regional availability of services
 with the support of the nationally coordinated system of counselling and service centres) and
 benefits which help families to cope independently, and avoid separation of children from
 families.
- Improve supervision in local authorities to ascertain and prevent situations hampering the development of children, including providing guidelines and training courses to local authorities, and ensuring resources for implementing those activities (including for collecting the relevant statistics).
- Accede to the Council of Europe Convention on Contact concerning Children.
- Regulate clearly the process of applying for family reunification by defining the state's participation in the process.
- Bring the Aliens Act into conformity with § 26 and § 27 of the Constitution and provide for a legal basis to apply for a residence permit if a person's minor child is living in Estonia.
- Improve availability of the family conciliation service (as a nationally funded service) and raise awareness about the existence of such a service. Increase availability of free legal assistance (including in Russian).
- Facilitate the participation of the parent living separately in the maintenance of the child and improve the support aimed at single parent families in a situation where the other parent does not comply with the maintenance obligation.

- Take measures for reducing the need and demand for substitute care, and transferring to the family-centred approach of substitute care and child protection work (including conscious work with a child's parent(s)/family before and after the child's separation from the family and placement in substitute care.
- Ensure collection of case-based data, the precondition for which is uniform electronic handling of the cases concerning children separated from the family, their families and placement. Allocate sufficient resources for the development of STAR and make its use compulsory for child protection workers.
- Set specific objectives for deinstitutionalisation of substitute care and prepare solutions to support and promote the placement of separated children in family-based forms of substitute care (foster family or placement under care, adoption). Thereby exclude placement of children under three years old in institutional care, except when this is the only possible solution in view of the needs of the child.
- Organise the regulatory framework concerning shelter and safe house services (the objective
 of the services, their substance, target group, requirements, etc) and the bases for the collection
 of departmental statistics.
- Establish a uniform electronically administered nationwide overview of the persons applying to be caregivers or adoptive parents and of their background (including reasons why they were found to be unsuitable), establish a procedure for the collection and use of legally required data.
- Ensure support for children with specific needs and the development of specialised services for them. In developing the services, take into account more than previously the special needs of the target group for the substitute home service (including children and young people having a severe or profound disability or psychosocial special needs).
- Establish the description and standard for the substitute home service in order to be able to assess the substantive quality of the service. Draw up a cost-based financing model of the substitute home service based on the substance and objectives of the service and the requirements established for the service. Use this as a basis in the funding of the service from the state budget. Continue the development of the family-based substitute home service in addition to reorganising the physical environment of the provision of the service and also in terms of substance and organisation (including the working time organisation of the staff). Ensure relevant in-service training for specialists working with children in substitute care(including children with disability).
- Ensure support and follow-up care (including legal regulation) for young people in transferring to independent life from substitute home service.
- Prepare solutions for improving the work of county governments and/or alternatives for institutional reorganisation so as to ensure that the preparation of adoption and data collection are based on uniform grounds as much possible.
- Establish specific requirements for preparing adoptive parents (including their training) and ensure the necessary conditions and resources for implementing them. Ensure consistent provision of services prior to and after the adoption as well as availability of the services to those who wish to become or have already become adoptive parents.
- Regulate more clearly the process of international adoption along with the tasks and responsibility of the different parties and the establishment of the principles for data collection and preservation.
- Draw up methodological assessment guidelines for local authorities to support their cooperation with families and help to plan the process of family reunification.

6. PROTECTION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL WELFARE

• Ensure on the state level services for children with a severe or profound disability based on the needs of the child and the family.

- Improve access of children with disabilities (as well as families) to public services (including education and social welfare services). Increase general awareness about the available services (including in Russian).
- Take diverse measures to prevent exclusion of children with an intellectual disability (including raise the awareness of society, train specialists working with children). Amend the Equal Protection Act to provide a clear basis for protecting people against discrimination based on disability also in the social and education sector and in the provision of services.
- Ensure necessary support services for children with disabilities in educational institutions (including hiring mental health nurses at schools) as well as availability of study aids, and revise teacher raining respectively.
- Ensure quality of treatment data concerning children, the movement of the data into the healthcare information system and access of the specialists dealing with children to the data.
- Establish a legislative obligation for families to undergo primary level health screening to
 ensure early noticing and relevant response to problems (including mental health problems).
 Ensure assistance to risk groups which, as a result of the screening, are found to be in need of
 most attention and assistance.
- Increase awareness of parents about the necessity of immunisation, dental treatment and other health promotion. Offer to breast-feeding mothers counselling based on contemporary knowledge.
- Prepare and implement sexual education training programmes for vulnerable groups (e.g. children with disabilities, children in substitute homes).
- Prepare a strategy for the promotion and improvement of sexual health which includes prevention of violence against women, including intimate partner violence.
- More effectively reduce prevalence of smoking among minors.
- Prepare a strategy for the prevention of obesity among children, and integrate the topic in the health education programme in kindergartens and schools.
- Establish uniform mental health policy on the national level, assign a coordinator of the field along with the specific responsibilities. Organise clearly defined state funding (including coverage of specialised medical care and local level services), increase prevention, by channelling most of the primary and second-level intervention funding to the child's daily environment.
- Increase the mental health component in all the in-service training programmes for primary level specialists (including kindergarten teachers, school teachers, family nurses and general practitioners).
- More prevention work by the primary level treatment network (general practitioners and family nurses) for raising awareness of the parents about the causes of accidents. Increase the treatment volumes of juvenile drug addicts.
- Harmonise the system of family benefits, increase its flexibility for improving the opportunities for reconciliation of work and family life of parents. Improve the system of support for single parent families.
- Establish indexation of the subsistence benefit and link the subsistence level to the minimum means of subsistence and to the consumer price index.
- Implement effectively the measures under the Youth Guarantee (preventive activities, the first job measure).
- Raise the minimum tax exempt income in order to reduce the poverty risk of low-income families.
- Maintain the universal system of child benefits, targeting the benefits to families in a higher risk of poverty. Establish indexation of the child benefit in line with the consumer price index and the dynamics of tax revenues.
- Reduce inflexibility of the vacation and compensation schemes to increase possibilities for

- reconciliation of work and family life and improve the freedom of choice.
- Increase availability of pre-school education and childcare, thereby promoting the participation of the least well-off families in pre-school education. Establish a uniform system of pre-school education and childcare which supports quality and availability, belongs in the area of administration of one ministry, corresponds to uniform quality requirements and is regulated within one law; revise personnel training.

7. EDUCATION, LEISURE AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES (Articles 28, 29 and 31)

- Specify funding of pre-school education, the responsibility of local authorities and the creation
 of flexible forms of pre-school education and childcare based on the needs of children and
 families.
- Develop teacher education (including paying more attention to alternative teaching strategies based on the individual abilities of students), study aids (including digital), early language learning of students and a system for early recognition and support of special needs of children.
- Prepare measures for the organisation of studies with the aim to increase efficiency of studying and reduce dropping out. Ensure the availability and quality of necessary support services for students, regardless of the child's place of residence and existence of a special educational need, and develop the system for supporting students.
- Give schools the right to shape their ways to implement national curriculum and evaluation system
- Involve more frequently SEN students in their local school, ensure funding for the adaptation of the learning environment to suit their needs.
- Ensure miscellaneous support services in boarding school facilities, raise the competence of specialists. Analyse the reasons why students stay at these facilities in order to avoid that referral to a boarding school facility would become a substitute for dealing with the actual need of assistance of the family on the local level.
- Define the tasks of the state and local authorities, as well as the funding, in ensuring preschool, basic and upper secondary school education in order to improve the quality of education, its availability and sufficient wage level of the teachers. In reorganising the school network, take into account the regional specificities arising from the small number of students.
- Develop the school system as a whole to ensure a more effective implementation of an inclusive education policy aimed at increasing tolerance (including training for teachers, adaptation of the necessary learning environment, support to expansion of programmes to prevent bullying (including in Russian-speaking schools)).
- Increase the volume of teaching human rights (including the rights of the child) social skills on different school levels and in the degree courses and in-service training for occupations dealing with children.
- Ensure in all educational institutions and boarding school facilities a position of a support specialist whose main job is to provide primary counselling in the institution (for students, teachers, parents) in planning and implementing psychosocial support (including with the aim to prevent bullying).
- Support participation of children in hobby education and recreational activities, camp programmes and extended-day groups (with a focus on families with coping difficulties). Increase the scope and availability of youth work services and competencies of the staff.

8. SPECIAL CHILD PROTECTION MEASURES

- Create special conditions for the accommodation of unaccompanied minors (create conditions for the detention of citizens of third countries who are minors in a separate establishment or create special conditions for accommodating minors in the expulsion centre).
- Supplement the current regulation with specific provisions concerning the detention of minors (i.e. as regards the organisation of detention, special conditions of detention, including the term of detention).

- Train the staff dealing with unaccompanied minors (including law enforcement authorities, interviewers, interpreters, social and youth workers, health care specialists, guardians, persons conducting the proceedings) with regard to issues concerning the protection of the rights of the child.
- Supplement the current regulation so as to ensure access of detained minors to education and leisure activities suitable for their age).
- Ascertain the services necessary for asylum seekers with special needs, including unaccompanied minors, and specify on the level of legislation access of asylum seekers to services free of charge.
- Change the current organisation of representation/guardianship of unaccompanied minors because under the current arrangement the independence of representation is not guaranteed, thus also compromising the conduct of proceedings in line with the interests of the minor.

9. GENERAL STRATEGIC CHANGES IN CRIMINAL POLICY

- Deepen the knowledge and skills of the persons conducting the proceedings, judges and other specialists (including lawyers) who work with children, by offering them in-service training on interviewing children (including interrogations), development psychology and the best interests of the child (including their assessment), and prepare topical guidance materials.
- Establish separate institution(s) for detaining minors in an environment which serves the rehabilitative aims and ensures the physical and mental well-being of the minors. As a rule, the current closed institutions are not suitable for children with serious mental disorders and serious somatic diseases or children with disabilities, and their placement in such institutions should be avoided.
- Develop the system for assisting ill-treated children in a way that the child victim can receive the necessary assistance prior to, during, as well as after the proceedings. To improve the skills for assessing the victims' needs for protection, the training programmes and study aids should be supplemented.
- Prepare the concept of the institution intended for young people with addiction problems, along with the necessary regulation, in cooperation between the Ministry of Education and Research, the Ministry of Justice and the Ministry of Social Affairs.
- Ensure timely and child-friendly assistance to child offenders by replacing the system of juvenile committees of a punitive nature with the child protection system focused on supporting the child's need for assistance.
- Prepare the regulation to allow for an individual approach to students referred to a school for children in need of special educational measures due to behavioural problems, and take into account their special needs, as well as the establishment of different levels of regime in special schools
- Integrate psychiatrists, psychologists, social pedagogues, teachers and rehabilitation service providers to work as a united team within the structure of closed institutions working with children
- Reduce the number of children in closed institutions and ensure the necessary services and programmes for re-socialisation (both during and after the detention, including work with the family).
- Supplement the current regulation with specific provisions concerning the detention of unaccompanied minors (i.e. with regard to the organisation of detention, special conditions of detention, including time-limits).
- Prepare effective measures for the prevention of drug use among young people relying on international experience. Develop the necessary healthcare and social services to overcome addiction and ensure their availability (including funding of the services).
- Ensure nationwide availability of good-quality and efficient services (i.e. integrated assistance) to support children, by increasing the funding from the state budget for implementing different

- measures of intervention.
- Revise the current regulation of rehabilitation services provided by the state, in order to expand the number of interventions corresponding to the particular need for assistance and to ensure their better availability.
- Criminalise the buying of sexual services in Estonia. Reduce the number of minors involved in and enticed to prostitution, first and foremost by reducing the demand for the use of such a service.
- Increase the awareness of persons conducting the proceedings as well as other specialists about the issues of recognising human trafficking related offences.
- Take measures to prevent involvement of minors in the prostitution business.
- Prepare and ensure basic subject related and language training and study materials (integrated
 with the standardised uniform training curriculum) for all the subject teachers teaching in
 Estonian. Develop the substance and scope of further training for Estonian language teachers,
 prepare study aids for Estonian as second language.
- Develop subject teaching in Estonian in basic schools and expand the language immersion programme, taking into account the recommendations contained in the "Estonian language development plan 2011–2017".
- Organise good-quality Estonian language teaching in pre-school child care institutions by using methods appropriate in view of the learner's age, and support the study of non-Estonian speaking children in Estonian kindergartens.
- In the new national integration plan, allocate resources to provide different forms of communication opportunities in the Estonian-speaking environment for students of Russian-speaking schools (student exchange, language camps, hobby activities, etc).

ANNEX 2: REFERENCE LIST:

V, lk 390-399

Cluster 1

- Aru, A. (2013) Eesti lastekaitsesüsteem ja selle kitsaskohad. Laste ja perede arengukava seminari ettekanded
- Eesti Statistikaamet (2013). Laste heaolu. Statistikaameti kogumik. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.stat.ee/65395
- Eesti Vabariigi kolmas ja neljas perioodiline aruanne ÜRO Lapse Õiguste Konventsiooni täitmise kohta (2014). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://vm.ee/sites/default/files/elfinder/article_files/aruanne_est.pdf
- Eesti Vabariigi põhiseadus (1992). RT 1992, 26, 349. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/633949
- Espenberg, K., Soo, K., Beilmann, M., Linno, M., Vahaste, S., Göttig, T., Uusen-Nacke, T. (2013). Vanema hooldusõiguse uuring. Tartu Ülikooli sotsiaalteaduslike rakendusuuringute keskus RAKE. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 https://www.riigikantselei.ee/valitsus/valitsus/Vanema%20hooldus%C3%B5iguse%20m%C3%A4%C3%A4ramise%20uuring_1%C3%B5ppraport.pdf
- Heidmets, M. (2013). Eesti inimarengu aruanne 2012-2013. Eesti maailmas. Kokkuvõte. Eesti Koostöö Kogu. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.kogu.ee/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/EIA20122013.pdf
- Iivonen, E. (2013). Indikaattoritiedon hyödyntäminen lasten oikeuksien toteutumisen seurannanassa. Lapsioikeus murroksessa. Lk. 303-347
- Karu, M., Turk, P., Biin, H., Suvi, H. (2012). Lapse õiguste ja vanemluse monitooring.
 Laste ja täiskasvanute küsitluse kokkuvõte. Poliitikauuringute Keskus Praxis. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://lasteombudsman.ee/sites/default/files/lapse_oiguste_ja_vanemluse_monitooringu_kok
- <u>kuvote.pdf</u>
 Kerstna-Vaks, K. (2011). Hagita menetluse üldised küsimused. Riigikohtu praktika. Juridica
- KPMG Baltics OÜ (2011). Kliendikeskne esmatasandi juhtumitöö ning juhtumikorraldus sotsiaalkaitse tervikliku koostoime tagamisel. Lõppraport. Sotsiaalministeerium. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Ministeerium_kontaktid/Uuringu_ja_analuusid/Sotsiaalvaldkond/kpmg_lopparuanne_5.pdf
- Laste ja noorte valdkondadeülese tugisüsteemi väljaarendamise lähtealused (2014). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Riskilaste_programm/tugisusteemi_lahtealused_tervikodikument.pdf
- Laste ja perede osakonna põhimäärus (2010). RTL 2010, 10, 184. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13283218
- Laste kaasamist relvakonfliktidesse käsitleva lapse õiguste konventsiooni fakultatiivprotokolli ratifitseerimise seadus (2013). RT II, 08.01.2014, 1. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/208012014001

- Laugus, R. (2012). Lapse ärakuulamine perekonnavaidlustes. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Eraõiguse Instituut. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/26647/laugus_rutt.pdf?sequence=1
- Liiv, E. (2006). Lapse ärakuulamine tsiviilkohtumenetluses. Juridica IV, lk 257-26
- Lillsaar, M. (2013). Ühise hooldusõiguse lõpetamine ja hooldusõiguse üleandmine. Kohtupraktika analüüs. Riigikohus, õigusteabe osakond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.riigikohus.ee/vfs/1579/Hooldusoiguse_lopetamine_ja_yleandmine_analyys_M. Lillsaar.pdf
- MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit (2013). Laste osaluse toetamine ja kaasamine otsustusprotsessides.
 MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Uuring-"Laste-osaluse-toetamine-ja-kaasamine-otsustusprotsessides".pdf
- MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit (2013). Uuringu "Lapse heaolu hindamine" kokkuvõte. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/Uuring-Lapse-heaolu-hindamine.pdf
- MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit (2014). Laste ja noorte osalus ja kaasamine koolis. Kokkuvõte uuringust. MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit. Arvutivõrgus leitav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Laste-ja-noorte-osalus-ja-kaasamine-koolis.pdf
- Nauts, K. (2012). Lapse ärakuulamine tsiviilkohtumenetluses vanematevahelistes hooldusõiguse vaidlustes. Bakalaureuse töö. Tartu Ülikool, õigusteaduste instituut.
- Praxis (2011). Eesti sotsiaalkaitse süsteemi korralduse efektiivsuse analüüs. Lõppraport.
 Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.praxis.ee/fileadmin/tarmo/Projektid/Tervishoid/Analyys_loppraport_v1_3_Praxis_01.pdf
- Reinomägi, A., Sinisaar, H., Toros, K., Laes, T-L., Krusell, S., Kutsar, D., Ilves, K., Abel-Ollo, K. (2014). Lapse heaolu mõõtmise käsitlus. Eesti Statistika. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 <u>file:///C:/Users/K%C3%A4tlin/Desktop/Lapse%20heaolu%20m%C3%B5%C3%B5tmise%20k%C3%A4sitlus.pdf</u>
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2012). Avalike teenuste pakkumise eeldused väikestes ja keskustest eemal asuvates omavalitsustes. Arvutvõrgus kättesaadav http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/206/Audit/2210/OtherArea/1/language/etEE/Default.aspx
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2013). Laste hoolekande korraldus valdades ja linnades. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/168/amid/557/ItemId/664/language/et-EE/Default.aspx
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2013). Laste hoolekande korraldus valdades ja linnades. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/168/amid/557/ItemId/664/language/et-EE/Default.aspx
- Riigikontrolli aruanne: Ülevaade riigi vara kasutamisest ja säilimisest 2012.–2013. aastal (2013). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.riigikontroll.ee/Suhtedavalikkusega/Pressiteated/tabid/168/ItemId/686/amid/557/language/et-EE/Default.aspx

- SA Eesti Koostöö Kogu (2011). Eesti Inimarengu Aruanne Inimarengu Balti rajad: muutuste kaks aastakümmet. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://kogu.ee/public/eia2011/EIA_2011.pdf
- Saar, H. (2013). Lapse õigused. Inimõigused Eestis 2012. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/inimoiguste-aruanne-2/inimoigused-eestis-2012/lapse-oigused/
- Saar, H. (2014). Lapse õigused. Inimõigused Eestis 2013. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/inimoiguste-aruanne-2/inimoigused-eestis-2013/lapse-oigused/
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2001), ÜRO Lapse õiguste konventsiooni aruanne. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://vm.ee/sites/default/files/elfinder/article_files/aruanne_est.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2011). Targad vanemad, toredad lapsed, tugev ühiskond. Laste ja perede arengukava 2012–2020. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/laste_ja_perede_arengukava_2012_-_2020.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2013). Lastekaitse korralduse uuendamise alusanalüüs. Lõpparuanne.
 AS PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisors. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/lastekaitse_alusanaluus_pwc_2013_27.11_2.pdf
- Säästva arengu komisjon (2010). Eesti inimvara raport (IVAR): võtmeprobleemid ja lahendused 2010. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.kogu.ee/public/Eesti_Inimvara_Raport_IVAR.pdf
- Topper, K (2015). Sotsiaaltöö täienduskoolitused Eestis: sotsiaaltöötajate ja koolitajate kogemused. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsiaal- ja haridusteaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/48039/topper_klarica_ma_2015.pdf?sequence=1
- Valma, K. (2012). Lapse parima huvi väljaselgitamine tsiviilkohtumenetluses vanematevahelistes hooldusõiguse vaidlustes. Sotsiaaltöö, nr. 3. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/134260266185 Sotsiaaltoo 3 2012.pdf
- Võsu, S. (2015). Lapse ärakuulamine: kasutatavad praktikad tsiviilkohtumenetluses. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsiaal- ja haridusteaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/48041/vosu_sirle_ma_2015.pdf?sequence=1
- ÜRO Lasteõiguste Konventsioon Üldkommentaar nr. 14 (2013). Lapse õigus tema parimate huvide esikohale seadmisele (artikkel 3 par. 1). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/%C3%9Cldkommentaar-nr-14.pdf

Cluster 2

 Aasvee, K., Rahno, J. (2015). Eesti kooliõpilaste tervisekäitumise uuring. 2013/2014.
 Õppeaasta. Tabelid. Tervise Arengu Instituut, Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.tai.ee/et/terviseandmed/uuringud/download/324

- Alaealise mõjutusvahendite seadus (1998). RT I 1998, 17, 264. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/992337
- Alkoholiseadus (2001). RT I 2002, 3, 7. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/AS
- AS Emor (2014). Riskikäitumise teadlikkuse uuring kolmes sihtrühmas. Uuringu raport. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.politsei.ee/dotAsset/331164.pdf
- Committee on the Rights of the Children (2013). General comment No. 14 (2013) on the right of the child to have his or her best interests taken as a primary consideration (art. 3, para. 1)
- Eesti Vabariigi lastekaitse seadus (1992). RT 1992, 28, 370. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/1027736
- Espenberg, K., Lees, K., Arrak, L., Aksen, M., Vahaste-Pruul, S. (2014) Välismaal töötavate vanemate ja Eestis elavate lastega pered: parimad praktikad ja võimalikud ohud. Tartu Ülikooli sotsiaalteaduslike rakendusuuringute keskus RAKE. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.ec.ut.ee/sites/default/files/ec/loppraport_27.11.14.pdf
- Espenberg, K., Soo, K., Beilmann, M., Linno, M., Vahaste, S., Göttig, T., Uusen-Nacke, T. (2013) Vanema hooldusõiguse määramise praktika analüüs. Tartu Ülikooli sotsiaalteaduslike rakendusuuringute keskus RAKE. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/TOF/TOF uuringud/32 vanema hooldusoiguse maaramise uuring loppraport.pdf
- Euroopa Liidu Põhiõiguste Amet (FRA), (2015) Lapsesõbralik õigusemõistmine spetsialistide seisukohad ja kogemused. Kokkuvõte. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra-2015-child-friendly-justice-professionals-summary_et.pdf
- Halduskohtumenetluse seadustik (2011). RT I, 23.02.2011, 3. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/129062012056
- Haldusmenetluse seadus (2001). RT I 2001, 58, 354. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/686696
- Haruoja, M., Meiorg, M., Nauts, K. (2014). Study on children's involvement in judicial proceedings contextual overview for the criminal justice phase Estonia. European Commission Directorate-General for Justice. Luxembourg. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.childreninjudicialproceedings.eu/docs/ContextualOverview/Estonia.pdf
- Isikut tõendavate dokumentide seadus (1991). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: RT I 1999, 25, 365. https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/742623
- Isikut tõendavate dokumentide seadus (1999). RT I 1999, 25, 365. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/ITDS
- Karistusseadustik (2001). RT I 2001, 61, 364. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/184411
- Karistusseadustiku ja sellega seonduvalt teiste seaduste muutmise seaduse seletuskiri (2013). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - http://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/elfinder/article_files/karistusseadustiku_ja_selleg_a_seonduvalt_teiste_seaduste_muutmise_seaduse_eelnou_seletuskiri_3.12.2013.pdf

- Karistusseadustiku ja sellega seonduvalt teiste seaduste muutmise seaduse seletuskiri (2013). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/elfinder/article_files/karistusseadustiku_ja_selleg a_seonduvalt_teiste_seaduste_muutmise_seaduse_eelnou_seletuskiri_3.12.2013.pdf
- Karistusseadustiku muutmise ja sellega seonduvalt teiste seaduste muutmise seadus (2013). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/113122013005
- Kobin, M., Vorobjov, S., Abel-Ollo, K., & Vals, K. (2012). Uimastite tarvitamine koolinoorte seas: 15–16-aastaste õpilaste legaalsete ja illegaalsete narkootikumide kasutamine Eestis. Uuringu raport. Tallinna Ülikool, Tervise Arengu Instituut. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.tai.ee/et/terviseandmed/uuringud/download/198
- Lapse Õiguste Üldkommentaar nr. 14 (2013) lapse õigus tema parimate huvide esikohaleseadmisele (artikkel 3 par. 1) Eesti keeles kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/%C3%9Cldkommentaar-nr-14.pdf
- Perekonnaseadus (2009). RT I 2009, 60, 395. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13240237
- Psühhiaatrilise abi seadus (1997). RT I 1997, 16, 260. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/992425
- Pärnu Maakohtu 27. mai 2011. a. määrus tsiviilasjas nr 2-11-1578.
- Pärnu Maakohtu 5. augusti 2011. a. määrus tsiviilasjas nr 2-11-11635
- Raseduse katkestamise ja steriliseerimise seadus (1998). RT I 1998, 107, 1766. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/925400
- Riigikohtu tsiviilkolleegiumi kohtuotsus tsiviilasjas nr nr 3-4-1-20-12, 11.12.2012.
- Riigikohus, Põhiseaduslikkuse järelevalve kolleegium (2012). Kohtuotsus. Tartu Maakohtu taotlus tunnistada kriminaalmenetluse seadustiku § 407 põhiseadusega vastuolus olevaks. Kohtuasja number 3-4-1-20-12. Vastu võetud 11.12.2012. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/128052013006
- Riiklike peretoetuste seadus (2001). RT I 2001, 95, 587. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/122122013072
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2014) Alkoholipoliitika roheline raamat. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.tai.ee/images/PDF/Alkoholipoliitika_roheline_raamat.pdf
- Terviseinfo. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.terviseinfo.ee/images/prints/uimastiennetus-koolidele/Lisa_11_Noorte_uimastitarvitamine.pdf
- Tsiviilkohtumenetluse seadustik (2005). RT I 2005, 26, 197. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13261659
- Tsiviilseadustiku üldosa seadus (2002). RT I 2002, 35, 216. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/106122010012
- Tubakaseadus (2005). RT I 2005, 29, 210. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/903024
- Töölepingu seadus (2008). RT I 2009, 5, 35. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112072014146

- Vutt, M. (2011). Tehingu tegemiseks nõusoleku andmise menetlus kohtus. Kohtupraktika analüüs. Riigikohus. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.riigikohus.ee/vfs/1151/TehinguTegemiseNousolek_MargitVutt.pdf
- Vutt, M. (2011). Tehingu tegemiseks nõusoleku andmise menetlus kohtus, kohtupraktika analüüs. Riigikohus, õigusteabe osakond. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.riigikohus.ee/vfs/1151/TehinguTegemiseNousolek_MargitVutt.pdf
- Võlaõigusseadus (2001). RT I 2001, 81, 487. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/961235
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Õiguskantsleri ettepanek nr 27 "Alaealisusega seotud piirangud raseduse katkestamisel". Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:

 http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/6iguskantsleri_ettepanek_nr_27_a
 laealisusega_seotud_piirangud_raseduse_katkestamisel.pdf

Cluster 3

- Alaealise erikohtlemine kriminaalmenetluses (2007)
- Allvee, K., Karro, H. (2014). Eesti meditsiiniline sünniregister 1992 2013, Eesti abordiregister 1996 2013. Tervise Arengu Instituut, Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/141648338764_emsr.pdf
- Eesti Inimõiguste Keskus (2014). Vihakuriteod. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/faktileht_2.pdf
- Eesti Naisuurimus- ja Teabekeskus (2011). Strateegia "Säästev Eesti 21" analüüs soolise võrdõiguslikkuse edendamise aspektist. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.enut.ee/lisa/SE21_strateegia_analyys.pdf
- Human Rights Watch UPR Submission to OHCHR: Estonia (2015). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/07/07/human-rights-watch-upr-submission-ohchr-estonia
- Juurak, R. (2015). Suur mure poiste ja meeste pärast. Õpetajate Leht. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://opleht.ee/22953-suur-mure-poiste-ja-meeste-parast/
- Justiitsministeerium (2007). Eesti elanike õigusteadlikkuse uuring. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/elfinder/article-files/eesti-elanike-oigusteadlikku-se_uuring_2007_1.pdf
- Justiitsministeerium. Vaenu õhutamise vastane eelnõu. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.just.ee/et/eesmargid-tegevused/kriminaalpoliitika/vaenu-ohutamise-vastane-eelnou
- Juurak, R. (2015). Miks koolis diskrimineeritakse poisse?. Õpetajate leht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://opleht.ee/20267-miks-koolis-diskrimineeritakse-poisse/
- Kalmet, T. (2014). Arvamus karistusseadustiku ja väärteomenetluse seadustiku muutmise eelnõu kohta. Inimõigused Eestis 2013. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/2014/09/8193/
- Karistusseadustik (2001). RT I 2001, 61, 364. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/184411

- Kerikmäe, T., Remmelg, A., Särav, S. (2013) Õigus haridusele. Inimõigused Eestis 2013. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/inimoiguste-aruanne-2/inimoigused-eestis-2013/oigus-haridusele
- Kooseluseadus (2014). Avaldamismärge: RT I, 16.10.2014, 1, Redaktsiooni jõustumise kp: 01.01.2016. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/KooS
- Lapse kohtlemise juhend (2015)
- Lumiste, K. (2011). SEYLE õpilaste ja õpetajate baasuuringu tulemused, vaimne tervis ja riskikäitumine. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/eesmargid_ja_tegevused/Tervis/Muud_infot/seyle_broz_final.pdf
- Markina, A., Žarkovski, B. (2014). Laste hälbiv käitumine Eestis. Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 19. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/laste_kaitumise_uuring_2014.pdf
- Mikk, J. (2002). Soorollid õppekirjanduses. Tartu Ülikooli Pedagoogikaosakonna väljaanne nr. 12, lk 282. Tartu. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.enut.ee/lisa/soorollid.pdf
- Mägi, E., Biin, H. (2015). Koolirõõm sooteadlikkuse kaudu. Õpetajate leht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://opleht.ee/20914-kooliroom-sooteadlikkuse-kaudu/
- Papp, Ü. M. (2009). Vabaks vanadest mõttemallidest. Juhiseid soolise võrdõiguslikkuse seaduse rakendamiseks lasteaedades ja koolides. Eesti Naisteühenduste Ümarlaua Sihtasutus. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.enu.ee/lisa/374_Vabaks.pdf
- Papp, Ü. M. (2013). Kas õpilased või poisid ja tüdrukud?. Uurimus Eesti õpetajate ja haridustöötajate valmisolekust sootundlikuks õpetamiseks ja kasvatamiseks. Artiklikogumik, Eesti Naisteühenduste Ümarlaua Sihtasutus. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.enu.ee/lisa/463 2013 04 kas opilased voi poisid ja tudrukud sisu.pdf
- Praxis (2014). Poiste ja tüdrukute ebavõrdsus koolis. Infovoldik
- Praxis (2014). Sooteadlikkus koolis miks ja milleks? Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.praxis.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/sooteadlikkus-koolis.pdf
- Põhikooli- ja gümnaasiumiseadus (2010). RT I 2010, 41, 240. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13332410
- Riigikantselei (2014). Vigastuste ja vigastussurmade ennetamise poliitika koordineerimise rakkerühm. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/uuringud/vigastuste_ennetamise_rakkeruhma_aruanne.pdf
- Sepper, M.L. Solvav keelekasutus ja vihakõne. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.vordoigusvolinik.ee/vordne-kohtlemine/nahavarvus/solvav-keelekasutus-ja-vihakone/
- Toots, A., Lauri, T. (2013). Eesti Inimarengu Aruanne 2012/2013. Eesti Maailmas. Eesti Koostöökogu, Tallinn. Lk 27-36. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.kogu.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/EIA_lowres.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Õiguskantsleri ettepanek nr 27 "Alaealisusega seotud piirangud raseduse katkestamisel". Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:

- Eesti Vabariigi põhiseadus (1992). RT 1992, 26, 349. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/633949
- Human Rights Watch UPR Submission to OHCHR: Estonia (2015). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/07/07/human-rights-watch-upr-submission-ohchr-estonia
- Jukk, A. (2015). Õpilaskodus elamine laste ning nende vanemate kirjeldustes. Bakalaureusetöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsiaal ja haridusteaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/47999/jukk_anneli_ba_2015.pdf?sequence=1
- Karu, M., Turk, P., Biin, H., Suvi, H. (2012). Lapse õiguste ja vanemluse monitooring.
 Laste ja täiskasvanute küsitluse kokkuvõte. Poliitikauuringute Keskus Praxis. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - $\underline{\text{http://lasteombudsman.ee/sites/default/files/lapse_oiguste_ja_vanemluse_monitooringu_kok} \\ \underline{\text{kuvote.pdf}}$
- Kodakondsuse seaduse ja riigilõivuseaduse muutmise seadus (2015). Jõustumise kp: 13.02.2015, Avaldamismärge: RT I, 03.02.2015, 1. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/103022015001
- Lapse Õiguste Komitee (2013). Üldkommentaar nr. 14, lapseõigus tema parimate huvide esikohale seadmisele (artikkel 3 par. 1. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/%C3%9Cldkommentaar-nr-14.pdf
- Lastekaitseseadus (2014). Avaldamismärge: RT I, 06.12.2014, 1. Redaktsiooni jõustumise kp: 01.01.2016. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/106122014001
- Lasteombudsman (2013). Asenduskoduteenuste analüüs. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://lasteombudsman.ee/sites/default/files/asenduskoduteenuse_analuus_0.pdf
- Lattik, M. (2012). Poiste ja tüdrukute moraalne käitumine internetis ja reaalses elus nende endi hinnangul Tartu linna kahe gümnaasiumi näitel. Bakalaureusetöö. Tartu Ülikool, Haridusteaduste instituut. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/26000/Lattik.pdf?sequence=1
- Leitmaa, D. (2011). Väike tüdruk sattus õuduste kodust õuduste asenduskodusse. Eesti päevaleht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://epl.delfi.ee/news/eesti/vaike-tudruk-sattus-ouduste-kodust-ouduste-asenduskodusse?id=63627422
- Markina, A., Žarkovski, B. (2014). Laste hälbiv käitumine Eestis. Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 19. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/laste-kaitumise-uuring-2014.pdf
- Muižnieks, N. (2013). Report by Nils Muižnieks Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe Following his visit to Estonia from 25 to 27 March 2013. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:

- $\frac{https://wcd.coe.int/com.instranet.InstraServlet?command=com.instranet.CmdBlobGet\&InstranetImage=2308567\&SecMode=1\&DocId=2023896\&Usage=2$
- Parijõgi, M. (2012). Eestis kasvab huvi kristlike koolide vastu. Õpetajate leht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://arvamus.postimees.ee/1004230/eestis-kasvab-huvi-kristlike-koolide-vastu
- Politsei- ja Piirivalveamet (2015). Elamisluba alaealise lapse elama asumiseks vanema juurde. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - https://www.politsei.ee/et/teenused/elamisluba/tahtajaline-elamisluba/alaealise-lapse-elama-asumiseks-vanema-juurde/
- Poopuu, T. (2014) Uus lastekaitseseadus ootab rakendamist. Sotsiaaltöö, nr 6, lk 14-18. . Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.tai.ee/images/Artiklid/Seadus_Uus_lastekaitseseadus_ootab_rakendamist.pdf
- Saar, H. (2014). Lapse õigused. Inimõigused Eestis 2013. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/inimoiguste-aruanne-2/inimoigused-eestis-2013/lapse-oigused/
- Siseministri vastuskiri Riigikogu esimehele (24.10.2011 nr 2-1/262-3) küsimustes, mis Käsitlevad määratlemata kodakondsusega laste vanemate teavitamist lastele Eesti kodakondsuse taotlemise võimalustest.
- Sotsiaalhoolekande seadus (1995). RT I 1995, 21, 323. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/130122011047
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2011). Targad vanemad, toredad lapsed, tugev ühiskond. Laste ja perede arengukava 2012–2020. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/laste_ja_perede_arengukava_2012_-_2020.pdf
- U. Lõhmus. Eesti Vabariigi põhiseadus. Kommenteeritud väljaanne. Kommentaarid §-le 26. komm 8. Vt ka RKPJKo 25.06.2009. nr 3-4-1-3-09, p 16 jj. 19
- Õiguskantsler (2009). Kontrollkäik Tallinna Laste Turvakeskuse Nõmme tee osakonda. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_tallinna_laste_turvakeskuse_nomme_osakond.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2010). Järelkontrollkäik Tallinna Laste Turvakeskusesse. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - $\underline{http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/jarelkontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_tall_inna_laste_turvakeskus.pdf$
- Õiguskantsler (2013). Kontrollkäik Tapa Erikooli. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_tapa_erikool_1.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2013). Kontrollkäik: Haiba Lastekodu järelkontrollkäik. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/et/seisukohad/seisukoht/kontrollkaik-haiba-lastekodu-jarelkontrollkaik
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Elamisloa taotlemine, kui Eestis elab taotleja alaealine laps, märgukiri. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/6iguskantsleri_margukiri_elamisl oa_taotlemine_kui_eestis_elab_taotleja_alaealine_laps.pdf

- Õiguskantsler (2014). Kontrollkäik Viru vanglasse. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_viru_vangla_1.pdf
- Õiguskantsleri Kantselei (2012). Õiguskantsleri avalik pöördumine sotsiaalministri poole laste kehalise karistamise keelustamiseks. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/et/oiguskantsleri-avalik-poordumine-sotsiaalministri-poole-laste-kehalise-karistamise-keelustamiseks

- Amberg, A. (2014). Rahvusvahelise lapsendamisprotsessi kogemuste kirjeldused.
 Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool. Sotsiaal- ja haridusteaduskond. Ühiskonnateaduste instituut.
 Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/43546/amberg_anni_ma_2014.pdf?sequence=1
- Council of Europe (2003). Convention on Contact concerning Children. Strasbourg. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/Treaties/Html/192.htm
- Eesti Vabariigi põhiseadus (1992). RT 1992, 26, 349. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/633949
- Espenberg, K., Lees, K., Arrak, L., Aksen, M., Vahaste-Pruul, S. (2014) Välismaal töötavate vanemate ja Eestis elavate lastega pered: parimad praktikad ja võimalikud ohud. Tartu Ülikooli sotsiaalteaduslike rakendusuuringute keskus RAKE. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.ec.ut.ee/sites/default/files/ec/loppraport_27.11.14.pdf
- Espenberg, K., Soo, K., Beilmann, M., Linno, M., Vahaste, S., Göttig, T., Uusen-Nacke, T. (2013) Vanema hooldusõiguse määramise praktika analüüs. Tartu Ülikooli sotsiaalteaduslike rakendusuuringute keskus RAKE. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 https://www.riigikantselei.ee/valitsus/valitsus/Vanema%20hooldus%C3%B5iguse%20m%C3%A4%C3%A4ramise%20uuring1%C3%B5ppraport.pdf
- Euroopa Inimõiguste Kohtu (1996). Otsus asjas nr 25159/94. Hokkanen vs Soome, lk 58.
- EV Sotsiaalministeerium (2013). Asendushoolduse kontseptsiooni alusanalüüs. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/ahk_alusanalyys_dets_2013.pdf
- EV Sotsiaalministeerium (2014). Vanemliku hoolitsuseta laste asendushoolduse poliitika roheline raamat. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Asendushooldus/ah_rr_dets_2014.pdf
- Ibrus, K., Anvelt, K. (2011). Võigas laste väärkohtlemise juhtum näitas lastekaitsetöö puudulikkust. Eesti Päevaleht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://epl.delfi.ee/news/eesti/taispikkuses-voigas-laste-vaarkohtlemise-juhtum-naitas-lastekaitsetoo-puudulikkust?id=51297821
- Inimõiguste ja põhivabaduste kaitse konventsioon (2010). RT II 2010, 14, 54. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13320295

- Inimõiguste ja põhivabaduste kaitse konventsiooni (täiendatud protokollidega nr 2, 3, 5 ja 8) ning selle lisaprotokollide nr 1, 4, 7, 9, 10 ja 11 ratifitseerimise seadus (1996) RT II 1996, 11, 34. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/922131
- Julle, A. (2010) ¹. Vanemate ja sotsiaaltöötajate arvamused asendushooldusel elava lapse tagasipöördumise võimalustest vanemate juurde. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsioloogia ja sotsiaalpoliitika instituut.
- Julle, A. (2010)². Perekondade taasühendamine tühimik Eesti sotsiaaltöö maastikul. Sotsiaaltöö 2, lk 21-23.
- Justiitsministeerium (2014). 2013. aasta rahvusvahelise õigusabi statistika.
 Kriminaalpoliitika osakond, Rahvusvahelise justiitskoostöö talitus. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/rahvusvahelise_oigusabi_statistika_2013.pdf
- Kaev, M., Soova, K. (2009). Laste olukord Eestis. Laste õigustel põhinev ilma vanemliku hoolituseta laste või vanemliku hoolitsuseta jäämise ohus olevate laste olukorra analüüs. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.elf.ee/orb.aw/class=file/action=preview/id=4574/Laste+olukord+Eestis+-+statistika.doc
- Karu, H. (2015). Rahvusvaheline lapsendamine Eestist Rootsi: lapsendajate ja spetsialisti vaatenurk. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool. Sotsiaal- ja haridusteaduskond. Ühiskonnateaduste instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://omapere.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Magistrit%C3%B6%C3%B6-Helen-Karu1.pdf
- Kiisk, K. (2013). Vanemliku hoolitsuseta laste õiguste kaitse Eesti Vabariigis. Lõputöö.
 Tallinna majanduskool, Ametnikutöö osakond. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://omapere.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Kiisk_Katrin_OT101.pdf
- Kivirüüt, T. (2014). Lapsendamise käsiraamat. MTÜ Oma Pere, 2012. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://omapere.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/OP_lapsendamise_kasiraamat.pdf
- Koit, H. Vanema poolne lapserööv ja piiride ületamine. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.116000.ee/docs/Lasteabi_Koit.pdf
- Komisjoni soovitus, 20. veebruar 2013,Investeerides lastesse aitame neil välja rabeleda ebasoodsate olude ringist(2013). Euroopa Liidu Teataja (2013/112/EL). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://eur-
 - lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:059:0005:0016:ET:PDF
- Lasteombudsman (2013). Asenduskodude analüüs. Õiguskantsleri Kantselei laste õiguste osakond, Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://lasteombudsman.ee/sites/default/files/asenduskoduteenuse_analuus_0.pdf
- Linno, M., Soo, K., Strömpl, J. (2011). Perevägivalla levikut soodustavad riskid ja perevägivalla ulatuspraktikute hinnangutes. Uurimisaruanne. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/TOF/TOF_uuringud/19_perevagivalla_levikut_soodustavad_riskid_ja_perevagivalla_ulatus.pdf
- Madise, Ü. (2015). Täitemenetluse seadustiku kooskõlla viimine põhiseadusega, märgukiri. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:

- http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/6iguskantsleri_margukiri_taiteme netluse_seadustiku_kooskolla_viimine_pohiseadusega.pdf
- Markina, A., Žarkovski, B. (2014). Laste hälbiv käitumine Eestis. Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 19. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/laste_kaitumise_uuring_2014.pdf
- Matela, I. (2015). Asenduskodude üleminek perekodu vormile ühe Eesti
- asenduskodu näitel. Bakalaureusetöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsiaal- ja haridusteaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/48004/matela_ingrid_ba_2015.pdf?sequence=1
- MTÜ Eesti Pagulasabi (2013). Online-väitlus: kas pagulasel peab olema õigus oma pere järele tuua? Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.pagulasabi.ee/en/sildid/perekonnataasuhinemine
- MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit (2014). MTÜ Lastekaitse Liidu arvamus lastekaitseseaduse eelnõule. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/kiri2-4.pdf
- Ojakallas, T. (2012). Rahvusvahelise lapse õiguste alase regulatsiooni ja lapse õiguste alaste rahvusvaheliste kohtulahendite analüüs. Sotsiaalministeerium.
- Perekonnaseadus (2009). RT I 2009, 60, 395. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13330603
- Pettai, I., Proos, I. (2014). Lähisuhtevägivald Eestis sotsiaaltöötaja pilgu läbi.
 Ekspertküsitluse tulemused 2004 ja 2014. Eesti Avatud Ühiskonna Instituut, Ekspertuuring raport, lk 57
- Praxis (2015). Eesti perepoliitikat tuleb vaesuses elavate leibkondade aitamiseks muuta. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.praxis.ee/artikkel/uuringud-eesti-perepoliitikat-tuleb-vaesuses-elavate-leibkondade-aitamiseks-muuta/
- Põldkivi, A. (2013). Lapse väärkohtlemine lastekaitsetöötajate tõlgenduses. Bakalaureusetöö. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsioloogia ja sotsiaalpoliitika instituut. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - https://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/31734/poldkivi_airika.pdf
- Reinomägi, A., Sinisaar, H., Toros, K., Kutsar, D. (2013). Sissejuhatus: lapse õigused ja heaolu. Statistikaameti kogumik: Laste heaolu. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/IMCE/laste_heaolu_0.pdf
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2009). Riigi tegevus laste riiklikuhoolekande korraldamisel. Kas laste riiklik hoolekanne on tõhus? Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.eatl.ee/wp/wp-content/uploads/Riigikontrolli-audit_2009_RKTR_2105_2-1.4_1893_001-1.pdf
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2012). Avalike teenuste pakkumise eeldused väikestes ja keskustest eemal asuvates omavalitsustes. Arvutvõrgus kättesaadav http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/206/Audit/2210/OtherArea/1/language/etEE/Default.aspx
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2013). Laste hoolekande korraldus valdades ja linnades. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/168/amid/557/ItemId/664/language/et-EE/Default.aspx

- Saharov, J., Janson, E. (2014). Rahvusvahelise kaitse saajate õigused ja kohanemine. Varjupaiga aastaraamat 2014. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://aastaraamat.pagulasabi.ee/rahvusvahelise-kaitse-saajate-oigused-ja-kohanemine
- Seletuskiri kooseluseaduse eelnõu juurde. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.riigikogu.ee/download/747b3df4-f8e5-443c-9d99-921f158717ab
- Soo, K., Ilves, K., Strömpl, J. (2009). Laste väärkohtlemise juhtumitest teavitamine ja võrgustikutöö. Lõppraport. Tartu Ülikool, Sotsioloogia ja sotsiaalpoliitika instituut. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/Lapse vaarkohtlemisest teavitamine uuringu raport-1.pdf
- SOS Lasteküla Eesti Ühing (2013). ÜRO Asendushoolduse juhiste rakendamine Eestis, Projekti raport. Tallinn 2013, lk. 46. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.sos-lastekyla.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/--RO-Laste-asendushoolduse-juhiste-rakendamine-Eestis_2013.pdf
- Sotsiaalhoolekande seadus (1995). RT I 1995, 21, 323. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/104072014018
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2015).Peretoetuste, teenuste ja vanemapuhkuste roheline raamat. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Perehuvitised/peretoetuste_teenuste_ja_vanemapuhkuste_roheline_raamat_2015.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium: Uued põhimõtted lastekaitseseaduses. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/et/uued-pohimotted-lastekaitseseaduses
- Tartu Ülikool, Ühiskonnateaduste instituut. Täiendusõpe: Perevägivalla äratundmine ja sellega tegelemine sotsiaaltöös. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.yti.ut.ee/et/taiendusope/perevagivalla-aratundmine-sellega-tegelemine-sotsiaaltoos-1
- Täitemenetluse seadustik (2005). RT I 2005, 27, 198. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/113062012002
- Välismaalaste seadus (2009). RT I 2010, 3, 4. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/VMS
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Elamisloa taotlemine, kui Eestis elab taotleja alaealine laps, märgukiri. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/6iguskantsleri_margukiri_elamisl oa_taotlemine_kui_eestis_elab_taotleja_alaealine_laps.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2015). Seisukoht vastuolu mittetuvastamise kohta Lastekaitseseaduse
 vastavus põhiseadusele ja ÜRO lapse õiguste konventsioonile. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 konventsioonile.pdf

• Koolieelse lasteasutuse seadus (1999). RT I 1999, 27, 387. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/114032011006

- Haridusseadus (1992). RT 1992, 12, 192. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/968165
- Kütt, K. (2011). Eesti lastekaitsetöö sisu ja dünaamika aastatel 2001-2010. Magistritöö. Tallinna Ülikool, Sotsiaaltöö Instituut. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://kon-verents.lastekaitseliit.ee/sites/default/files/Kati%20K%C3%BCtt%20magis-trit%C3%B6%C3%B6-1.pdf
- Euroopa Parlament (2013). Eestit käsitlev aruanne uurimuse kohta "Puuetega lapsi käsitlev liikmesriikide poliitika". Uurimus. Sisepoliitika Peadirektoraar, poliitikaosakond C, kodanike õigused ja põhiseadusküsimused. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.euro-parl.ee/resource/static/files/puuetega-lapsed-aruanne.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2009). Puudega lastega perede toimetuleku ja vajaduste uuring 2009, Kvantitatiivuuringu aruanne. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/4023/1/Gfk,%202009.pdf
- Laanpere, M. (2015). Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia. Doktoritöö. Tartu Ülikool. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.ut-lib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/47499/laanpere_made.pdf?sequence=1
- Leppik, M. (2015). Millest koosneb puudega inimeste sotsiaalne kaitse? Eesti Statistikaamet. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://statistikaamet.wordpress.com/tag/puudega-inimesed/
- Raudsepp, R (2012). Seksuaalsue ja lähisuhete käsitlemine asenduskodus elavate laste ja noorte iseseisvaks eluks ettevalmistamise protsessis kasvatajate arvamuste alusel ühe asenduskodu näitel. Magsistritöö. Tartu Ülikool.
- Reinomägi, A., Sinisaar, H., Toros, K., Kutsar, D. (2013). Sissejuhatus: lapse õigused ja heaolu. Statistikaameti kogumik: Laste heaolu. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/IMCE/laste_heaolu_0.pdf
- Seletuskiri "Puuetega inimeste õiguste konventsiooni ratifitseerimine ja konventsiooni fakultatiivprotokolliga ühinemine" seaduse eelnõu kohta. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.ead.ee/orb.aw/class=file/action=preview/id=375878/Eeln6u_seletuskiri.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2011). Laste ja perede arengukava 2012–2020, Targad vanemad, toredad lapsed, tugev ühiskond. Lk 40–41. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 https://valitsus.ee/UserFiles/valitsus/et/valitsus/arengukavad/sotsiaalministeer-ium/Laste%20ja%20perede%20ar engukava%202012-2020.pd
- "Kohalike omavalitsuste sotsiaalteenuste soovituslikud juhised", sotsiaalministeerium, viimati muudetud 5. jaanuaril 2012
- Praxis (2009). Kohaliku omavalitsuse üksuste avalike teenuste lepinguline delegeerimine kodanikeühendustele. Analüüsi lõpparuanne. Lk 8, 13, 121. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.siseministeerium.ee/sites/default/files/dokumendid/simdel_raport.pdf
- Hanga, K., Voog, H. (2012). Heade praktikate kogumik. Käsiraamat sotsiaal- ja haridustöötajatele, kuidas kaasata puudega inimesi. Eesti Puuetega Inimeste Koda. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.epikoda.ee/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Heade_prak-tikate_kogumikEPIK2012.pdf

- Kontrollkäik Valga Jaanikese Kooli 9. novembril 2009. A (2009). Märgukiri. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontroll-kaigu_kokkuvote_valga_jaanikese_kool.pdf
- Kask, U. (2005). Children and Disability in Transition in CEE/CIS and Baltic States.
 UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre. Lk 22. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/387
- Euroopa Nõukogu (2007). Memorandum to the Estonian Government. Assessment of the progress made in implementing the 2004 recommendations of the Commissioner for Human rights of the Council of Europe. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://wcd.coe.int/View-Doc.jsp?id=1163131#P230_35786
- Tervise Arengu Instituut (2015). Health in the Baltic Countries 2013. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/143495261122_Health_in_the_Baltic_countries_2013.pdf
- Rahvastiku tervise arengukava 2009–2020 (2008). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/eesmargid_ja_tegevused/Ter-vis/2012_rta_pohitekst_ok_5.pdf
- EV Sotsiaalministeerium (2013). Asendushoolduse kontseptsiooni alusanalüüs. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/ahk_alusanalyys_dets_2013.pdf
- Aasvee, K., Rahno, J. (2015). Eesti kooliõpilaste tervisekäitumise uuring 2013/2014. õppeaasta. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/143323015911_HBSC_2014_kogumik.pdf
- Haigekassa juhatus (2014). Ülevaade tervishoiuteenuste kättesaadavusest ja sellega seotud tegevustest. Memo haigekassa nõukogule. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.haigekassa.ee/sites/default/files/finants/ylevaade_ravijarjekordadest_2014.pdf
- Eesti Haigekassa: Hambaravi. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.haigekassa.ee/et/hambaravi
- Eesti Seksuaaltervise Liit (2015). Euroopa seksuaalhariduse standardid. Standardid poliitikakujundajatele, haridus- ja tervishoiuasutustele ja teistele spetsialistidele. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/143039406413_WHO_Euroopa_seksuaalhariduse_standardid.pdf
- Runnel, R., Honkala, S., Honkala, E., Olak, J., Nõmmela, R., Vahlberg, T., Mäkinen, K., Saag, M. (2013). Caries experience in the permanent dentition among first- and secondgrade school children in southeastern Estonia, Acta Odontologica Scandinavica. Lk 410-415
- Soo, K., Laas, A., Lamesoo, K., Ainsaar, M., Altosaar, K., Laur, T. (2005). Erikoolides ja laste hoolekandeasutustes elavate noorte hoiakud ja kogemused seoses seksuaalse, vaimse ja füüsilise vägivallaga. Tartu Laste Tugikeskus, Tartu Ülikool. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/1513/1/Soo2005.pdf
- Lasteombudsman (2013). Asenduskodude analüüs. Õiguskantsleri Kantselei laste õiguste osakond. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.estl.ee/admin/upload/Dokumendid/SVV_ULEVAADE_EESTIS_2015.pdf

- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2014). Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra-2014-vaw-survey-factsheet_en.pdf
- Lippus, H., Laanpere, M., Part, K., Ringmets, I., Allvee, K., Rahu, M., Haldre K., Karro H. (2015). Eesti Naiste Tervise Uuring: seksuaal- ja reproduktiivtervis, tervisekäitumine, hoiakud ja tervishoiuteenuste kasutamine. Uurimisaruanne. Tartu: Tartu Ülikooli Naistekliinik. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.ut.ee/ARNS/Eesti naise tervis1.pdf
- Terviseamet (2014). Nakkushaigused: HIV ja AIDS. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.terviseamet.ee/nakkushaigused/nakkushaigustesse-haigestumine/hiv-ja-aids.html
- Tervise Arengu Instituut (2013). Tegevused. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.tai.ee/tegevused/tervise-edendamine/laste-ja-noorte-tervise-edendamine
- Einberg. Ü. (2013). Laste ülekaalu käsitlus. Tallinna Lastehaigla. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://arstideliit.ee/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/4-3-Laste-%C3%BClekaalu-k%C3%A4sitlus_%C3%9Clle-Einberg.pdf
- Laes, T-L. (2015). Eesti laste materiaalsest heaolust. Eesti statistikaamet. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://statistikaamet.wordpress.com/2015/06/01/eesti-laste-materiaalsest-heaolust/
- Riigikantselei (2014). Vigastuste ja vigastussurmade ennetamise poliitika koordineerimise rakkerühm. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/uuringud/vigastuste_ennetamise_rakkeruhma_aruanne.pdf
- Tervisekaitsenõuded kooli päevakavale ja õppekorraldusele (2007). RTL 2001, 43, 602. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13351102
- Streimann, K. (2014). Vaimne tervis ja riskikäitumine Eesti noorte hulgas. Tervise Arengu Instituut, Tervise edendamise osakond. Arbutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.ph.ee/content/editor/files/vaimne%20tervis%20ja%20riskik%C3%A4itumine.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2015). Laste vaimse tervise integreeritud teenuste kontseptsiooni alusanalüüs. AS PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisors. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-edi-tors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Lapse_oigused_ja_heaolu/laste_vaimse_tervise_alusanaluus_loppa-ruanne_pwc_13.03.2015_loplike_parandustega.pdf
- Tervisestatistika ja terviseuuringute andmebaas: Hinnang arstiabi kättesaadavusele ja kvaliteedile ning tervishoiukorraldusele (PT05). Tervise Arengu Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://pxweb.tai.ee/esf/pxweb2008/dialog/statfile2.asp
- Bogdanov, H., Pertel, T. (2012). Vaimse tervise teenuste kaardistamine ja vajaduste analüüs. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/handle/1/4863
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Kontrollkäik Jõhvi Noorukite ravi- ja rehabilitatsioonikeskusesse. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_johvi_noorukite_ravi-_ja_rehabilitatsioonikeskus.pdf
- Perearsti ja temaga koos töötavate tervishoiutöötajate tööjuhend (2010). RTL 2010, 3, 52. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13263878
- 0–18-aastaste laste ennetavate tervisekontrollide kava (2009). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/aktilisa/0000/1326/3878/Lisa.pdf#

- Sotsiaalministeerium (2008) Rahvastiku tervise arengukava 2009-2020. http://www.sm.ee/et/tervis
- Tekkel, M., Veideman, T. (2013). Eesti täiskasvanud rahvastiku tervisekäitumise uuring, 2012. Tervise Arengu Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/im-ages/prints/documents/136479842690 TKU 2012.pdf
- AS Emor (2014). Riskikäitumise teadlikkuse uuring kolmes sihtrühmas, uuringu raport. Politsei- ja Piirivalveamet. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.politsei.ee/dotAsset/331164.pdf
- Kobin, M., Vorobjov, S., Abel-Ollo, K., Vals, K. (2012). Uimastite tarvitamine koolinoorte seas: 15–16-aastaste õpilaste legaalsete ja illegaalsete narkootikumide kasutamine Eestis. Uuringu raport. Tallinna Ülikool, Rahvusvaheliste ja sotsiaaluuringute instituut, Tervise Arengu Instituut. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://intra.tai.ee/images/prints/documents/133846612537_Uimastite%20tarvita-mine%20koolinoorte%20seas_raport.pdf
- Sotsiaalministeerium (2015). Peretoetuste, teenuste ja vanemapuhkuste roheline raamat. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Perehuvitised/peretoetuste_teenuste_ja_vanemapuhkuste_roheline_raamat_2015.pdf
- Võrk, A., Paulus, A., Leppik, C. (2014). Peredele mõeldud toetuste ning alushariduse ja lapsehoiu rahastamise mõju analüüs vaesusele ja töötamise stiimulitele. Projekti "Peredele mõeldud toetuste ning alushariduse ja lapsehoiuteenuse mõjude analüüs" koondraport. Praxis, Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Lapsed_ja_pered/Perehuvitised/vorkpaulusleppik_perepoliitikaanalyys_pik-kraport_18okt2014.pdf
- Laanet, I., Humal, V. (2013). Ranitsatoetused on 35 eurost 160 euroni. Saarte Hääl. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.saartehaal.ee/2013/08/10/ranitsatoetused-on-35-eurost-160-euroni/
- Biin, H., Karu, M., Masso, M., Veldre, V. (2013). Eesti vanemapuhkuste süsteemi analüüs. Uuringu aruanne. Praxis. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.praxis.ee/wp-content/up-loads/2014/03/2013-Vanemapuhkuste-susteem.pdf
- Kasearu, K., Trumm, A. (2013). NEET "Noored, kellega keegi ei arvesta ja kes kuskil ei käi"?. Noorteseire Eestis, Poliitikaülevaade 5/2013. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.noorteseire.ee/system/resources/BAhbBlsHOgZmIjkyMDEzL-zAxLzI0LzA4XzQ2XzU2XzMwMF9Qb2xpaXRpa2F5bGV2YWFkZV81X3ZlZWIucGRm/08_46_56_300_Poliitikaylevaade_5_veeb.pdf
- Riiklike peretoetuste seadus (2001). RT I 2001, 95, 587. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/122122013072
- Immuniseerimiskava (2014). RT I, 15.01.2014, 2. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/115012014002
- ÜRO puuetega inimeste õiguste konventsioon (2006). RT II, 04.04.2012, 6. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/204042012006

- Saar, H. (2014). Lapse õigused. Inimõigused Eestis 2013. Inimõiguste Keskus. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://humanrights.ee/inimoiguste-aruanne-2/inimoigused-eestis-2013/lapse-oigused/
- Ravikindlustuse seadus (2002). RT I 2002, 62, 377. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/RaKS

- Bogdanov, H., Pertel, T. (2012). Vaimse tervise teenuste kaardistamine ja vajaduste analüüs. Tervise Arengu Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/handle/1/4863
- Eesti Statistikaamet (2013). Laste heaolu. Statistikaameti kogumik. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.stat.ee/65395
- Eesti Õpilasesinduste Liit (2013). Õpilaste sotsiaalsete garantiide konseptsioon. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://opilasliit.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/sgk_07-12-2013_toimetatud-ok.pdf
- Espenberg, K., Beilmann, M., Rahnu, M., Reincke, E., Themas, E. (2012). Õpingute katkestamise põhjused kutseõppes. Haridus- ja Teadusministeerium. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - http://www.ec.ut.ee/sites/default/files/ec/opingute_katkestamine_kutseoppes_loppraport.pdf
- Haridus- ja Teadusministeerium (2015). Haridus- ja Teadusministeeriumi aasta-analüüs. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - $\underline{https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/aastaanalyys2015.pdf}$
- Haridus- ja Teadusministeerium. Hariduslike erivajadustega õpilaste õppekorralduse kontseptsioon. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/hev_kotseptsioon.pdf
- Haridusseadus (1992). RT 1992, 12, 192. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/968165
- Karu, M. & Turk, P. (2012). Noorsootöö lapsevanemate perspektiivist. Noorteseire aastaraamat 2011. SA Poliitikauuringute Keskus. Tallinn: lk 75- 87
- Keskel, A., Kereme, H., Salla, K. A. (2010). Koolikorralduslikud tugimeetmed kasvatusraskustega õpilastele. Haridus-ja Teadusministeeriumi ja Eesti Noorsootöö Keskuse analüüs. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/41049/Noored_Tugimeetmed.pdf?sequence=1
- Kirss, K. (2011). Õppenõustamisteenustega rahulolu ja nende kättesaadavus. Uuringu lõpparuanne. Praxis. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.ekk.edu.ee/vvfiles/0/Uuringu_lopparuanne_Praxis_oktoober2011.pdf
- Laes, T.-L. (2012). Vaeste perede laste ja noorte huvihariduses osalemine. Statistikaameti kogumik. Eesti piirkondlik areng 2012. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.riigikogu.ee/v/failide_arhiiv/Teemaleht_14_2013.pdf
- Laes, T.-L. (2013). Laste vaesus kohalikes omavalitsustes. Statistikablogi. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://statistikaamet.wordpress.com/category/sotsiaalstatistika/

- Lindemann, K. (2013). Structural integration of young Russian-speakers in post-Soviet contexts: educational attainment and transition to the labour market. Doktoritöö. Tallinna Ülikool. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://e-ait.tlulib.ee/335/1/lindemann_kristina_2.pdf
- Loogma, K., Ruus, V-R., Talts, L., Poom-Valickis, K. (2009). Õpetaja professionaalsus ning tõhusama õpetamis- ja õppimiskeskkonna loomine. OECD rahvusvahelise õpetamise ja õppimise uuringu TALIS tulemused. Tallinna Ülikooli haridusuuringute keskus. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/talis2008.pdf
- Markina, A., Žarkovski, B. (2014). Laste hälbiv käitumine Eestis. Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 19. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/laste_kaitumise_uuring_2014.pdf
- Mattson, T. (2013). Haridusinvesteeringuid on tehtud pikaajalise vaateta. Riigikontrolli audit. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.riigikontroll.ee/Suhtedavalikkusega/Pressiteated/tabid/168/ItemId/684/amid/557/language/et-EE/Default.aspx
- Munitsipaal- ja erakoolid, mille juures olevas või mille juurde moodustatavas õpilaskodus on riiklikult toetatavad õpilaskodu kohad, ning riiklikult toetatavate kohtade arv nendes koolides (2014). RT I, 28.02.2014, 1. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/128022014001
- Munitsipaal- ja erakoolid, mille juures olevas või mille juurde moodustatavas õpilaskodus on riiklikult toetatavad õpilaskodu kohad, ning riiklikult toetatavate kohtade arv nendes koolides (2015). RT I, 06.03.2015, 10. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/106032015010
- Proos, L. (2014). Koondprojekti "Noorte tervistav ja arendav puhkus 2014" aruanne. ENTK. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.entk.ee/sites/default/files/Koondprojekti%20Noorte%20tervistav%20ja%20aren dav%20puhkus%202014%20aruanne.pdf
- Põder, K., Lauri, T. (2013). Kui avalik sektor käitub nagu erasektor: Tallinna koolivaliku kihistav mõju. Riigikogu toimetised 28, 2013. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.riigikogu.ee/rito/index.php?id=16392
- Põder, K., Veski, A., Kirss, L., Lauri, T. (2014). Eesti põhikooli- ja gümnaasiumivõrgu analüüs aastaks 2020. Praxis. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://mottehommik.praxis.ee/wpcontent/uploads/2014/06/koolivorgu_prognoos2020.pdf
- Põhikooli- ja gümnaasiumiseadus (2010). RT I 2010, 41, 240. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13332410
- Riigikantselei (2014). Vigastuste ja vigastussurmade ennetamise poliitika koordineerimise rakkerühm. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/uuringud/vigastuste_ennetamise_rakkeruhma_aruanne.pdf
- Riigikohus, Põhiseaduslikkuse järelevalve kolleegium (2012). Kohtuotsus. Tartu Maakohtu taotlus tunnistada kriminaalmenetluse seadustiku § 407 põhiseadusega vastuolus olevaks. Kohtuasja number 3-4-1-20-12. Vastu võetud 11.12.2012. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/128052013006

- Seletuskiri "Puuetega inimeste õiguste konventsiooni ratifitseerimine ja konventsiooni fakultatiivprotokolliga ühinemine" seaduse eelnõu kohta. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.ead.ee/orb.aw/class=file/action=preview/id=375878/Eeln6u_seletuskiri.pdf
- Taits, T. (2013). Õpilaskodu roll sotsiaalsete probleemide leevendamisel Ala põhikooli õpilaskodu näitel. Lõputöö. Tartu Ülikool. Pärnu Kolledž, Sotsiaaltöö korralduse osakond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - https://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/32970/taits_triinu.pdf
- Talu, K., Tiko, A. (2009). Õpilaskodu kui võimalus käitumuslike erivajadustega õpilastele. Sotsiaaltöö nr 6, lk 37- 46
- Toomela, A. (2009). Eesti põhikooli efektiivsus. Lõpparuanne. Tartu Ülikooli Haridusteaduskond, Tallinna Ülikooli Psühholoogia Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.hm.ee/index.php?popup=download&id=11756
- Õiguskantsler (2010). Märgukiri pikapäevarühma tasu võtmise küsimuses. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/6iguskantsleri_margukiri_pikapae varuhmas_osalemise_tasu_pohikoolis_ja_gumnaasiumis.pdf
- Übius, Ü., Kall, K., Loogma, K., Ümarik, M. (2014). Rahvusvaheline vaade õpetamisele ja õppimisele. OECD rahvusvahelise õpetamise ja õppimise uuringu TALIS 2013 tulemused. Innove. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:

 https://www.siseministeerium.ee/sites/default/files/dokumendid/Uuringud/Regionaalhaldusja_maavalitsused/2014_elanike_rahulolu_kohalike_avalike_teenustega.pdf

- Ahven, A., Klopets, U., Kraas, K., Kruusmaa, K-C., Leps, A., Lindsalu, P., Palu, K., Rohtla, R., Salla, J., Surva, L., Tamm, K., Tammiste, B. (2015). Kuritegevus Eestis 2014, Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 20. Justiitsministeerium. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/kuritegevuse_at_2015_0.pdf
- Belitšev, E. (2013). Alaealiste kinnipidamine väljasaatmismenetluses. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Avaliku õiguse instituut. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/30488/belitsev_egert.pdf
- Euroopa Majandus- ja Sotsiaalkomitee arvamus teemal "Ettepanek: Euroopa Parlamendi ja nõukogu määrus, millega muudetakse määrust (EL) nr 604/2013 seoses sellega, kuidas määrata kindlaks sellise rahvusvahelise kaitse taotluse läbivaatamise eest vastutav liikmesriik, mille esitab saatjata alaealine, kellel ei ole liikmesriigis seaduslikult viibivaid pereliikmeid, õdesid-vendi või sugulasi" (2014). COM(2014) 382 final 2014/0202 (COD). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://ee.vlex.com/vid/euroopa-majandus-ja-sotsiaalkomitee-552789030
- Euroopa Nõukogu (2012). Euroopa Nõukoguministrite komiteesuunised lapsesõbralikuõigusemõistmise kohta. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/childjustice/Source/GuidelinesChildFriendlyJustice-ET.pdf

- - http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/alaealiste_kannatanu te_videosalvestatud_ulekuulamised_kristjan_kask_2015.pdf
- Ibrus, K. (2012). Eesti riik pidas Somaaliast pärit saatjata last kurjategijaks. Eesti Päevaleht. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://epl.delfi.ee/news/eesti/taismahus-eesti-riik-pidas-somaaliast-parit-saatjata-last-kurjategijaks?id=64624838
- Kallas, K. (2015). Eesti varjupaigapoliitika Euroopa perspektiivis. Riigikogu Toimetised. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.riigikogu.ee/rito/index.php?id=16023
- Kask, K. (2015). Alaealiste kannatanute videosalvestatud ülekuulamiste analüüs. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
- Komisjoni soovitus, 20. veebruar 2013, Investeerides lastesse aitame neil välja rabeleda ebasoodsate olude ringist (2013). Euroopa Liidu Teataja (2013/112/EL). Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://eur-
 - lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:059:0005:0016:ET:PDF
- Linno, M., Strömpl, J. (2015). Immigrant Children and Families in the Estonian Child Protection System. Teoses Skivenes, M, Barn, R. Križ, K, Pösö, T (toim). Child Welfare Systems and Migrant Children. A Cross Country Study of Policies and Practicies. Oxford University Press
- MTÜ Eesti Pagulasabi (2012). Eesti riik pidas Somaaliast pärit saatjata last kurjategijaks. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.pagulasabi.ee/sildid/alaealised
- MTÜ Eesti Pagulasabi: Vajalikud muudatused, Varjupaiga aastaraamat 2014. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://aastaraamat.pagulasabi.ee/vajalikud-muudatused
- Politsei- ja piirivalveamet (2013). Saatjata alaealise esinduslepingu partneri leidmise konkurss. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.politsei.ee/et/uudised/uudis.dot?id=306288
- Siseministeerium (2014). Eesti elanike teadlikkus ja hoiakud pagulasküsimustes. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - https://www.siseministeerium.ee/sites/default/files/dokumendid/Uuringud/Kodakondsus_ja_r2nne/2014_pagulasuuring_aruanne.pdf
- Vägivalla vähendamise arengukava täitmise aruanded.
- Välismaalasele rahvusvahelise kaitse andmise seadus (2005). RT I 2006, 2, 3. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/VRKS
- Väljasõidukohustuse ja sissesõidukeelu seadus (1998). RT I 1998, 98, 1575. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/12751464
- Õiguskantsler (2013). Kontrollkäik Politsei- ja Piirivalveameti väljasaatmiskeskusesse.
 Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_ppa_val
 jasaatmiskeskus 2.pdf
- ÜRO Lapse Õiguste Komitee (2005). Üldine märkus nr 6, saatjata ja vanematest eraldatud laste kohtlemine väljaspool päritoluriiki, CRC/GC/2005/6. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:

- "Laste kaitset seksuaalse ärakasutamise ja seksuaalse kuritarvitamise eest käsitleva Euroopa Nõukogu konventsiooni" heakskiitmine ja volituse andmine (2008). RT II 2008, 18, 55. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13013959
- "Tark ja Tegus Rahvas 2015–2018" (2014). Haridus- ja Teadusministeeriumi valitsemisala arengukava. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://hm.ee/sites/default/files/tark_ja_tegus_rahvas_2015_2018_final.pdf
- 209 SE II + 469 SE II (2012). Seletuskiri karistusseadustiku muutmise ja sellega seonduvalt teiste seaduste muutmise seaduse eelnõu teise lugemise juurde. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.riigikogu.ee/?op=ems&page=eelnou&eid=1007ddef-6a79-467a-95c9-dfb9ab8be 136&
- Adonov, K. (2013). Alaealised- ja noored kinnipeetavad Viru vanglas: rahulolu motivatsioonisüsteemiga ja hinnang kinnipeetavate käitumisele. Magistritöö. Tallinna Ülikool, Rakvere Kolledž.
- Ahven, A., Klopets, U., Kraas, K., Kruusmaa, K-C., Leps, A., Lindsalu, P., Palu, K., Rohtla, R., Salla, J., Surva, L., Tamm, K., Tammiste, B. (2015). Kuritegevus Eestis 2014, Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 20. Justiitsministeerium. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/kuritegevuse_at_2015_0.pdf
- Ahven, A., Kruusement, A., Salla, J. (2013). Tingimisi vabastamise ja käitumiskontrolli kohaldamise analüüs. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 <a href="http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/tingimisi-vabastamise-ja-kaitumiskontrolli-kohaldamise-analuus.justiitsministeerium. 20-13.pdf
- Ahven, A., Salla, J., Vahtrus, S. (2010). Retsidiivsus Eestis. Justiitsministeerium, Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/TOF/TOF_uuringud/26 retsidiivsus 16ppraport.pdf
- Alaealise mõjutusvahendite seadus (1998). RT I 1998, 17, 264. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13335902
- Alaealise mõjutusvahendite seaduse kehtetuks tunnistamise ja sellega seonduvalt teiste seaduste muutmise seaduse eelnõu väljatöötamise kavatsus (Sotsiaalministeerium 23.03.2015)
- ECRE. Position on Refugee Children by the European Council on Refugees and Exiles. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - http://www.childoneurope.org/issues/unaccompanied/B%202.4.pdf
- Edovald, T. (2005). Ülevaade alaealiste kuritegevuse vähendamise strateegiatest ja programmidest maailmas. Justiitsministeerium, Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud. Tallinn.Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 - http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/

- <u>ulevaade_alaealiste_kuritegevuse_vahendamise_strateegiatest_ja_programmidest_maailmas_t._edovald._2005.pdf</u>
- Eesti Hariduse Infosüsteem (2014). Alaealiste komisjonide menetluskiiruste ülevaade 2014 aasta I poolaastal. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.entk.ee/sites/default/files/2014%20Ipa%20menetluskiirus.pdf
- Eesti Statistikaamet (2013). Laste heaolu. Statistikaameti kogumik. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://www.stat.ee/65395
- Eesti Vabariigi põhiseadus (1992). RT 1992, 26, 349. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/633949
- Erikool kasvatus- või karistusasutus (2013). Ajakiri Märka Last. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://ajakiri.lastekaitseliit.ee/2013/02/21/erikool-kasvatus-voi-karistusasutus/
- Euroopa Liidu Põhiõiguste Amet (FRA), (2015) Lapsesõbralik õigusemõistmine spetsialistide seisukohad ja kogemused. Kokkuvõte. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra-2015-child-friendly-justice-professionals-summary_et.pdf
- Euroopa Nõukogu ja Parlamendi direktiiv 2011/93/EL, 13. Detsember 2011, mis käsitleb laste seksuaalse kuritarvitamise ja ärakasutamise ning lasteporno vastast võitlust ja mis asendab nõukogu raamotsuse 2004/68/JSK (2011). Euroopa Liidu Teataja 335/1. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: file:///C:/Users/K%C3%A4tlin/Desktop/et.pdf
- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2015). Child-friendly justice Perspectives and experiences of professionals on children's participation in civil and criminal judicial proceedings in 10 EU Member States
- Haridus- ja Teadusministeerium (2014). Eesti elukestva õppestrateegia 2020. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://hm.ee/sites/default/files/strateegia2020.pdf
- Haridus- ja Teadusministeerium (2014). Vene õppekeelt kasutatavate gümnaasiumide õppe tulemuslikkusest eestikeelsele (vähemalt 60% kohustuslikest kursustest) gümnaasiumiõppele üleminekul. Raport. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/raport_uleminek_viimane_0.pdf.
- Haruoja, M., Meiorg, M., Nauts, K. (2014). Study on children's involvement in judicial proceedings contextual overview for the criminal justice phase Estonia. European Commission Directorate-General for Justice. Luxembourg. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.childreninjudicialproceedings.eu/docs/ContextualOverview/Estonia.pdf
- Helemäe, J. (2015). Eesti haridussüsteem kaasava keskkonnana venekeelsete noorte vaatevinklist. http://www.kogu.ee/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/EIA-2015.pdf
- Helemäe, J., Saar, E., Vöörmann, R. (2000). Kas haridusse tasus investeerida? Hariduse selekteerivast ja stratifitseerivast rollist kahe põlvkonna kogemuse alusel. Teaduste Akadeemia Kirjastus, Tallinn
- HEUNI, Tartu Ülikool (2014). Tööjõumigratsiooni varjatud pool: Eesti inimeste tööalaseärakasutamise kogemused välismaal.
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/lisa_2. vva taitmise 2013. aasta aruanne.pdf
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/loplik_aruanne_luhi_1.pdf

- Karistusseadustik (2001). RT I 2001, 61, 364. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/126022014006?leiaKehtiv
- Kriminaalmenetluse seadustik (2003). RT I 2003, 27, 166. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/12849731
- Kruusmaa, K-C., Salla, J. (2013). Ennetähtaegse vabastamise regulatsiooni ja praktika
 analüüs. Kriminaalpoliitika analüüs Nr 1/2013. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/ennetahtaegse_vabastamise_analuus_1-2013.pdf
- Laane, K. (2013). Karistusjärgse kinnipidamise alternatiivid. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Õigus teaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/30491/laane_kristi.pdf?sequence=4
- Laste kaitset seksuaalse ärakasutamise ja seksuaalse kuritarvitamise eest käsitlev Euroopa Nõukogu konventsioon (2007). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/lanzaroteconvention_est.pdf
- Lindemann, K. & Saar, E. (2011). Ethnic Inequalities in the Educational Career. In Verik, R. & Helemäe, J. (eds.) The Russian Second Generation in Tallinn and Kohtla-Järve: The TIES Study in Estonia. Amsterdam University Press, Amsterdam. 59–92
- Linno, M., Soo, K., Strömpl, J. (2011). Perevägivalla levikut soodustavad riskid ja perevägivalla ulatuspraktikute hinnangutes. Uurimisaruanne. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/TOF/TOF_uuringud/19 perevagivalla levikut soodustavad riskid ja perevagivalla ulatus.pdf
- Luuk, A., Tiko, A., Luuk, H., Luuk, K., Sova, H., Kollamaa Rander, K., (2014). Kinnises asutuses viibivate laste kognitiivsete ning isiksuslike omaduste ning vaimse tervise, sõltuvuskäitumise ja sotsiaalse tausta uuring, Tallinn. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
- Markina, A., Žarkovski, B. (2014). Laste hälbiv käitumine Eestis. Kriminaalpoliitika uuringud 19. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/laste_kaitumise_uuring_2014.pdf
- Metslang, H., Kibar, T., Kitsnik, T., Koržel, J., Krall, I., Zabrodskaja, A. (2013). Kakskeelne õpe vene õppekeelega koolis. Uuringu lõpparuanne. Tallinna Ülikool, Eesti Keele ja Kultuuri Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/40937/Kakskeelne_ope_vene_oppekeelega_koolis.pdf?sequence=1
- Mitmedimensiooniline pereteraapia MDFT (2015). Infokiri nr 1. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/mdft_infokiri_1.pdf
- MTÜ Eesti Pagulasabi ja SA Eesti Inimõiguste Keskus (2014). Varjupaigataotlejate ligipääs õigusabile. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.pagulasabi.ee/sites/default/files/public/ro_analuus_-_kujundet.pdf
- MTÜ Lastekaitse Liit (02.06.2015.a. nr K-2/30) Arvamus Justiitsministeeriumile kriminaalmenetluse seadustiku ja teiste seaduste muutmise seaduse eelnõule.

- Nadarjan, A. (2014). Seksuaalteenuste ostmise kriminaliseerimise võimalikud mõjud Eestis Rootsi ja Soome kogemuste põhjal. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, Õigusteaduskond. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/42858/nadarjan_adeline.pdf?sequence
- Pettai, I., Kase, H., Proos, I. (2006). Prostitutsioon Eestis: Ülevaade prostitutsiooni kaasatud naiste olukorrast. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/eesmargid_ja_tegevused/Sooline_vordoiguslikkus/Inimkaubandus_ja_prostitusioon/prostitutsiooni_kaasatute_uurimus_2006.pdf
- Psühhiaatrilise abi seadus (1997). RT I 1997, 16, 260. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/1150620120
- Rannala, I-E. (2014). Dialoogi olulisusest töös riskikäitumisega noortega. Alaealiste komisjonide näitel. Tallinna Ülikool, Sotsiaaltöö Instituut. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://e-ait.tlulib.ee/350/1/ilona evelyn rannala.pdf
- Rannala, I-E. Tiko, A. Rohtla, A.(2006). Käitumisraskustega noored ja neile määratud
 mõjutusvahendite kohaldamine alaealiste komisjonides. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 <a href="http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/kaitumisraskustega noored ja neile maaratud mojutusvahendite kohandamine alaealiste komisjonides. ie. rannala a.tiko a. rohtla. 2006.pdf
- Riigi õigusabi seadus (2004). RT I 2004, 56, 403. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/131122014013?leiaKehtiv
- Riigikontrolli aruanne Riigikogule (2010). Erikoolide ja alaealiste komisjonide järelaudit.
 Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/206/Audit/2163/Area/1/language/etEE/Default.aspx#result
- Saame, K. (2008). Rehabilitatsiooniteenus alaealistele õigusrikkujatele Eestis. Magistritöö.
 Tallinna Ülikool. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 https://erivajadus.files.wordpress.com/2011/03/rehabilitatsiooniteenusalaealisteleigusrikkuja teleeestis.pdf
- Soo, K. (2005). Erikoolides ja laste hoolekandeasutustes elavate noorte hoiakud ja kogemused seoses seksuaalse, vaimse ja füüsilise vägivallaga, Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.childcentre.info
 - https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.childcentre.info %2Fresearch%2Fresearchpr%2Festonia%2FdbaFile12192.doc
- Soo, K., Ilves, K. Strömpl, J. (2009). Laste väärkohtlemise juhtumitest teavitamine ja võrgustikutöö. Tartu Ülikool. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.lastekaitseliit.ee/wpcontent/uploads/2011/04/Lapse_vaarkohtlemisest_teavitamine_uuringu_raport-1.pdf
- Soo, K., Kutsar, D. (2004). Seksuaalse väärkohtlemise kogemused ja hoiakud Eesti noorte hulgas. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/1512/1/Soo2004.pdf
- Soo, K., Kutsar, D. (2004). Seksuaalse väärkohtlemise kogemused ja hoiakud Eesti noorte hulgas. Tartu. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/bitstream/1/1512/1/Soo2004.pdf

- Sotsiaalhoolekande seadus (1995). RT I 1995, 21, 323. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/113122014044
- Surva, L., Tamm, K. (2012). Tervishoiutöötajate kokkupuuted perevägivallaga. Kriminaalpoliitika analüüs nr 5/2012. Justiitsministeerium: kriminaalpoliitika osakond.
- Tallinna Ülikool (2014). Riskinoored: alaealiste komisjonid teevad otsuseid "üle meie pea".
 Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 https://www.tlu.ee/et/uudised/2221/riskinoored-alaealiste-komisjonid-teevad-otsuseid-ule-meie-pea
- Tamm, K. (2009). Seksuaalkurjategijate kohtlemine ja ravivõimalused. Kriminaalpoliitika osakond, Kriminaalteabe ja analüüsi talitus. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/seksuaalkurjategijate_kohtlemine_ja_ravivoimalused._justiitsministeerium._2009.pdf
- Tamm, K. (2010). Erikooli suunamise kohtupraktika. Justiitsministeeriumi kriminaalteabe ja analüüsi talitus, Kriminaalpoliitika osakond. Tallinn. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/erikooli suunamise kohtupraktika. justiitsministeerium 2010.pdf
- Themas, A., Ainsaar, M., Soo, K., Sammul, M., Uusküla, A., Tarum, H., Hendrikson, R., Arak, T., Espenberg, K., & Varblane, U. (2015). Eesti meeste hoiakute ja käitumise uuring: tervis, haridus, tööhõive, ränne ja pereloome. Tartu Ülikool. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.ec.ut.ee/sites/default/files/ec/meeste uuring 2015_lopparuanne.pdf
- TNS EMOR (2014). Eesti elanikkonna teadlikkuse uuring soopõhise vägivalla ja
 inimkaubanduse valdkonnas. Sotsiaalministeerium. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://lft.ee/admin/upload/files/Elanike%20hoiakud%20soop%C3%B5hise%20v%C3%A4givalla%20ja%20inimkaubanduse%20valdkonnas2014_aruanne_TNS%20Emor_l%C3%B5plik.pdf
- Trummal, A. (2011). Eestikeelne aineõpe vene õppekeelega koolide gümnaasiumiastmes: mitte-eestlaste teadlikkus ja suhtumine. TNS EMOR.
- Vangistusseadus (2000). RT I 2000, 58, 376. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/12776225
- Vägivalla ennetamise strateegia 2015-2020 (2015). Justiitsministeerium. Tallinn. https://valitsus.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/arengukavad/vagivalla_ennetamise_strateegia_2015-2020_kodulehele.pdf
- Vägivalla ennetamise strateegia aastateks 2015-2020 (2015). Justiitsministeerium. Tallinn.
 Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/wes-2015-2020_1.pdf
- Vägivalla vähendamise arengukava aastateks 2010–2014: 2013. aasta täitmise aruanne (2013). Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
- Vägivalla vähendamise arengukava aastateks 2010–2014: 2013. aasta täitmise aruanne. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/sites/www.kriminaalpoliitika.ee/files/elfinder/dokumendid/lisa_2._vva_taitmise_2013._aasta_aruanne.pdf
- Välismaalastele rahvusvahelise kaitse andmise seadus (2005). RT I 2006, 2, 3. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/VRKS

- Õiguskantsler (2009). Kontrollkäik Tallinna Laste Turvakeskuse Nõmme tee osakonda. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav:
 - http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_tallinna_laste_turvakeskuse_nomme_osakond.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2009). Rehabilitatsiooniteenuse kättesaadavus sõltuvushäiretega lastele.
 Ettekanne Riigikogule. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:
 http://oiguskantsleri_ettekanne_nr_1_rehabilitatsiooniteenuse_kattesaadavus_s6ltuvushairetega_lastele.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2010). Kontrollkäik Jõhvi Noorukite ravi- ja rehabilitatsioonikeskusesse. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:

 http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_johvi_n
 oorukite ravi- ja rehabilitatsioonikeskus 0.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2013). Kontrollkäik Politsei- ja Piirivalveameti väljasaatmiskeskusesse. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav:

 http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_ppa_val
 jasaatmiskeskus_1.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2013). Kontrollkäik Tapa Erikooli. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_tapa_eri_kool_1.pdf
- Õiguskantsler (2014). Kontrollkäik Viru vanglasse. Arvutivõrgus kättesaadav: http://oiguskantsler.ee/sites/default/files/field_document2/kontrollkaigu_kokkuvote_viru_vangla_1.pdf
- Õiguskantsler juhtis tähelepanu väljasaatmiskeskuse probleemidele (2013). Eesti Pagulasabi. Arvutivõrgust kättesaadav: http://www.pagulasabi.ee/oiguskantsler-juhtis-tahelepanu-valjasaatmiskeskuse-probleemidele





ANNEX 3: SUPPLEMENTARY OPINION OF THE ESTONIAN LGBT ASSOCIATION AND THE HUMAN RIGHTS CENTRE

This shadow report does not tackle the issue of children growing up with same-sex parents in as much detail as is needed in order to guarantee that children with same-sex parents receive equal attention and protection. Therefore the Estonian LGBT Association and Estonian Human Rights Centre would like to point out that although the gender neutral Registered Partnership Act was passed in 2014 and it would solve some of the problems facing children with same-sex parents, implementation provisions regulating many details of the Registered Partnership Act still need to be passed in 2015 for the law to be effective from 2016.

General comment No 14 (2013) on the right of the child to have his or her best interests taken as a primary consideration explains that "the term "family" must be interpreted in a broad sense to include biological, adoptive or foster parents or, where applicable, the members of the extended family or community as provided for by local custom (art. 5)."³⁹⁶

According to the concluding observations ³⁹⁷ of the Committee on the Rights of the Child with regard to reports submitted by states the Committee recommends that, in the light of articles 20 and 21 of the Convention, the State Party: a) establish a comprehensive national policy and guidelines governing foster care and adoption; b) establish a central monitoring mechanism in this regard.

Until today such a policy and guidelines have not been established fully and do not include the possibility for same-sex couples to adopt a child, hence same-sex couples are treated unequally as compared to different-sex couples. Single parents may adopt alone, hence single gays and lesbians may adopt as well, but not a same-sex couple together since only married couples are allowed to adopt in Estonia and only different-sex couples can get married.

The gender neutral Registered Partnership Act that was passed in 2014 allows adoption within the family under the following terms: "A registered partner may adopt a child if:1) the other registered partner is a biological parent of the child; or 2) the other registered partner was a parent of the child before entry into the registered partnership contract." However, since implementation provisions of this law still need to be passed by the parliament, it is not clear today whether the law will enter fully into force as of 1 January 2016. Furthermore, the Registered Partnership Act will not end the

³⁹⁶ Committee on the Rights of the Children. General comment No. 14 (2013) on the right of the child to have his or her best interests taken as a primary consideration (art. 3, para. 1). http://www2.ohchr.org/English/bodies/crc/docs/GC/CRC_C_GC_14_ENG.pdf

³⁹⁷ Committee on the Rights of the Children. CONSIDERATION OF REPORTS SUBMITTED BY STATES PARTIES UNDER ARTICLE 44 OF THE CONVENTION. Concluding observations: Estonia (2003)

 $[\]underline{http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC/C/15/Add.196\&Lang=Endersonal.pdf.$

³⁹⁸ Registered Partnership Act. https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/527112014001/consolide

inequality between same-sex and different-sex couples as regards adoption and foster care of a child from outside the family.

Recommendation:

1. Complement custodial and adoption regulations in light of the broad definition of family as outlined above, including adoption of the biological child of a partner, adoption of the adopted child of a partner and adoption or foster care of a child from outside family into a new family and expanding this to same-sex couples.

On behalf of the Estonian LGBT Association and Estonian Human Rights Centre

Helen Talalaev President of Estonian LGBT Association helen@lgbt.ee

Estonian LGBT Association (Eesti LGBT Ühing)

Address: Kaarli pst 5-1

Tallinn 10119
Reg no: 80275811
+372 5551 5817

e-mail: info@lgbt.ee

www.lgbt.ee

Estonian Human Rights Centre (Eesti Inimõiguste Keskus)

Narva mnt. 9j Tallinn 10117 Reg no: 90012202

phone: +372 644 5148 e-mail: info@humanrights.ee

www.humanrights.ee